Public Document Pack

North Devon Council
Brynsworthy Environment Centre
Barnstaple
North Devon EX31 3NP
K. Miles
Chief Executive.

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE
A meeting of the Strategy and Resources Committee will be held in the Barum Room Brynsworthy on MONDAY, 4TH JULY, 2022 at 10.00 am.
(NOTE: A location plan for the Brynsworthy Environment Centre is attached to the
agenda front pages. From the 7 May 2021, the law requires all councils to hold
formal meetings in person. The council is also ensuring that all venues used are
Covid secure and that all appropriate measures are put in placeThere are a limited
number of spaces available for members of the public to attend. Please check the
Council’s website for the latest information regarding the arrangements that are in
place and the requirement to book a place 2 working days prior to the meeting
Taking part in meetings (northdevon.gov.uk)

Members of the Strategy and Resources Councillor Worden (Chair)
Committee
Councillors Crabb, Knight, Lane, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Pearson, Prowse, L. Spear,
Wilkinson and Yabsley

AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 6 June 2022
(attached). (Pages 7 - 20)

3.

Items brought forward which in the opinion of the Chair should be considered by
the meeting as a matter of urgency.

4.

Declarations of Interests.
(Please telephone the Corporate and Community Services team to prepare a form
for your signature before the meeting. Interests must be re-declared when the
item is called, and Councillors must leave the room if necessary).

5.

To agree the agenda between Part 'A' and Part 'B' (Confidential Restricted
Information).

PART 'A'
6.

Performance and Financial Management Quarter 4 of 2021/22 (Pages 21 - 60)

7.

Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22 (Pages 61 - 72)
Report by Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive (attached).

8.

New woodland at Frankmarsh, Barnstaple (Pages 73 - 76)
Report by Head of Environmental Enhancement (attached)

9.

2022-23 Revenue Budget and Inflationary Pressures (Pages 77 - 88)
Report by Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive (attached).

10.

Energy Rebate Discretionary Scheme (Pages 89 - 92)
Report by Head of Customer Focus (attached).

11.

Northern Devon Culture Strategy 2022-2027 (Pages 93 - 128)
Report by Museum Manager (attached)

12.

Ocean Recovery Motion (Pages 129 - 130)
To consider letter from Rebecca Pow MP, Department for Environment Food and
Rural Affairs (attached) in response to the decision taken by the Strategy and
Resources Committee meeting held on 4 April 2022.

13.

Refugees Update
Service Lead – Housing Advice and Homelessness to report.

14.

Approval and Release of S106 Public Open Space Funds - Barnstaple and
Chulmleigh (Pages 131 - 134)
Report by Parks, Leisure and Open Space Officer (attached).

15.

Adoption of Corporate Enforcement Policy (Pages 135 - 162)
Report by Legal Executive (attached).

16.

Hackney Carriage Fare Tariff Review (Pages 163 - 172)
Report by Public Protection Manager (attached).

17.

Urgent Decisions Taken by the Chief Executive (Pages 173 - 200)
To note the urgent decisions that have been made by the Chief Executive in
accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annexe 3, Part 3 of the Constitution (attached).

PART 'B' (CONFIDENTIAL RESTRICTED INFORMATION)
Nil.

2

If you have any enquiries about this agenda, please contact Corporate and
Community Services, telephone 01271 388253

24.06.22

3

North Devon Council protocol on recording/filming at Council meetings
The Council is committed to openness and transparency in its decision-making.
Recording is permitted at Council meetings that are open to the public. The Council
understands that some members of the public attending its meetings may not wish to be
recorded. The Chairman of the meeting will make sure any request not to be recorded is
respected.
The rules that the Council will apply are:
1. The recording must be overt (clearly visible to anyone at the meeting) and must
not disrupt proceedings. The Council will put signs up at any meeting where we
know recording is taking place.
2. The Chairman of the meeting has absolute discretion to stop or suspend recording
if, in their opinion, continuing to do so would prejudice proceedings at the meeting
or if the person recording is in breach of these rules.
3. We will ask for recording to stop if the meeting goes into ‘part B’ where the public
is excluded for confidentiality reasons. In such a case, the person filming should
leave the room ensuring all recording equipment is switched off.
4. Any member of the public has the right not to be recorded. We ensure that
agendas for, and signage at, Council meetings make it clear that recording can
take place – anyone not wishing to be recorded must advise the Chairman at the
earliest opportunity.
5. The recording should not be edited in a way that could lead to misinterpretation or
misrepresentation of the proceedings or in a way that ridicules or shows a lack of
respect for those in the recording. The Council would expect any recording in
breach of these rules to be removed from public view.
Notes for guidance:
Please contact either our Corporate and Community Services team or our
Communications team in advance of the meeting you wish to record at so we can make
all the necessary arrangements for you on the day.
For more information contact the Corporate and Community Services team on 01271
388253 or email memberservices@northdevon.gov.uk or the Communications Team
on 01271 388278, email communications@northdevon.gov.uk.
4

North Devon Council offices at Brynsworthy, the full address is:
Brynsworthy Environment Centre (BEC), Roundswell,
Barnstaple, Devon, EX31 3NP.
Sat Nav postcode is EX31 3NS.
At the Roundswell roundabout take the exit onto the B3232, after about ½ mile take the
first right, BEC is about ½ a mile on the right.
Drive into the site, visitors parking is in front of the main building on the left hand side.
On arrival at the main entrance, please sign in using the Track and Trace App and follow
the signage and instructions in order to access the Meeting Rooms. Alternatively, dial
8253 for Corporate and Community Services if you have any problems.

5

6

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL
Minutes of a meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee held at Barum Room Brynsworthy on Monday, 6th June, 2022 at 10.00 am
PRESENT:

Members:
Councillor Prowse (in the Chair)
Councillors Lane, Lofthouse, Patrinos, Prowse, L. Spear, Wilkinson
and Yabsley
Officers:
Chief Executive, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive,
Senior Solicitor and Monitoring Officer, Service Lead Housing Advice
and Homelessness, Head of Customer Focus, Service Lead Housing
Market Balance, Head of Planning, Housing and Health, Senior
Enforcement Officer and Sustainability and Climate Officer
Also Present in person:
Councillors D. Spear and Tucker

11.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Knight, Pearson and Worden.
The Senior Corporate and Community Services Officer advised that Councillor
Lofthouse would be late arriving at the meeting.
12.

TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE
MEETING HELD ON 9 MAY 2022 (ATTACHED).

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 9 May 2022 (circulated
previously) be approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair.
13.

ITEMS BROUGHT FORWARD WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE
CHAIR SHOULD BE CONSIDERED BY THE MEETING AS A
MATTER OF URGENCY.
(a) Former White Hart public house, Bratton Fleming

Councillor Prowse advised the Committee that he hoped that the Council would be in
a position to help the community to help bring the building back into community use.
14.

DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS.

There were no declarations of interest announced.
15.

GAP FUNDING 21 SOCIAL RENTS AT WOOLACOMBE
1

Page 7

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022

The Committee considered a report by the Service Lead – Affordable Housing
(circulated previously) regarding gap funding of 21 social rents at Woolacombe.
The Service Lead – Affordable Housing highlighted the following:












The Community Housing Fund and commuted sums from Section 106s were
not sufficient alone to enable all existing nor future community-led housing
projects. How to resource the delivery of affordable housing via communityled housing models both financially and in terms of staff was within the scope
of Project 4 of the Housing and Community Safety Programme.
There was an immediate issue to consider to enable the completion of 21
affordable homes for social rent in Woolacombe; the first Community Land
Trust scheme in North Devon. Due to a forecasted start on site date of
September 2023 (subject to planning) this cannot wait for the outcome of the
corporate project.
External funding had now reached £141,000 per unit and £30,000 per unit
was needed to deliver the scheme. The Council needed to consider how this
could be gap funded or the scheme would not go ahead.
Since writing the report, the Government had announced that it was not
renewing the Community Housing Fund.
Mortehoe was one of the first Community Land Trusts set up through the
original Community Housing Fund allocation in 2016/17 and they have come
on leaps and bounds since. With the passion and energy of the community,
the Community Land Trust, parish councillors, the parish clerk, the ward
member, the National Trust, Middlemarch and NDC officers the scheme was
soon to become a reality.
The site was presented to the community and had huge community support.
Mortehoe and Woolacombe Community Land Trust applied for funding from
the NDC Community Housing Fund for pre-application and feasibility work.
Pre-app feedback from Planning had been acted upon and a compromise
reached with AONB, planning, the Community Land Trust and the National
Trust as a possible way forward for the planning application package.
The Community Land Trust had now selected a Registered Provider (Aster)
who was putting together a funding package to deliver the proposed 21
affordable homes in Woolacombe (subject to planning). Homes England and
Aster have put in significant amounts of funding at £141,000 per unit resulting
in almost £3 million of government/Registered Provider funding into North
Devon. To gap-fund the remainder of the scheme North Devon Council would
need to provide £630k (£30,000 per unit).

Councillor Lofthouse arrived at the meeting.



The Council, via its former Executive (in January 2018) had previously
minuted its clear support for this scheme (even if via borrowing) in the future.
Explanation of how it worked when a Community Land Trust partnered with a
Registered Provider as detailed in paragraph 4.7 of the report.

2

Page 8

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022




Paragraph 5 detailed the options for funding the scheme. In terms of the
commuted sums, it was important to spend the sums prior to the 10 year
deadline.
This scheme would provide an opportunity to provide local housing which was
100% affordable and 100% social rent which was less than half of the local
rent for properties in Mortehoe.
The parish of Mortehoe was particularly suffering from the reduction of private
rented sector housing and affordability issues. Most open market housing was
out of the reach of the local community and was lost to second homes, Airbnb
and other forms of holiday lets.

The Chief Executive highlighted the following:





The Leader of the Council had recently highlighted in his column in the North
Devon Gazette that over the last 2-3 years, around 467 private rented
properties had been lost to holiday lets or second homes. This had a big
impact on communities. The community of Woolacombe was feeling the
impact of this.
A number of parishes had around 60% holiday lets or second homes. In
Woolacombe, this was around 62%.
Analysis showed that there had been around 70% reduction in private rented
housing available over the past few years. The provision of social rented
properties in Woolacombe would help to address this issue.

In response to questions, the Service Lead – Affordable Housing advised the
following:







That responses from Ward Members in Ilfracombe and South Molton had
been received in response to consultation who were in support of the scheme
and the use of commuted sums from the parishes that they were received.
The Registered Provider was required to reinvest returns into affordable
housing. Therefore any profit made would be put back into affordable
housing. This was a social rent scheme and the grant agreement would make
it clear that any properties sold on the open market that the Council would
receive a claw back. But it should be noted that properties owned by CLTs
cannot be sold on the open market, they were protected in perpetuity from the
Right to Buy and the Right to Acquire.
The Community Land Trust would own 100% of the freehold.
The Registered Provider was investing funds into the building of the houses.
All properties were 100% affordable and 100% at social rent.

Councillor Wilkinson declared a personal interest as a Member of the Mortehoe and
Woolacombe Community Land Trust.
In response to questions, the Director Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
advised the following:

3

Page 9

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022






The replenishment of the community housing fund would be subject to a
separate decision as part of in-year budgetary management and the annual
budget setting processes.
The budget setting process would support the delivery of the Council’s
corporate objectives.
The commuted sums received from section 106s were time limited and there
was a risk to the Council that if they were not used within the funding period
then the Council would be required to repay these funds back to the
developer.
Even though the Government had announced that the Community Housing
Fund would not be renewed, it was anticipated that there would be other
Government funding initiatives available in the future.

In response to questions, the Chief Executive advised the following:



That the Planning team structure was not being reduced and that would be an
increase and that staff were being supported.
If this scheme was approved and went ahead, the Council could use this
scheme as a good example to secure funding for other such schemes.

Councillor Prowse advised that there was a political commitment for a priority
process to be put in place for the provision of affordable housing and to support
those parishes where commuted sums had been used for this scheme if schemes
came forward and were considered to be a
priority.
RESOLVED that for the delivery of 21 social rents in Woolacombe the following be
allocated:
(a) £372,194.60 from identified Section 106 affordable housing commuted sums

as outlined in section 5.1.
(b) £162,805.40 from the Community Housing Fund – Housing Enabling
Earmarked Reserve as outlined in section 5.2 of the report.
(c) £95,000 of current approved capital programme budget from the remaining
balances of a previous affordable housing delivery grant and a former
affordable housing fund as outlined in section 5.3 2.2 of the report.
RECOMMENDED:
(d) That Council vary the Capital Programme by £535,000 as detailed above and

that funds be released, subject to a Grant Agreement with the Registered
Provider (Aster) upon such terms and conditions as may be agreed by the
Service Lead for Affordable Housing and Senior Solicitor and Monitoring
Officer.
Councillor Wilkinson left the meeting.
16.

EMPTY HOMES STRATEGY PROJECT

4

Page 10

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022

The Committee considered a report by the Senior Enforcement Officer (circulated
previously) regarding the Empty Homes project.
The Senior Enforcement Officer highlighted the following:












The Empty Homes Project was one of a suite of projects that fall under the
umbrella of North Devon Council’s Housing and Community Safety
Programme, developed to identify the key housing priorities for the Council
and measures required to deliver them.
The project was a key action within the programme along with a commitment
to tackle long-term empty properties, adopting a new approach, which also
complemented the Private Sector Housing Renewal Strategy.
Officers would proactively engage and work with the owners of long term
empty properties and the strategy contained a number of incentives that could
be used to help such as a loans policy, private sector leasing scheme and a
match making service. It also promoted the benefits of switching second
homes and holiday lets back into permanent residential properties and the
reduction of VAT rates for works to be undertaken on empty properties.
Officers would engage with the owners of commercial properties and discuss
options to convert premises into residential accommodation.
Officers would use council tax data to identify properties empty for six months
or more and will trace and contact the officers to discuss their plans for the
property.
Officers would target enforcement action on owners of properties that had
been unoccupied for at least 2 years and would take robust action on those
owners who were not willing to bring their properties back into use.
The Council would collaborate and engage with individuals, organisations and
bodies who shared commitment to getting empty properties back into use.
These included Councillors, Town and Parish Councils, registered social
landlords and the North Devon and Torridge Housing Crisis Group.
The strategy would be reviewed on an annual basis and the work and
successes achieved would be promoted.

In response to a question, the Senior Enforcement Officer advised the following:



Officers were still waiting for all data on empty homes in the District. There
were approximately 150 empty homes for more than 2 years.
Officers would positively engage with the owners of properties that had been
empty for more than 6 months so that it did not reach the 2 year milestone.

RESOLVED that the draft Empty Homes Strategy be adopted.
17.

NORTH DEVON CARBON, ENVIRONMENT AND BIODIVERSITY
PLAN

The Committee considered a report by the Climate Officer (circulated previously)
regarding the North Devon Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan.
Councillor Lofthouse, Lead Member for Climate Change highlighted the following:

5

Page 11

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022




The Plan contained an agreed programme of action to support delivery of the
Council’s net zero by 2030 commitment.
The Plan set out how the Council will endeavour to achieve net zero by 2030.
Further amendments were required to be made to the plan prior to publication
in relation to the generation and storage of electricity.

In response to questions, the Climate Officer advised the following:


It was not possible to calculate the costs for the Council to achieve net zero
as the solutions were currently unknown. No other Council or organisation
would be in a position to calculate the costs as not all solutions were currently
available.

In response to questions, the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
advised the following:



Business cases would need to be produced for each intervention, which
would include bids for capital funding.
These business cases would be presented to the Committee for decision and
would be assessed against the Council’s corporate priorities and the overall
financial position of the authority.

RESOLVED that the Council’s Carbon, Environment and Biodiversity Plan be
approved for publication subject to the inclusion of amendments to the Plan to be
submitted by Councillor Lofthouse.
18.

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CARBON FOOTPRINT

The Committee considered a report by the Climate Officer (circulated previously)
regarding North Devon Council’s Carbon Footprint.
The Climate Officer highlighted the following:




In July 2019 North Devon Council signed up to the Devon Climate Emergency
Declaration.
Annual reporting of our carbon footprint was a commitment in the Climate
Emergency Declaration.
The publication of the carbon footprint for the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March
2021 was slightly later. The carbon footprint for 1 April 2021 to 31 March
2022 would published in the autumn.

RESOLVED that the 2020-2021 carbon footprint report be approved for publication,
and that the Council’s current position with respect to achieving our target of net zero
carbon by 2030 be noted.
19.

HOUSEHOLD FUND 2022/23 APRIL - SEPTEMBER 2022

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Customer Focus (circulated
previously) regarding the Household Support fund April to September 2022.
6

Page 12

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022

The Head of Customer Focus highlighted the following:















Following the initial Household Support Fund October 2021 – March 2022, a
further £500m has been allocated nationally to cover the period April 2022 –
September 2022.
Devon County Council (DCC) had been awarded further funding of
£5,064,876.12 by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) for a second
Household Support Fund (HSF2) for the period 1 April 2022 to 30 September
2022.
At least 33% of the fund must be used to support households which have
children / young people within them. DCC will again be awarding free school
meal holiday vouchers for May half term and school summer holidays in 2022.
At least 33% of the fund must be used to support households which contain
people of State Pensionable Age within them.
The remainder of the funding may be used for other vulnerable households
who are struggling to meet their food, energy, water and other essential
needs.
In relation to payment of the fund to people of State Pensionable Age, all
District Councils in Devon have agreed to use council tax data to identify all
households (a) with a liable party who is of state pensionable age and (b) who
claim an element of council tax reduction. Those households which claim this
reduction have had their income and household/personal circumstances
assessed. There were approximately 2,700 households across North Devon
This data is then to be used to award these households a one-off payment to
assist with increasing household expenses.
NDC will directly award this using the Post Office payout scheme whereby
recipients can obtain their cash at any Post Office using a barcode issued to
them. Identification will be required and a 3rd party may collect on behalf of
the recipients.
It has been agreed Devon wide that there would be a uniform payment of £90
per household.
Each household would receive a letter from the Post Office and from NDC
advising of how to collect this money in cash from the Post Office.
Using this allocation and other identified funding (as outlined in Appendix B of
the report) it was proposed that NDC would direct award an amount to
working age households who claim an element of council tax reduction which
was approximately 3,800 households. Each household would receive
Between £40-£50 cash from their local post office.

In response to questions, the Head of Customer Focus advised the following:



The Barnstaple post office branch had been previously closed, however it had
now re-opened.
The Post Office would be responsible for sending out the letters and would
determine the most appropriate time for the letters to be sent out to ensure
that the post offices could meet the demand. NDC would provide the Post
Office with the data.

7

Page 13

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022



The Council received additional funding of 10% of the hardship fund to cover
administrative costs. Each letter from the Post Office would cost the Council
£1.50.
DCC calculated the amount to be awarded to each District Council. The £90
payment to those people of State Pensionable Age was uniform across
Devon.

In response to questions, the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
advised the following:


Devon County Council had divided the £5.1million awarded by Government
by 3 to calculate the costs and ensure that 33% was awarded to those people
of State Pensionable Age who claim council tax reduction, 33% to households
which had children/young people and 33% to be used for other vulnerable
households (as detailed in Appendix B of the report).

RESOLVED:
(a) That the contents of Household Support Fund (HSF2): Devon’s Approach
(Appendix A) be noted;
(b) That the North Devon Policy Household Support April – September 2022
(Appendix B) be approved.
20.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS FOR GREEN LANES
SHOPPING CENTRE

The Committee considered a report by the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief
Executive (circulated previously) regarding the Property Management Contracts for
Green Lanes Shopping Centre.
The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive highlighted the following:







Full Council approval in June 2021 delegated authority to the Chief Executive
after consultation with Group Leaders and the Lead Member was given to
appoint managing agents and to enter into multiple contracts for the asset,
property and facilities Management of the Centre.
Three contracts were put in place for a period of up to 12 months each to
allow the transition of the asset to the Council and for Officers to gain
understanding of the operational requirements of the business moving
forwards. The report set out the options for the requirement of these contracts
beyond the existing contract terms.
The current contracts expire in September 2022 and November 2022 and to
ensure continuity an appropriate procurement route needs to be taken and
this allows for the new contracts to co-terminate simultaneously.
There was insufficient time to run a full open tender procurement process and
there does not appear to currently be a framework agreement that the Council
can access and includes our incumbent supplier, to allow them an opportunity
to win a longer term contract, and which covers the subject matter that would
enable an award through this route.
8

Page 14

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022











The above timeframe allowed officers to investigate a longer term
arrangement through a framework agreement award mechanism or an open
tender procurement.
By extending the contracts by a period of up to 14 months (November 2023)
from the date of their current expiry would allow for the three contracts to
expire together.
The three contracts that were with Praxis Real Estate Management were the
Management Services Agreement, Sole Agency Agreement and Asset and
Property Management Agreement (as detailed in paragraph 4.4 of the report).
The options open to the Council for these contracts were waiving contract
procedure rules, to appoint through a framework agreement and procurement
through an open tender as detailed in paragraph 4.6 of the report.
The associated risks with procurement award of this nature as detailed in
paragraph 4.8 and 4.9 of the report.
The relationship with Praxis had been extremely positive between Council
officers and both the Centre’s staff and tenants and a significant amount of
work and investment by all parties has gone into the first six months of
occupation to build the foundations moving forwards with the result being that
5 of the vacant units being successfully let, substantial interest generated in
other vacant units, as well as plans for capital enhancements being mapped
out.
It was important that this continuity builds to ensure the Council maximised
the potential of this relationship in these early years and allow the agent to
fully engage with the tenants; understand the operational requirements of the
asset and ensure optimum rent and service charge collection; and therefore
the recommendation is to extend the current contracts by a period of up to 14
months from the date of their current expiry. During this period, the team
would carry out an ongoing procurement route through a framework
agreement or tender process for the longer term contractual arrangements.
The value of the three contracts as detailed in paragraph 5.1 of the report.

In response to questions, the Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
advised the following:







The Council was currently in the process of closing last year’s accounts for
2021-22 year. The proposed level of income was set out in the original
business case. The net return to the Council being forecast in April 2022 was
higher than forecast in the original business case. Work was being carried out
to fill the remaining empty units. The proposed forecast for income was on
track and better than envisaged.
One of the contracts included security management and cleaning and there
was a number of bespoke agreements in addition to this.
Future modelling included an increase in costs for contracts and service
charges.
Discussions were currently underway for a potential tenant for one of the large
units which was currently vacant. The Council was also exploring other uses
for the vacant units within the centre.
An up-to-date position regarding footfall in the centre could be provided.

9

Page 15

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022

RESOLVED that the Contract Procedure Rules be waived and the three contracts
with Praxis Real Estate Management outlined in paragraph 4.4 of the report be
extended by a period of up to 14 months (November 2023) from the date of their
current expiry.
21.

ASYLUM DISPERSAL

The Committee considered a report by the Head of Planning, Housing and Health
(circulated previously) regarding Asylum Dispersal.
The Head of Planning, Housing and Health highlighted the following:










On the 13 April, 2022, the Minister for Safe and Legal Migration announced
that the UK would move to a full asylum dispersal model with immediate
effect.
There were currently approximately 25,000 – 35,000 individuals seeking
accommodation in the UK.
Local authorities would be expected to participate in a new system of full
dispersal to allow the Home Office to move from hotels to less expensive and
more suitably dispersed accommodation, with work starting immediately.
It was the Government’s intention that each region would be given an
allocation of individuals seeking asylum. If an agreement was not reached,
then Government could mandate the number of asylum seekers for a Local
Authority.
The Government was considering rationalising the asylum seeker schemes
into a single scheme.
Outcomes of the briefing held for South West Chief Executives’ Group on 12
May 2022 as detailed in Appendix A of the report. Chief Executives had been
asked to consider a regional response.
Clearsprings Ready Homes was the Home Office contracted accommodation
provider. Local Authorities could be contacted by this contractor at any time to
provide accommodation in their area.
There were six main concerns on the impact of asylum dispersal within North
Devon as follows:
(a) Further potential loss of private rented housing accommodation in the
local market place.
(b) As a result of the Government contractor procuring shared
accommodation any loss would have a disproportionate impact on
poorer people.
(c) There were already challenges in providing accommodation for those
presenting as homeless and the Council was working to meet its
statutory duties. If there was a significant loss of accommodation this
would have an impact of securing accommodation for those who were
homeless.
(d) North Devon was a rural area. Those seeking asylum would be
traumatised and vulnerable. The Council had previously experienced
difficulties for securing accommodation for other Government
resettlement schemes and concern was expressed whether a rural
area would be a suitable location.

10

Page 16

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022





(e) Community sensitivity. The Council already supported the Afghanistan
and Ukrainian resettlement schemes.
(f) The Council had evidence regarding the local community impact over
concentration of supported accommodation within an area and the
impact on the poorer people.
A decision needed to be made whether to pro-actively engagement with the
Government Contractor rather than the Government Contractor engaging with
the Council. This would be the most effective way in managing this new
responsibility.
The Council would have the responsibility for supporting individuals and would
receive £3,500 in Year 1. The Government had not clarified the type of
support being provided by its Contractor.

The Chief Executive advised that at the South West’s consultation event, the Head
of Planning, Housing and Health had raised concerns regarding the lack of any
affordable housing in the area. The level of temporary housing accommodation was
higher than at any other time previously. The resettlement of Ukrainian refugees had
an impact on the availability of accommodation.
In response to questions, the Head of Planning, Housing and Health advised the
following:





The Government contractor would look an opportunities to procure
accommodation whether it was empty or in use and would also include
commercial properties. Local Authorities would be a consultees when the unit
of accommodation was procured.
The 25,000 -35,000 asylum seekers were currently in unsuitable
accommodation which was a large cost to the state.
Clearsprings had been specifically set up for this purpose.

RESOLVED that the Council pro-actively engage with the Government Contractor
Clearsprings Ready Homes on the basis of the following concerns regarding the
Asylum Dispersal scheme:
(a) Further potential loss of private rented housing accommodation in the
local market place;
(b) As a result of the Government contractor procuring shared
accommodation any loss would have a disproportionate impact on
poorer people;
(c) There were already challenges in providing accommodation for those
presenting as homeless and the Council was working to meet its
statutory duties. If there was a significant loss of accommodation this
would have an impact of securing accommodation for those who were
homeless;
(d) North Devon was a rural area. Those seeking asylum would be
traumatised and vulnerable. The Council had previously experienced
difficulties for securing accommodation for other Government
resettlement schemes and concern was expressed whether a rural
area would be a suitable location;
11

Page 17

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022

(e) Community sensitivity. The Council already supported the Afghanistan
and Ukrainian resettlement schemes;
(f) The Council had evidence regarding the local community impact over
concentration of supported accommodation within an area and the
impact on the poorer people.
22.

URGENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Committee noted the urgent decisions that had been made by the Chief
Executive in accordance with paragraph 3.48, Annex 2, part 3 of the Constitution
(circulated previously) regarding the purchase of 3 low chassis vans for recycling
collections.
In response to questions, the Chief Executive advised that it was more cost effective
to purchase these vehicles and that the leasing company was unable to provide
these vehicles within the time period required. The vehicles had been procured in
consultation with the leasing company. The vehicles were not electric and had been
procured for the Waste and Recycling Service.
23.

EXCLUSION OF PUBLIC AND PRESS AND RESTRICTION OF
DOCUMENTS

RESOLVED:
(a) That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public and
press be excluded from the meeting for the following item as it involved the likely
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3, Part 1 Schedule 12A of
the Act (as amended from time to time), namely information relating to the financial
or business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding that
information); and
(b) That all documents and reports relating to the item be confirmed as “Not for
Publication”.
24.

ANTI-VIRUS SOFTWARE PROCUREMENT

The Committee considered a report by the ICT Manager (circulated previously)
regarding the anti-virus software procurement.
In response to questions, the Head of Customer Focus advised the following:



That it was anticipated that the new software would be in place by the
summer. Officers were currently looking at different products.
It was anticipated that the costs would be between £30,000 to £64,000.

The Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive advised that the Council
would have incurred an increase in costs following the expiry of the contract later in
2022.
RESOLVED that the Contract Procurement Rules be waived to accelerate the
removal of the current anti-virus software from NDC’s IT estate.
12

Page 18

Agenda Item 2

Strategy and Resources Committee - 6 June 2022

Chair
The meeting ended at 11.48 am
NOTE: These minutes will be confirmed as a correct record at the next meeting of
the Committee.

13

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

North Devon Council
Report Date: Strategy and Resources Committee: 4th July 2022
Topic: Performance and Financial Management Quarter 4 of 2021/22
Report by: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. This is one of the series of regular quarterly reports on the council's overall
operational and financial performance. The report covers financial as well as
operational performance. It mainly covers the quarter from January to March
2022, but also looks at the whole year.
1.2. Sections 4 deals with headline financial performance. More detailed
performance information is available in Appendix F.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. That the actions being taken to ensure that performance is at the desired
level be noted.
2.2. That the contributions to/from earmarked reserves be approved (section 4.2)
2.3. That the movement on the Strategic Contingency Reserve (section 4.3) be
noted.
2.4. To RECOMMEND that Full Council approve the variations to the Capital
Programme 2022/23 to 2024/25 (sections 4.4.8)
2.5. That funds are released for the capital schemes listed in section (4.4.13)
2.6. That the sections dealing with Treasury Management (section 4.5), and Debt
Management (sections 4.6 and 4.7) be noted.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To ensure that appropriate action is taken to allow the council to meet its
objectives.
3.2. To inform Members of actual results compared to approved Corporate Plan,
as well as progress in delivering services within the revenue budget and
Capital Programme.
4. Financial Performance
4.1. Revenue
4.1.1. The revenue budget for 2021/22 was approved at Council on 24th
February 2021 at £13,639,000.
4.1.2. As at 31 March 2022 it is pleasing to report that the final out turn
position is a budget surplus of £604,000 which is an overall movement of
£515,000 from the last forecast at quarter 3. The breakdown showing

Page 21

Agenda Item 6
the movements are shown in Appendix A – Variations in the Revenue
Budget
4.1.3. The original budget for 2021/22 included a forecast to achieve
£225,000 worth of salary vacancy savings. This was exceeded by
£99,000 giving an overall actual saving of £324,000.
4.1.4. Included within the approved budget we factored in a government
grant in relation to Covid-19 pressures of £536,710 and also budgeted for
£375,000 of additional costs and reduced income, these are already
incorporated into Appendix A along with the latest forecast for each
service area.
4.1.5. The above grant of £536,710 was approved and received and we were
also anticipating £80,000 re-imbursement for Q1 loss of Sales, Fees and
charges, from the continued Government 75% income reimbursement
scheme, this has now been revised down to £64,000 and the change
incorporated into Appendix A.
4.1.6. At the end of 2020/21 the Council placed £375,000 into a Covid
Budget management reserve to help mitigate any further adverse
variances due to the pandemic in 2021/22, this future protection is still
available if required.
4.1.7. Members approved in June 2021 to proceed with the acquisition of
Green Lanes Shopping Centre; which the Council completed the
purchase in November 2021. The purchase of Green Lanes Shopping
Centre was a once in a lifetime opportunity to acquire this strategic asset
and complement other significant regeneration improvements being
delivered within the Barnstaple town centre through the Future High
Streets project. The financial modelling demonstrated that revenue
income generated from the centre would cover both the repayment of the
loan and asset management costs and would return a contribution to the
Council which could be used towards mitigating future risks on income
volatility, investment back into the centre and the overarching council
budget.
4.1.8. The financial outturn for the Centre has produced a net return (income
less costs) for the 2021/22 year of (£243,600) due to minimal borrowing
costs for last financial year as these will start in 2022/23. This is a
positive return for the Council for the four and half months ownership in
the 2021/22 year. The net return to the Council of (£243,600); of this it is
proposed to place £75,000 into an earmarked reserve to protect the
council budget and mitigate against any future income volatility that could
materialise as we move forwards with the centre and a further £168,600
into an earmarked reserve to fund future asset management initiatives to
promote, market and maximise the occupancy of the Centre over the
next few years, which we anticipate would then have a positive financial
return on ongoing revenue streams.

Page 22

Agenda Item 6
4.1.9. This is important for the ongoing financial viability of the Centre,
however the team have already made positive steps in filling five of the
empty units in the last few months and recent feedback from Knight
Frank (Commercial Property Specialists) to our team stated “As we
discussed my involvement with Green Lanes is long standing. Prior to
your purchase I have to say that the level of voids within the scheme
provided a fairly depressing experience however on my most recent visit
the overall feel of the scheme had changed with the recent lettings which
have been undertaken both improving occupancy levels but also
improving the customer ‘experience’ within the scheme”. This is really
positive feedback for the Council and demonstrates our intent to make
the Centre a success, both operationally and financially.
4.1.10.
The movement from Q3 of £515,000 can be attributed to:
 ICT reduced spend
£78,000
 Waste & Recycling reduced spend
£110,000
 Waste and Recycling Sales income
£74,000
 Car parking income
£60,000
 Crematorium contribution
£41,000
 Employee vacancy savings
£60,000
 Borrowing costs – Interest Payable
£41,000
 Other Reduced costs
£51,000
st
4.1.11.
As at 31 March 2022 the Collection Fund reserve balance is
£5,722,000. This earmarked reserve was created to deal with the timing
impacts of the Collection Fund (Business Rates), which ensures the
revenue budget is not unduly affected in the year the taxes are collected.
Collection Fund deficits/surpluses are reversed out to bring the revenue
account back to the budgeted figure for the year; the deficits/surpluses
are recovered/distributed in the following financial years. This reserve
includes an £4,523,000 balance that will be utilised in 2022/23 and
2023/24 to mitigate timing differences of business rate reliefs awarded in
2021/22 that from an accounting perspective impact over the next two
financial years; thus leaving the fund reserve with a residue balance of
£1,200,000 protection against future volatility.
4.1.12.
From the revenue budget surplus of £604,000, it is proposed to
set aside the amount into the following earmarked reserves as follows: Repairs Fund £400,000 – to fund capital investment business
cases
 Local Plan £100,000 – to fund the cost of the Local review
 Budget Management £104,000 – increase fund to help mitigate
inflationary pressures in 2022-23 year
4.1.13.
At the 31st March 2022 total external borrowing was £3,000,000.
The timing of any future borrowing is dependent on how the authority

Page 23

Agenda Item 6
manages its treasury activity and due to current low interest rates and
reduced returns on investments it is prudent for the Council to ‘internally
borrow’ and use these monies to fund the Capital Programme.
4.1.14.
The recommended level of general fund balance is 5%-10% of
the council’s net revenue budget £681,950 to £1,363,900. The actual
general fund reserve at 31 March 2022 is £1,211,000, which is a level of
8.9%.
4.2. Earmarked Reserves 2021/22
4.2.1. “Appendix B – Movement in reserves and Balances” details the
movements to and from earmarked reserves in 2021/22
4.3. Strategic Contingency Reserve
4.3.1. Full details of the Strategic Contingency Reserve movements and
commitments are attached as “Appendix C – Strategic Contingency
Reserve”
4.4. Capital
4.4.1. The 2021/22 Capital Programme is attached as “Appendix D – Capital
Programme 2021/22”
4.4.2. The Budget and Financial Framework report to Full Council 24th Feb
2021 outlined the Capital Programme for the 2021/22 financial year of
£22,419,916. Project underspend of £917,121 were bought forward from
2020/21 year and further variations of £468,895 were approved as part of
the performance and financial management report to Strategy and
Resources Committee, to produce a revised 2021/22 Capital Programme
of £23,805,932.
4.4.3. Actual spend on the Capital Programme for 2021/22 financial year was
£21,753,655. The variance against the budget of £23,805,932 is
(£2,052,277); the majority of which will be carried forward into the
2022/23 Capital Programme to fund on-going projects.
4.4.4. In order to pay for the £21,753,655 capital investment the Council
funded this from £4,370,179 received from external sources in the form
of grants and other assistance, £374,395 of internal resources held
specifically for capital projects, £278,275 from capital receipts and
£16,730,806 borrowing internally and externally.
4.4.5. The 2022/23 to 2024/25 Capital Programme is attached as Appendix E
– Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2024/25.
4.4.6. The Budget and Financial Framework report to Strategy and
Resources 7th February 2022, outlined the Capital Programme for the
2021/22 financial year of £23,805,932; 2022/23 financial year of
£15,833,023; 2023/24 financial year of £6,717,192 and 2024/25 financial
year of £711,874.

Page 24

Agenda Item 6
4.4.7. Project under spends of £2,031,062 from 2021/22 year are brought
forward to produce a revised Capital Programme for 2022/23 year of
£17,864,085.
4.4.8. Further variations of £1,655,843 are proposed to the 2022/23 to
2024/25 Capital Programme as follows:

Page 25

Agenda Item 6
Scheme
Re-surfacing various car park
Marine drive car park re-surfacing
Material recovery facility
Work vehicles
Skype for Business
ICT end user assets
Marine Drive Car Park Ilfracombe
Ilfracombe Kiosks
Affordable housing
21 Social Rents at Woolacombe
Queens Theatre roof
Queens Theatre Flat roof and
Redecoration
ICT 22/23
Alexandra Road – Access
Improvements
Ilfracombe Water Sports Centre
Disabled Facility Grants
CCTV
Frankmarsh Woodlands
Leisure Provision Seven Brethren
Bank
21 Social Rents at Woolacombe
Landmark Theatre, Fire alarm
Fremington Quay River Wall

Amount Notes
(£1,284) Virement between
schemes
£1,284 Virement between
schemes
(£18,390) Virement between
schemes
£18,390 Virement between
schemes
(£44,156) Virement between
schemes
£44,156 Virement between
schemes
(£18,615) Virement between
schemes
£18,615 Virement between
schemes
(£95,000) Virement between
schemes
£95,000 Virement between
schemes
(£128,650) Virement between
schemes
£128,650 Virement between
schemes
(£432,570) Error in original budget
£495,000 Full Council decision
£150,000 Additional grant
income
£132,000 Additional grant
allocation from BCF
(£30,119) Remaining budget not
required
£63,631 Additional grant
income
(£51,714) Element of Sport
England grant to be
removed
£535,000 New scheme
£150,000 22-23 PAG bid funding
from Repairs Fund
£68,652 22-23 PAG bid funding
from Repairs Fund

Page 26

Agenda Item 6
Scheme
Queen Ann's building, flat roof
replacement
Lynmouth Esplanade sea wall
repairs phase 2
Queens Theatre Flat roof and
Redecoration
Ilfracombe Museum Car park
retaining wall repairs
Change existing lighting for low
energy lamps/fittings
S106 - Pavillion at Georgeham
playing field - Georgeham Parish
Council
S106 - Heating system - Lee Bay
Memorial Hall

Amount Notes
£35,000 22-23 PAG bid funding
from Repairs Fund
£42,167 22-23 PAG bid funding
from Repairs Fund
£185,000 22-23 PAG bid funding
from Repairs Fund
£191,500 22-23 PAG bid funding
from Repairs Fund
£79,879 22-23 PAG bid funding
from Repairs Fund
£13,642 S106 approved
Strategy and
Resources – Feb ‘22
£5,600 S106 approved
Strategy and
Resources – Feb ‘22
S106 - Meadow playing field
£3,175 S106 approved
Pavillion - Morthoe Parish council
Strategy and
Resources – Mar ‘22
Affordable Homes Beechfield Road,
£20,000 Approved Strategy
Fremington
and Resources Mar
‘22
4.4.9. The overall Capital Programme for 2022/23 to 2024/25 is £26,948,994
and is broken down as follows:

2022/23 £19,519,928

2023/24 £6,717,192

2024/25 £711,874
4.4.10.
The Programme of £26,948,994 is funded by Capital Receipts /
Borrowing (£11,118,848), External Grants and Contributions
(£13,550,785) and Reserves (£2,279,361).
4.4.11.
The timing and realisation of capital receipts can be impacted by
events beyond the control of the Council and we have been able to
manage cash flows for projects through internal borrowing.
4.4.12.
We also have authority to borrow from the Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB) as outlined in the Treasury Management Annual
Investment Strategy and the Council currently has external borrowing of
£3,000,000.
4.4.13.
Release of Funds – 2022/23 Capital Programme

Alexandra Road Access Improvements
£495,000

Ilfracombe Water Sports Centre
£150,000

Disabled Facility Grants
£132,000

Frankmarsh woodlands
£63,631

21 Social Rents at Woolacombe
£535,000

Page 27

Agenda Item 6









Landmark Theatre, Fire alarm
Fremington Quay River Wall
Queen Ann’s building, flat roof replacement
Lynmouth Esplanade, sea wall repairs phase 2
Queens Theatre replacement flat roof and redecoration
Ilfracombe Museum Car park retaining wall repairs
Change existing lighting for low energy lamps/fittings
Affordable Homes Beechfield Road, Fremington

£150,000
£68,652
£35,000
£42,167
£185,000
£191,500
£79,879
£20,000

4.5. Treasury management
4.5.1. Bank Rate increased twice during the quarter taking the rate from
0.25% in December 2021 to 0.75% in March 2022.
4.5.2. The average 7 day LIBID (inter-bank bid rate), the Council’s
benchmark rate was -0.07%. Please note the LIBID rate stopped on 31st
December 2021. On-going our performance will be compared to the 7
day backward looking SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average).
4.5.3. The return earned on the Council’s investments was 0.05% (previous
0.16%)
4.5.4. £17,859 investment interest was earned during the financial year.
(2021/22 interest receivable budget was £35,000)
4.5.5. As at 31st March 2022, the Council had total external borrowing of
£3,000,000. Three new PWLB loans were drawn in February 2022 for
£2.5m. Please see the Annual Treasury Management Report for further
details.
4.5.6. £12,251 interest was paid at an average rate of 1.66% on PWLB loans
during the financial year. (2021/22 interest payable budget was
£109,000)

4.6. Debt Management
4.6.1. The major areas of credit income are Council Tax, Business Rates,
Housing Benefit overpayment Recoveries and General Debtors.
4.6.2. As billing authority, the Council annually raises the bills for Council Tax
(£69,000,000) and Business Rates (£32,000,000).
4.6.3. Collection rates are controlled through monitoring:

The level of write offs

Levels of previous years’ outstanding debt

The level of income collection in the year against the annual sums
due to be collected.
4.6.4. The council’s budget is based on the assumptions that eventually 97%
of sums due will be collected. To ensure this level is achieved, year on

Page 28

Agenda Item 6
year levels of write offs approved are controlled against a ceiling of 3% of
annual debt.
4.6.5. The outstanding amounts at 31st March 2022 are as set out below:

Age in
Years

Council Tax

Council Tax

Business
Rates

Business
Rates

2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

2020/21
£’000

2021/22
£’000

1–2

1,409

1,216

579

198

2–3

728

855

217

279

3–4

446

532

82

84

4–5

269

348

44

43

5–6

185

201

22

38

Over 6
264
138
68
38
4.6.6. Irrecoverable debts from previous years not exceeding £1,500 can be
written off with the authorisation of the Chief Financial Officer. Decisions
on whether to write off debts over £1,500 rest with the Chief Financial
Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the Council. As at 31st March
2022 the amount of accounts written off was as follows:
Number of
accounts
where debt
is less than
£1,500
1,938
97

Amount

Number of
accounts
where the
debt is more
than £1,500
241
42

£198,633.87
£8,102.36

Amount

Council Tax
£231,347.09*
Business
£209,254.42**
Rates
93
£11,630.01
Housing
2
£3,613.25
Benefits

* £68,688.27 due to bankruptcy (see section 4.6.8)

** £31,249.72 due to bankruptcy (see section 4.6.8)
4.6.7. The monitoring of in year collection carried out against national
performance indicators targets sums collected in year as a percentage of
the Net Sums due for that year.
4.6.8. The majority of the write offs are normally individual bankruptcy and
company insolvency and in a number of cases include liabilities for
previous years. In these cases we are unable to recover the debt.
However, if at a later date a dividend is paid, the money is allocated to
the account and the relevant amount written back on.
4.6.9. The other main reason for write offs is where the person has gone
away (no trace). However, write offs are reviewed and where we find the

Page 29

Agenda Item 6
persons contact address the write off is reversed and recover action
continues.
4.6.10.
The levels of collections are:

Council tax
Business rates

Achieved
2020/21

Achieved
2021/22

95.98%
95.23%

96.87%
97.46%

4.7. General Debtors
4.7.1. The level of general invoices raised was £7,600,000 at 31st March
2022 (previous year £6,400,000)
4.7.2. A summary of the outstanding debt, by age, is set out below with
comparison to the previous year.
Age of debt
3 weeks to 6 months
6 months to 1 year
1 to 2 years
2 to 6 years
Over 6 years
TOTAL

31 Dec 2021
£’000
398
99
387
391
111
1,386

31 Dec 2022
£’000
259
210
140
538
102
1,249

4.7.3. All Heads of Service have been tasked to review their outstanding
debts and review processes for effective debt recovery.
4.7.4. The aged debt over 6 years includes £38k in relation to Aylesford
Newsprint which is now due to be written off. In February 2022 we
received £31k regarding our claim lodged with the Administrators
pending the sale of the site. An overage has also been placed on this
land so there is the prospect of further income to be received.
4.7.5. In according with the Constitution, irrecoverable debts not exceeding
£1,500 can be written off with the authorisation of the Chief Financial
Officer. The Chief Financial Officer, in consultation with the Leader of the
Council, must authorise the write offs of debts over £1,500.
4.7.6. As at 31st March 2022, the amounts written off were as follows:
Number of
Invoices
131

Written offs £1,500 & under
£59,184

Number of
Invoices
6

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

Page 30

Written offs over £1,500
£14,822

Agenda Item 6
5.1. All revenue and Capital impacts have been discussed and highlighted in
section 4.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are no equality implications anticipated as a result of this report. An
Equality Impact Assessment has been completed.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1 There are not any environmental implications anticipated as a result of this
report, as the purpose of this report is to monitor in year performance and
financial monitoring. Projects within the Capital Programme will have highlighted
any specific environmental impacts associated with those individual schemes
when they came forwards for initial funding. The budget papers do contain an
earmarked reserve for Environmental Initiatives which is a positive impact and
has a balance of £49,000.
8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1 The Revenue budget supports the wider delivery plan of the Council in
achieving the corporate priorities.
8.2 Individual schemes within the Capital Programme support the corporate
priorities of improving customer focus, regeneration and commercialisation
agenda.
8.3 The acquisition of Green Lanes Shopping Centre and the Future High Street
Fund capital projects have a positive impact on both the regeneration priority and
also the commercialisation agenda.
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Part 3, Annexe 1 1(e) - Delegated.
9.2. Article 4.4 - Referred
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
10.1.
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information
under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
11.1.
None
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
12.1. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers: Author Tony Rumble, Accountancy Manager; Date 22nd
June 2022.

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
Appendix A
Appendix A – Variations in the Revenue Budget
Service and Cost Area
Quarter 3
variance
to budget
Bank and Post Office Charges
£41,000
Corporate Services
£41,000
Government Grants
(£85,000)
Collection Fund - additional income
(£18,000)
ICT Reduced spend
£0
Other
(£5,000)
Customer Focus
(£108,000)
Covid-19 financial support
£120,000
Leisure maintenance
(£80,000)
Waste and Recycling - Employees
£124,000
Waste and Recycling - Vehicle costs
£106,000
Waste and Recycling - Tipping Charges
(£14,000)
Waste and Recycling - Reduced spend
£78,000
Waste and Recycling - Trade Waste income (£137,000)
Waste and Recycling - Recycling Credits
(£14,000)
Waste & Recycling - Recycling Sales
(£200,000)
Waste and Recycling - Shared Savings
£23,000
Scheme
Waste and Recycling - Garden Waste
£0
income
Waste and Recycling - Other
(£3,000)
Other
(£1,000)
Environmental Enhancement
£2,000
Land Charges fees
£5,000
Other
(£11,000)
Governance
(£6,000)
HR Professional Fees and Further Education
(£13,000)
Organisational Development
(£13,000)
Public Conveniences Rates
£0
Car Parks Pay and Display income
£81,000
Pannier Market fee income
£5,000
CCTV income
£25,000
Rental Income
(£20,000)
Other
£1,000
Place and Regeneration
£92,000
Temporary Accommodation
£0
Deposits
(£10,000)
Licensing variances
(£15,000)
Development Control - Fees
(£180,000)
Development Control - Employees
£2,000
Crematorium Contribution
£0

Page 33

Outturn
Outturn
variance movement
to budget
from Q3
£10,000
(£31,000)
£10,000
(£31,000)
(£56,000)
£29,000
(£18,000)
£0
(£78,000)
(£78,000)
(£22,000)
(£17,000)
(£174,000)
(£66,000)
£70,000
(£50,000)
(£80,000)
£0
£124,000
£0
£141,000
£35,000
(£14,000)
£0
(£32,000) (£110,000)
(£137,000)
£0
(£14,000)
£0
(£274,000)
(£74,000)
£23,000
£0
£0

£0

(£3,000)
(£1,000)
(£197,000)
£5,000
(£28,000)
(£23,000)
(£13,000)
(£13,000)
£0
£21,000
£5,000
£25,000
(£20,000)
£1,000
£32,000
£0
(£10,000)
(£15,000)
(£180,000)
£2,000
(£41,000)

£0
£0
(£199,000)
£0
(£17,000)
(£17,000)
£0
£0
£0
(£60,000)
£0
£0
£0
£0
(£60,000)
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
(£41,000)

Agenda Item 6
Appendix A
Service and Cost Area

Quarter 3
Outturn
Outturn
variance
variance movement
to budget to budget
from Q3
£4,000
£4,000
£0
(£199,000) (£240,000)
(£41,000)

Other
Planning, Housing and Health

Additional Employee Vacancy savings
(£39,000) (£99,000)
Interest Receivable
£15,000
£15,000
Borrowing Costs - Interest Payable
(£55,000) (£96,000)
New Burdens Grant
(£228,000) (£228,000)
New Burdens Grant 5th Phase
(£170,000) (£170,000)
Contribution to Digital Transformation
£95,000
£95,000
Finance System
Contribution to Programme Delivery Reserve
£125,000
£125,000
75% Government reimbursement Sales,
£28,000
£28,000
Fees and Charges 2020/21
75% Government reimbursement Sales,
(£64,000) (£64,000)
Fees and Charges Q1
Repairs Fund Contribution
£255,000
£255,000
National pay award potential higher cost
£140,000
£140,000
£102,000
£1,000

£0
£0
(£101,000)

(£89,000) (£604,000)

(£515,000)

Page 34

(£60,000)
£0
(£41,000)
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0
£0

Appendix B – Movement in Reserves and Balances
Earmarked Reserves
Closing
Balance 31st
March 2021

Page 35

£9,810,252
£796,652
£375,000
£467,893
£397,587
£297,288

£4,416,412
£1,085,218
£210,879
£46,249

Transfer
from
Reserves
(to Capital)

Transfer
Transfer
Closing
from
between
Balance 31st
Reserves
Reserves
March 2022
(to
Revenue)
(£8,154,714) (£350,000)
£5,721,950
(£45,366)
(£489,144)
£1,347,360
£350,000
£935,879
(£50,000)
£464,142
(£14,673)

£382,914
£357,288

£60,000
£66,820
£120,960

£304,995
£141,629
£0

£0
£62,184
£168,600

£0

£150,000

(£10,524)

(£35,000)
(£9,913)
£79,645

£100,000
£25,000
£61,106
£95,000

(£43,676)
(£7,351)

(£49,041)

(£122,545)
(£27,420)

£345,118
£324,209
£322,506
£255,850
£230,560
£217,001
£190,501
£182,498
£182,450
£176,393
£168,600
£150,000

Agenda Item 6

£313,298
£223,686
£242,861
£155,850
£230,560
£235,677
£129,395
£143,890

Appendix B

Collection Fund Reserve
Repairs Fund
Budget Management Reserve
Community Housing Fund-Hsg
Enabling
Capital Funding Reserve
Crem Equipment Replacement
Reserve
Flexible Homelessness Support Grant
Office Technology Reserve
Transformation Reserve
Local Plans Fund
Crem Earmarked Reserve
Economic Development Reserve
Rough Sleeper Initiative - DCLG grant
Digital Transformation Financial
Systems
Vehicle Renewals Fund
Council Tax Support Reserve
Corporate Property Management
Initiative
W&R Covid Toilet Cleaning

Transfer to
Reserves

Earmarked Reserves

Page 36

£0
£0

Transfer
from
Reserves
(to Capital)

Transfer
from
Reserves
(to
Revenue)

£150,000
£149,000

Closing
Balance 31st
March 2022

£150,000
£149,000

£133,157
£125,000
(£27,000)
£84,000
£13,000
£75,000
(£100,350)
(£2,755)
£67,103
£36,579
(£66,054)
£32,065
£25,000
(£840)
£21,775

Transfer
between
Reserves

£143,842
£133,157
£125,000
£114,099
£106,157
£99,600
£96,873
£75,000
£69,783
£69,547
£67,103
£66,579
£65,064
£50,065
£50,000
£49,641
£49,160
£45,317
£44,565

Agenda Item 6

£143,842
£0
£0
£141,099
£106,157
£15,600
£83,873
£0
£170,133
£72,302
£0
£30,000
£131,118
£18,000
£25,000
£49,641
£50,000
£45,317
£22,790

Transfer to
Reserves

Appendix B

ICT Cyber Treatment
Project Man Performance (Levelling
Up)
Strategic Contingency Reserve
SFS Vehicle Tender Reserve
Programme Delivery Reserve
Leisure Centre Replacement Reserve
Collection Fund Reserve (Council Tax)
Development Control Fund
Tarka Tennis Surface replacement
Corporate Property Income Volatility
Planning Enquiries Fund
Self Build & Custom Housebuild
Food Saftey
Economic Financial Hardship
New Homes Bonus Reserve
Building Control Reserve
District Council Election
Rechargeable Works Reserve
Environmental Initiatives
Prevention CLG Grant Reserve
External Legal Services Reserve

Closing
Balance 31st
March 2021

Earmarked Reserves

Page 37

Transfer to
Reserves

Transfer
from
Reserves
(to Capital)

£158,167

Transfer
Transfer
from
between
Reserves
Reserves
(to
Revenue)
(£114,541)
(£51,678)

Closing
Balance 31st
March 2022

£43,626

£43,451

£77,703
£33,033
£24,000

£12,382
£13,918
£6,000

(£57,182)
(£14,497)

£32,903
£32,454
£30,000

£10,710
£112,000
£30,496
£26,263

£18,824

(£310)

£29,224
£27,540
£27,036
£26,263

£0
£25,000
£23,956
£31,806
£22,032

£25,477

(£1,309)
£22,638
£20,000
£33,962

(£8,733)

(£84,460)
(£3,460)

(£8,066)

£43,451
£40,156
£37,074
£36,539
£34,517
£33,962

£25,477
£25,000
£23,956
£23,740
£22,032

Agenda Item 6

£51,678
£40,156
£38,383
£13,901
£23,250
£0

Appendix B

Ilfracombe Watersports Centre
Reserve
Next Step Accom Programme
P C Planned Maintenance Fund
Community Consultation
Specialist Domestic Abuse Reserve
Neighbourhood Planning
Covid Outbreak Management Fund
(COMF)
Greensweep Replacement Fund
Museum development fund
Community Protection Vehicles
Reserve
Members Technology Reserve
CCTV Reserve
Car Parking Reserve
Brownfield Land Registers &
Permission
Crem Budget Management Reserve
Brexit Exports EH
RS Rapid Rehoming Pathway
Ilfracombe Harbour Repairs
IER Funding

Closing
Balance 31st
March 2021

Earmarked Reserves

Page 38

Transfer
from
Reserves
(to Capital)

£18,800
£20,000
£19,530
£15,952

Transfer
Transfer
from
between
Reserves
Reserves
(to
Revenue)
(£6,287)
(£10,000)

(£10,760)
(£14,000)

£28,770

(£45,230)

£2,000

(£23,421)
£7,881,811

(£374,395) (£9,335,906)

(£79,645)
£0

Closing
Balance 31st
March 2022

£20,013
£20,000
£19,530
£15,952
£14,927
£14,770
£13,522
£10,000
£6,321
£5,159
£4,221
£4,129
£1,872
£945
£541
£41
£0
£0
£14,521,661

Agenda Item 6

£7,500
£10,000
£0
£0
£25,687
£0
£13,522
£10,000
£51,551
£5,159
£4,221
£2,129
£1,872
£945
£541
£41
£23,421
£79,645
£16,350,152

Transfer to
Reserves

Appendix B

HR Payroll
Climate & Environmental Grants
Health and Safety Reserve
External Audit
Internal Audit Plan
Ilfracombe Harbour Security
Lynton Agency Reserve
Litter Bin Strategy
Parks Reserve
Town & Parish Fund
Future High Street Fund FHSF
Noise Equipment reserve
Pannier Market
Habitat Directive Reserve
Local Welfare Support reserve
Office Accommodation Reserve
Second Homes Council Tax Reserve
Improvement Programme Reserve

Closing
Balance 31st
March 2021

Appendix C – Strategic Contingency Reserve
Strategic Contingency Reserve 2021-22 - Original (9980) (8245)
Resources Available
Balance brought forward 1st April 2021
Budget Contribution to Strategic Contingency Reserve 2021/22

B/F from 2020/21
2021/2022 Actual spend

£
(£143,842)
£0
(£143,842)
£0
£0

Page 39
Balance Remaining

(£143,842)

Agenda Item 6

Appendix C

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix D – Capital Programme 2021/22

Project

Budget
2021/22
£

Variance
positive =
Underspen
d

Actual
21/22

Carry
Forward

Compl
ete (C)
/ Carry
Forwar
d (CF)

Customer Focus

Page 41

ICT Improve Back-up and Recovery Capabilities

£40,249

£32,546

£7,703

£7,703

CF

Office Technology Fund - End User Assets

£60,000

£10,524

£49,476

£49,476

CF

£100,249

£43,070

£57,179

£57,179

£38,150

£0

£38,150

£38,150

CF

£9,762,770

£8,653,887

£1,108,883

£1,108,883

CF

S106 Contributions - Various projects

£593,141

£240,743

£352,398

£352,398

CF

Works Unit Vehicles

£221,275

£122,545

£98,730

£98,730

CF

£10,615,336

£9,017,175

£1,598,161

£1,598,161

£13,218

£7,351

£5,867

£0

£13,218

£7,351

£5,867

£0

£84,881

£84,460

£421

£0

Environmental Enhancements
Greensweep / Bartec migration and automation
Leisure Provision at Seven Brethren

C

Place and Regeneration
CCTV service

C

Agenda Item 6

HR and Payroll System

Appendix D

Governance

Project

Digital Transformation Asset and Financial Management
System

Budget
2021/22
£

Variance
positive =
Underspen
d

Actual
21/22

Carry
Forward

Compl
ete (C)
/ Carry
Forwar
d (CF)

£40,000

£0

£40,000

£40,000

Fendering and Fish Store Enhancements

£163,650

£155,593

£8,057

£0

Future High Street Fund

£610,281

£559,165

£51,116

£51,116

CF

£4,546

£9,450

(£4,904)

(£4,904)

CF

Jubilee Garden see wall

£34,875

£34,875

£0

£0

Jubilee Gardens reserved car park retaining wall

£31,447

£0

£31,447

£31,447

CF

£142,594

£122,687

£19,907

£19,907

CF

£5,000

£5,000

£0

£0

£19,020

£17,885

£1,135

£1,135

CF

£109,250

£0

£109,250

£109,250

CF

£8,800,000

£8,816,277

(£16,277)

(£16,277)

CF

£130,000

£1,350

£128,650

£128,650

CF

Replacement Planning ICT system

£6,869

£0

£6,869

£0

Resurfacing to various car parks

£1,284

£0

£1,284

£1,284

CF

Retaining Wall - Cross Street Car Park Lynton

£9,500

£0

£9,500

£9,500

CF

£1,665,535

£1,494,266

£171,269

£171,269

CF

Ilfracombe Harbour - Kiosks

Page 42

Land Release Fund - Seven Brethren
Museum of Barnstaple - Long Bridge Wing
Pannier Market Re-roofing works
Planned Maintenance Seven Brethren
Purchase of Strategic Asset

C

C

C

Agenda Item 6

Water Sports Centre Ilfracombe

C

Appendix D

Queens Theatre - Flat roof

CF

Project

Budget
2021/22
£

Actual
21/22

£11,858,732 £11,301,008

Variance
positive =
Underspen
d

Carry
Forward

£557,724

£542,377

Compl
ete (C)
/ Carry
Forwar
d (CF)

Planning, Housing and Health
Boyton House

£71,591

£71,591

£0

£0

£1,087,934

£1,217,953

(£130,019)

(£130,019)

CF

ECO Warm up Grants

£40,658

£16,738

£23,920

£23,920

CF

Provision of temporary accommodation

£18,214

£78,770

(£60,556)

(£60,556)

CF

£1,218,397

£1,385,052

(£166,655)

(£166,655)

£23,805,932 £21,753,656

£2,052,276

£2,031,062

Disabled Facilities Grant Programme

C

Page 43

Agenda Item 6

Appendix D

Agenda Item 6
Appendix D

Page 44

Appendix E – Capital Programme 2022/23 to 2024/25
Project

Original
Budget
2022/23
£

Original
Budget
2023/24
£

Original
Budget
2024/25
£

Total
Capital
Programme

Customer Focus
ICT Improve Back-up and Recovery Capabilities

£7,703

£0

£0

£7,703

£40,000

£0

£0

£40,000

£522,754

£0

£0

£522,754

£570,457

£0

£0

£570,457

£38,150

£0

£0

£38,150

£2,347,177

£0

£0

£2,347,177

Material Recovery Facility - Infrastructure

£741,610

£0

£0

£741,610

S106 Contributions - Various projects

£374,816

£0

£0

£374,816

Works Unit Vehicles

£117,120

£0

£0

£117,120

£3,618,873

£0

£0

£3,618,873

Acquisition of Corporate Property

£250,000

£0

£0

£250,000

Acquisition of Land off Frankmarsh, Barnstaple

£164,631

£0

£0

£164,631

Barnstaple Bus Station re-furbishment

£46,394

£0

£0

£46,394

Digital Transformation Asset and Financial Management System

£40,000

£0

£0

£40,000

ICT Skype for Business
Office Technology Fund - End User Assets and IT Assets in Data Centre
Environmental Enhancements

Page 45

Greensweep / Bartec migration and automation
Leisure Provision at Seven Brethren

Agenda Item 6

Appendix E

Place and Regeneration

Project

Future High Street Fund

Original
Original
Original
Total
Budget
Budget
Budget
Capital
2022/23
2023/24
2024/25 Programme
£
£
£
£2,955,768 £6,717,192 £711,874 £10,384,834
£0

£0

£58,611

Jubilee Gardens reserved car park retaining wall

£31,447

£0

£0

£31,447

£1,899,332

£0

£0

£1,899,332

£47,669

£0

£0

£47,669

Pannier Market Re-roofing works

£452,098

£0

£0

£452,098

Planned Maintenance Seven Brethren

£109,250

£0

£0

£109,250

£90,000

£0

£0

£90,000

£2,183,723

£0

£0

£2,183,723

£9,500

£0

£0

£9,500

£500,000

£0

£0

£500,000

£55,000

£0

£0

£55,000

Alexander Road - Access improvements

£495,000

£0

£0

£495,000

Landmark Theatre, Fire alarm

£150,000

£0

£0

£150,000

Fremington Quay River Wall

£68,652

£0

£0

£68,652

Queen Ann's building, flat roof replacement

£35,000

£0

£0

£35,000

Lynmouth Esplanade sea wall repairs phase 2

£42,167

£0

£0

£42,167

Land Release Fund - Seven Brethren
Marine Drive Car Park Resurfacing - Ilfracombe

Page 46

Public Maintenance - Public House corner of Castle Street and 16 Castle Street
Green Lanes
Retaining Wall - Cross Street Car Park Lynton
Self-build Housing projects
South Quay, Ilfracombe

Agenda Item 6

£58,611

Appendix E

Ilfracombe Harbour - Kiosks

Project

Queens theatre, replacement of Flat roof and redecoration of SE and NE
elevations
Ilfracombe Museum Car park retaining wall repairs
NDC occupied office buildings, change existing lighting for low energy
lamps/fittings
Water Sports Centre Ilfracombe

Original
Budget
2022/23
£
£313,650

Original
Budget
2023/24
£
£0

Original
Total
Budget
Capital
2024/25 Programme
£
£0
£313,650

£191,500

£0

£0

£191,500

£79,879

£0

£0

£79,879

£1,826,084

£0

£0

£1,826,084

£12,095,355 £6,717,192 £711,874 £19,524,421

Page 47

Planning, Housing and Health
21 Social Rents Woolacombe

£630,000

£0

£0

£630,000

£20,000

£0

£0

£20,000

£1,852,981

£0

£0

£1,852,981

ECO Warm up Grants

£533,322

£0

£0

£533,322

Provision of temporary accommodation

£198,940

£0

£0

£198,940

£3,235,243

£0

£0

£3,235,243

Affordable Homes Beechfield Road, Fremington
Disabled Facilities Grant Programme

Agenda Item 6

Appendix E

£19,519,928 £6,717,192 £711,874 £26,948,994

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix F

Table A: High level status of all service plan actions tracked on Pentana

Completed

Page 49

Totals

472

Since the last report
included in the total

9

Overdue

0

Cancelled

0

Not due

97

Total

569

Agenda Item 6

Appendix F

Table B: Service plan actions that have been cancelled authorised by SMT
Action

Reason

NONE

Page 50

Agenda Item 6

Appendix F

Table C: Service Plan Actions (9) completed
Action

Closure Note

Due Date

CF 2019/20 01 ICT Upgrade all 2008 R2 servers to All 2008R2 servers have now been migrated and switched 30-Dec-2021
2012 or 2016
off

Completed Date
04-Mar-2022

G 18/19 01 Upgrade of Civica Icon (income
payment scheme).

The project to upgrade to the hosted version of ICON has
now been completed

31-Mar-2022

04-Apr-2022

G 19/20 01 Regulators' Code (came into effect 6th The Corporate Enforcement Policy will be considered by
April, 2014) Was CSS 03 15/16 transferred from
Strategy and Resources in July 22
EH&H 2015/16 Service Plan

31-Aug-2021

20-Jun-2022

G 19/20 03 Corporate Enforcement Strategy &
The Corporate Enforcement Policy will be considered by
Policy. A review of service specific policies against Strategy and Resources in July 2022
the new framework.

31-Mar-2022

20-Jun-2022

PH&H 2021/22 06 Crematorium Enhance
audio/visual tributes during services

30-Sep-2021

31-Mar-2022

PP&R 2019/20 01 Parking Installation of 3 Electric Report being taken to Strategy & Resources July 2022
Vehicle Charging Points under DCC Project

30-Jun-2022

20-Jun-2022

PP&R 2020/21 03 Parking Investigate further
opportunities and funding streams to increase the
number of EV charging points beyond the current
scheme

This has been done and approved at SMT

31-Mar-2022

20-Jun-2022

PP&R 2022/23 01 Place Delivery of Culture
Strategy for North Devon and Torridge Districts

Strategy complete and to be considered by Strategy &
Resources in July 2022

01-May-2022 20-Jun-2022

Crematorium Manager advised that a new contract starts
on 01 April 2022 with some reliability upgrades.

Agenda Item 6

31-May-2022 20-Jun-2022

Appendix F

Building complete with formal opening on 24th June 2022

Page 51

EE 2015/16 01 Sport Provision of replacement for
North Devon Leisure Centre

Table D: Actions where Heads of Service have requested a revision to the due date and these have been approved by SMT
HoS

Code

Description

Current due
date

Revised due
date request

Reason & (if applicable Officer) requesting
this change

Adam Tape

G 16/17
01

Works in Default Policy and
procedures

31-Mar-2022

30-Sept-2022

First draft of the Works in Default Policy has
been produced and is currently with
departments for consultation.

Jeremy
Mann

Page 52

Sarah-Jane
MackenzieShapland

PH&H
2020/21
04

PP&R
2022/23
02

Housing Commercialisation of
aspects of the Housing Service

Culture Creation of new 5-year
Museum Forward Plan to
Accreditation standard

31-Mar-2022

30-Apr-2022

30-Sept-2022

31-Mar-2023

Request review date: 30th September
2022
Head of Service is working on the various
options available, with the associated pros
and cons of each.
Request review due date: 30th September
2022
Preliminary work has start on the plan.
Request review date: 31st March 2023

Agenda Item 6

Appendix F

Table E: Outstanding Service Plan Actions (0)
Code

Description

Progress Bar

Latest Note

Original Due
Date

Due Date

NONE

Page 53

Agenda Item 6

Appendix F

Table F: Key Performance Indicators: Last year’s data + this year’s results
PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q2
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q3
2020/21 &
2021/22

5

40

71

100

32

81

88

113

Planning
NI 155 Number of
affordable homes delivered
(cumulative1)
NI 157a Percentage of
major applications
processed within 13 weeks

Page 54

NI 157b Percentage of
minor planning
applications processed
within 8 weeks

Performance Year
Data Q4
End
2020/21&
Target
2021/22

Year
End
Result

Current
Target

Latest Note &
History

100

100%

100%

100%

67%

45%

86%

88%

86%

100%

45%

97%

93%

96%

98%

97%

90%

87%

95%

113
92%

96%

1

NI 155 changed from Gross to Cumulative

Agenda Item 6

Appendix F

45% Major applications
determined within
statutory timeframe
of 13 weeks is 33%
but total within
statutory timeframe
or the agreed
extension of time is
100%
75% Minor applications
determined within
statutory timeframe
of 8 weeks is 38%
but total within
statutory timeframe
or the agreed
extension of time is
95%

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q2
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q3
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance Year
Data Q4
End
2020/21&
Target
2021/22

Year
End
Result

91%

98%

98%

98%

85%

96%

97%

96%

94%

95%

85%

51.9%

53%

47.10%

43.11%

51.74%

52%

46%

Current
Target

Latest Note &
History

Planning
NI 157c Percentage of
other applications
processed within 8 weeks

Page 55

Waste & Recycling
L82(i) Total percentage
domestic waste recycled

46%

48.78
%

Other applications
determined within
85% statutory timeframe
of 8 weeks is 69%
but total within
statutory timeframe
or the agreed
extension of time is
95%
Quarter 4 figure not
46.00% yet available

46%

Agenda Item 6

Appendix F

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q2
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q3
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance Year
Data Q4
End
2020/21 &
Target
2021/22

Year End Current
Result
Target

Latest Note &
History

Finance
BV8 Percentage of
invoices paid on time

BV9 Percentage of
Council Tax collected
BV78a (M) Speed of
processing - new Housing
Benefit/Council Tax Benefit
claims

Page 56

BV10 Percentage of Nondomestic Rates Collected
Property & Technical

93.30%
91.40%

91.3%
90.85%

92.33%
91.82%

97.00%
97.00%

93.28%
97.00%

27.47%
28.24%

54.63%
55.13%

81.41%
81.98%

96.01%
96.89%

97.5%
97.5%

27

27.6

23.8

24.1

28.00

25.6

27.3

25.7

29.6

21.1

28.00

25.9

21.07%
20.88%

57.23%
50.03%

81.68%
78.62%

98.16%

95.21%

95.21%

96.01%

96.01%

96.01%

July £1.79

Sept £1.79

Dec £1.51

March £1.40

£1.69

July £1.87

Sept £1.89

Dec £1.51

March £1.70

£1.83

95.23%
97.46%

99.05%
99.05%

96.01%
96.89%

95.23
97.46%

97.5%

28.0

99.05%

95.23%
89.31%

Agenda Item 6

£1.79

Appendix F

L728 Percentage of the
gross internal area of the
investment estate currently
let
L168 Income per car park
P&D ticket

96.20%
92.22%

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q2
2020/21 &
2021/22

L300 Building Regulation Full
Plan applications determined
in 2 months

98%

99%

90%

97%

L301 Building Regulation
Applications examined within
3 weeks

99%

100%

100%
5

Performance
Data Q3
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q4
2020/21 &
2021/22

Year
End
Target

Year
End
Result

Current
Target

95%

98.75
%

95%

Latest Note &
History

Building Control

L302 Average time to first
response (Days)

99% 97%
98%

95%

99% 98%

95%

98%

99%

95%

7

7

7

10

99%

Awaiting data for
Quarter 4.
95%

7

Page 57

10
8.5

7.5

8

10

Awaiting data for
Quarter 4.

Awaiting data for
Quarter 4.

Agenda Item 6

Appendix F

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2020/21 &
2021/22
Customer Services & Communications
L999 Feedback Customer
Satisfaction %

L997 Customer Service
Satisfaction %

Page 58

L998 Media Satisfaction %
Annual

Performance
Data Q2
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q3
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q4
2020/21 &
2021/22

Year
End
Target

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

42%

53%

43%

N/A

50%

83%

N/A

N/A

N/A

90%

94%

90%

92%

N/A

90%

Annual

N/A

Year
End
Result

Current
Target

46% 50%

92% 90%

100%

Latest Note &
History

No surveys carried
out during Qtr 4 as
Officer was
assisting with
admin of business
grants
No surveys carried
out during Qtr 4 as
Officer was
assisting with
admin of business
grants

Agenda Item 6

Appendix F

90% Survey not carried
out this year; new
PI’s will be
developed which
will reflect the
whole suite of
channels we now
use

PI Code & Short Name

Performance
Data Q1
2020/21 &
2021/22
Environmental Health & Housing

Performance
Data Q2
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q3
2020/21 &
2021/22

Performance
Data Q4
2020/21 &
2021/22

Year
End
Target

16

2

88

187

1776

293

29

177

22

348

708

576

LEHH014 Food Hygiene
Interventions Completed

Year
End
Result

Current
Target

Latest Note &
History

708
LEHH015 Percentage of
Food Hygiene Due
Interventions Completed

Page 59

PI Code & Short Name

0.3%

0.6%

1.2%

3.7%

23%

3.02%

49%

Performance
Data Q1
2020/21 &
2021/22
102

Performance
Data Q2
20120/21 &
2021/22
153

Performance
Data Q3
2020/21 &
2021/22
104

LEHH017 Housing Options Number of Households
Accommodated in Temporary
Accommodation

126

136

1.6%

100%

19.7%

Performance Year
Data Q4
End
2020/21 &
Target
2021/22
135

Year
End
Result

102

494

100%

Current
Target

Data
only

33

33

38

140

42

38

42

64

186

Prevention – 64
Relief - 37

492

36

Latest Note &
History

Data
Only

Agenda Item 6

128

100%

Appendix F

LEHH016 Housing Options Number of Homelessness
Prevented & Relieved

2.5%

LEHH019 Housing Standards
- Number of DFG's
Completed & Monies Paid

LEHH026 Number of NDC
Lets Through DHC
LEHH020 Housing Standards
– the level of unmet demand
for DFGs

30

56

102

214

31

78

114

186

48

98

70

98

72

70

60

63

Data
only

314

Data
only

£366,156

£227,416

£300,799

£401,580

£1,295
,951

Data
only

£343,163

£354,224

£426,680

£436,164

£1,560
,231

Data
only

Total for Qtr 4:
£1,054,234.68

Page 60
2.

Constitution Context

3.1

Statement of Internal Advice
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate Councillors and officers.

Author: Sarah Higgins

Date: June 2022 Reference: Strategy and Resources Performance Report June 2022

Agenda Item 6

3.

Referred or
delegated power?
Delegated

Appendix F

Appendix and
paragraph
5.5

Agenda Item 7

North Devon Council
Report Date: 4th July 2022
Topic: Annual Treasury Management Report 2021/22

Report by: Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review
and scrutiny of treasury management policy and activities. This report is
important in that respect, as it provides details of the outturn position for
treasury activities and highlights compliance with the Council’s policies
previously approved by members.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 The Committee is asked to recommend to full Council that:



The annual treasury management report for 2021/22 be noted;
The actual 2021/22 prudential and treasury indicators be approved.

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1 This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government
Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury management review of activities
and the actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2021/22. This report
meets the requirements of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital
Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).
3.2 During 2021/22 the minimum reporting requirements were that the full
Council should receive the following reports:




an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 24/02/2021)
a mid year treasury update report (Council 24/11/2021)
an annual review following the end of the year describing the activity
compared to the strategy (this report)

3.3 This Council confirms that it has complied with the requirements under the
Code to give prior scrutiny to all the above treasury management reports by
the Policy Development Committee before they were reported to the full
Council.

Page 61

Agenda Item 7

4. REPORT
4.1 The Council’s Capital Expenditure and Financing
The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.
activities may either be:

These

Financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no
resultant impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or
 If insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources,
the capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.


The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.
The table below shows the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.
31 March
2021
Actual

£000
Capital expenditure
Financed in year
Unfinanced capital
expenditure


2021/22
Estimate

31 March
2022
Actual

6,171

29,029

21,754

(5,786)

(9,462)

(5,023)

385

19,567

16,731

Estimate from the Mid-Year Treasury Management Report

4.2 The Council’s Overall Borrowing Need
The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). This figure is a gauge of the Council’s
indebtedness. The CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and
resources used to pay for the capital spend. It represents the Council’s
unfinanced capital expenditure (see above table), and prior years’ net or
unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for by revenue or
other resources.
Reducing the CFR – the Council’s underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not
allowed to rise indefinitely. Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital
assets are broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset. The Council is
required to make an annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue
Provision – MRP, to reduce the CFR. This is effectively a repayment of the
borrowing need.

Page 62

Agenda Item 7

The Council’s MRP policy, (as required by DLUHC guidance), was approved as
part of the Treasury Management Strategy Report for 2021/22.
The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential
indicator. It includes leasing schemes on the balance sheet, which increases the
Council’s borrowing need. No borrowing it actually required against these
schemes as a borrowing facility is included in the contract.

CFR £000
Opening balance
Add unfinanced capital
expenditure (as above)

31 March
2021
Actual
4,746

31 March
2021
Estimate
4,591

31 March
2022
Actual
4,591

385

19,567

16,731

Add finance leases

891

Less MRP

(540)

(514)

(514)

Closing balance

4,591

23,644

21,699

A finance lease scheme was introduced during 2021/22 for our vehicle fleet.
Previously these costs would have been included in the capital expenditure, but
these have now been shown separately as above.
A large capital programme during 2021/22 including the new Leisure Centre,
Watersports Centre and purchase of Green Lanes Shopping Centre has resulted
in an increased CFR of circa £17m. The CFR was below the estimate due to
slippages in the wider capital programme, with this spend re-profiled into
2022/23.

Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for gross borrowing and
the CFR, and by the authorised limit.
Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are
prudent over the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should
ensure that its gross external borrowing does not, except in the short term,
exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the preceding year
(2021/22) plus the estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for
the current (2022/23) and next two financial years. This essentially means that
the Council is not borrowing to support revenue expenditure. The table below

Page 63

Agenda Item 7
highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR. The Council
has complied with this prudential indicator.
31
March
2021
Actual

£000
Gross borrowing
position
Total CFR
Over / (under) funding
of CFR


2021/22
Estimate

31
March
2022
Actual

500

17,500

3,891

4,591

23,644

21,699

(4,091)

(6,144)

(17,808)

Estimate from the Mid-Year Treasury Management Report

The authorised limit - the authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit”
required by s3 of the Local Government Act 2003. Once this has been set, the
Council does not have the power to borrow above this level. The table below
demonstrates that during 2021/22 the Council has maintained gross borrowing
within its authorised limit.
The operational boundary – the operational boundary is the expected
borrowing position of the Council during the year. Periods where the actual
position is either below or over the boundary are acceptable subject to the
authorised limit not being breached.
Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator
identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long term obligation
costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream.

Authorised limit
Maximum gross borrowing position during the year
Operational boundary
Average gross borrowing position
Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue
stream

2021/22
£
*37.5m
3.89m
17.5m
1.3m
3.91%

*

The Extraordinary Council meeting held on 14th June 2021 approved the increase in the authorised
borrowing limit to £37.5m as part of the report detailing the purchase of Green Lanes.

4.3 Treasury Position as at 31st March 2022
At the beginning and the end of 2021/22 the Council’s treasury position,
excluding borrowing by finance leases, was as follows:

Page 64

Agenda Item 7

DEBT PORTFOLIO

31 March
2021

£000

Principal

Total debt (PWLB)
CFR

500

Rate/
Return

31 March
2022
Principal

1.56%

3,000

4,591

20,808

Over / (under)
borrowing

(4,091)

(17,808)

Total investments

23,844

Net debt/(investments)

Rate/
Return

0.16%

(23,344)

19,402

1.66%

0.05%

(16,402)

On 30th March 2022 we received £5.8m from Central Government for the Council
Tax Energy Rebate scheme to be paid out during 2022/23. At year end we also
had a balance of £5.2m in relation in relation to Covid-19 business grants and
circa £2.5m in relation to Omicron business grant payments to be repaid to central
government during 2022/23 once the final reconciliations have been carried out.
The cash balances and reserves have supported a large under borrowing position
which is considered further in the borrowing strategy below.
The maturity structure of the debt portfolio was as follows:

31 March 2021
actual
Under 12 months

£0m

12 months and within 24
months

£0m

24 months and within 5 years

£0m

5 years and within 10 years
10 years and above

£0.50m (100%)
£0m

Page 65

2021/22
Estimate
limits
60%
60%

31 March 2022
actual
£0m
£0m

100%

£0.50m
(16.67%)

100%

£0m

95%

£2.50m
(83.33%)

Agenda Item 7

All investments were for maturities less than one year

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

31 March
2021

31 March
2022

Actual

Actual

£000

Treasury investments
Banks

22,780

18,260

TOTAL TREASURY INVESTMENTS

22,780

18,260

During 2021/22, the Council made no material non-treasury investments in
property with the sole purpose of generating an income stream.

4.4 The Strategy for 2021/22
Investment strategy and control of interest rate risk - Investment returns
remained close to zero for much of 2021/22. Most local authority lending managed
to avoid negative rates. The expectation for interest rates within the treasury
management strategy for 2021/22 was that Bank Rate would remain at 0.1% until
it was clear to the Bank of England that the emergency level of rates introduced
at the start of the Covid-19 pandemic were no longer necessitated.
The Bank of England and the Government also maintained various monetary and
fiscal measures, supplying the banking system and the economy with massive
amounts of cheap credit so that banks could help cash-starved businesses to
survive the various lockdowns/negative impact on their cash flow. The
Government also supplied huge amounts of finance to local authorities to pass on
to businesses. This meant that for most of the year there was much more liquidity
in financial markets than there was demand to borrow, with the consequent effect
that investment earnings rates remained low until towards the turn of the year
when inflation concerns indicated central banks, not just the Bank of England,
would need to lift interest rates to combat the second-round effects of growing
levels of inflation (CPI was 6.2% in February).

Page 66

Agenda Item 7
While the Council has taken a cautious approach to investing, it is also fully
appreciative of changes to regulatory requirements for financial institutions in
terms of additional capital and liquidity that came about in the aftermath of the
financial crisis. These requirements have provided a far stronger basis for financial
institutions, with annual stress tests by regulators evidencing how institutions are
now far more able to cope with extreme stressed market and economic conditions.
Investment balances have been kept to a minimum through the agreed strategy
of using reserves and balances to support internal borrowing, rather than
borrowing externally from the financial markets. External borrowing would have
incurred an additional cost, due to the differential between borrowing and
investment rates as illustrated in the charts shown below. Such an approach has
also provided benefits in terms of reducing counterparty risk exposure, by having
fewer investments placed in the financial markets.

Borrowing strategy and control of interest rate risk - During 2021-22, the
Council maintained an under-borrowed position. This meant that the capital
borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), was not fully funded with
loan debt, as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow was

Page 67

Agenda Item 7
used as an interim measure. This strategy was prudent as investment returns were
low and minimising counterparty risk on placing investments also needed to be
considered.
The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances, has
served well over the last few years. However, this was kept under review to avoid
incurring higher borrowing costs in the future when this authority may not be able
to avoid new borrowing to finance capital expenditure and/or the refinancing of
maturing debt.
Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution was
adopted with the treasury operations. The Section 151 Officer therefore monitored
interest rates in financial markets and adopted a pragmatic strategy based upon
the following principles to manage interest rate risks


if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in long
and short term rates, (e.g. due to a marked increase of risks around relapse
into recession or of risks of deflation), then long term borrowings would
have been postponed, and potential rescheduling from fixed rate funding
into short term borrowing would have been considered.



if it had been felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE
in long and short term rates than initially expected, perhaps arising from an
acceleration in the start date and in the rate of increase in central rates in
the USA and UK, an increase in world economic activity or a sudden
increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position would have been reappraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding would have been drawn whilst
interest rates were lower than they were projected to be in the next few
years.

Interest rate forecasts expected only gradual rises in medium and longer term
fixed borrowing rates during 2021/22 and the two subsequent financial years until
the turn of the year, when inflation concerns increased significantly. Internal,
variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing
until well in to the second half of 21/22.

Page 68

Agenda Item 7
PWLB Rates 1.4.21 - 31.03.22
3.00%
2.80%
2.60%
2.40%
2.20%
2.00%
1.80%
1.60%

1.40%
1.20%

1.00%
0.80%
0.60%

1 Year

5 Year

10 Year

25 Year

50 Year

50 year target %

HIGH/LOW/AVERAGE PWLB RATES FOR 2021/22

01/04/2021

1 Year
0.80%

5 Year
1.20%

10 Year
1.73%

25 Year
2.22%

50 Year
2.03%

31/03/2022

1.91%

2.25%

2.43%

2.64%

2.39%

Low

0.78%

1.05%

1.39%

1.67%

1.25%

Low date

08/04/2021

08/07/2021

05/08/2021

08/12/2021

09/12/2021

High

2.03%

2.37%

2.52%

2.75%

2.49%

High date

15/02/2022

28/03/2022

28/03/2022

23/03/2022

28/03/2022

Average

1.13%

1.45%

1.78%

2.10%

1.85%

Spread

1.25%

1.32%

1.13%

1.08%

1.24%

PWLB rates are based on gilt (UK Government bonds) yields through
H.M.Treasury determining a specified margin to add to gilt yields. The main
influences on gilt yields are Bank Rate, inflation expectations and movements in
US treasury yields. Regarding PWLB borrowing rates, the various margins
attributed to their pricing are as follows: 


PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps)
PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps)

There is likely to be a further rise in short dated gilt yields and PWLB rates over
the next three years as Bank Rate is forecast to rise from 0.75% in March 2022
to 1.25% later this year, with upside risk likely if the economy proves resilient in
the light of the cost-of-living squeeze. Medium to long dated yields are driven
primarily by inflation concerns but the Bank of England is also embarking on a

Page 69

Agenda Item 7
process of Quantitative Tightening when Bank Rate hits 1%, whereby the Bank’s
£895bn stock of gilt and corporate bonds will be sold back into the market over
several years. The impact this policy will have on the market pricing of gilts, while
issuance is markedly increasing, is an unknown at the time of writing.

4.5 Borrowing Outturn
At 31st March 2022, the CFR, excluding finance leases, was £20.8m. External
borrowing was only £3m as our cash flow and reserve balances enabled us to
internally borrow the remaining £17.8m.
£2.5m of new long term PWLB borrowing was added in February 2022, to secure
the rate and provide some long term budget certainty, prior to potential further
increases in bank rate. This was also at a time when rates temporarily reduced
due to uncertainties around the conflicts in Russia and Ukraine.
The loans drawn during February 2022 were:
Principal

Type

Interest
Rate

Maturity

PWLB

£0.75m

Fixed interest
rate

2.19%

40 years

PWLB

£0.75m

Fixed interest
rate

2.13%

45 years

PWLB

£1m

Fixed interest
rate

2.08%

50 years

Lender

The 2021/22 budget for external borrowing interest was £109,000 but the actual
interest paid was a much lower £12,251.
The Council has not borrowed more than, or in advance of its needs, purely in
order to profit from the investment of the extra sums borrowed.
No debt rescheduling was done during the year as it was not a viable option.

4.6 Investment Outturn
Investment Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by DLUHC
investment guidance, which was implemented in the annual investment strategy
approved by the Council in February 2021. This policy sets out the approach for
choosing investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by

Page 70

Agenda Item 7
the three main credit rating agencies, supplemented by additional market data
(such as rating outlooks, credit default swaps, bank share prices etc.).
The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and
the Council had no liquidity difficulties.

Resources – the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital
resources and cash flow monies. The Council’s core cash resources comprised
as follows:

Balance Sheet Resources (£000)

31 March 2021

General Fund Balance
Earmarked reserves
Provisions
Usable capital receipts/grants
Total

31 March 2022

1,211
7,715
725
2,436
12,087

1,211
9,977
688
2,322
14,198

Investments held by the Council - the Council maintained an average balance
of circa £38m of internally managed funds. The internally managed funds earned
£17,859 interest at an average rate of return of 0.05%. The comparable
performance indicator is the average 7-day LIBID rate, which was -0.07%.
Please note the LIBID rate stopped from 31st December 2021. On-going our
performance will be compared to the 7 day backward looking SONIA (Sterling
Overnight Index Average) uncompounded rate which was 0.1355% for the year.
This compares with a budget assumption of £35,000 investment interest.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. As detailed in the report

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are not any equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report,
as the purpose of the report is to present the Council’s financial position only.
7. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
7.1. Part 3 Annexe 1, Para 1(c) - delegated power
7.2. Article 4.5.26 and Part 4 (Financial Procedure Rules) para
13.8 -referred power.

Page 71

Agenda Item 7
8. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
8.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
9. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
9.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers

Jon Triggs, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Page 72

Agenda Item 8

North Devon Council Strategy and Resources
Report Date: 4 July 2022
Topic: New woodland at Frankmarsh, Barnstaple
Report by: Head of Environmental Enhancement
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Update on the provision of a new woodland at Frankmarsh, Barnstaple
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. To note the contents of the report
2.2. To recommend that Council vary the Capital Programme by £63,631 as set
out in section 5.1 and that funds be released
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To update councillors on the progress of the new woodland
3.2. To ask councillors to vary the Capital Programme in order that funding can be
allocated and spent
4. REPORT
4.1. The Council purchased 18ha of farmland and existing mature woodland
adjacent to the existing Yeo Valley Community Woodland in June 2020
following a report by the Head of Resources and Corporate Property to
Strategy and Resources dated 2nd December 2019, Acquisition of Corporate
Property.
4.2. The Forestry Commission awarded funding to North Devon Council in April
2022 to plant approximately 24,000 trees on the land. The funding has come
through the “England Woodland Creation Offer” funding stream and is worth
£211,000.
4.3. The new woodland is primarily designed to absorb CO2 and calculations
indicate approximately 3500 tonnes will be sequestered over the next 100
years helping to offset some of the Council’s carbon emissions. The scheme
will be monitored through the Woodland Carbon Code. The new woodland
will also offer informal recreation and biodiversity improvements.
4.4. Infrastructure for the woodland will be installed from September 2022 and
planting will commence at the end of 2022. The council have two years from
the date of the agreement to plant the trees, although it is hoped to complete
all the planting over the winter of 2022/ 2023.
4.5. The funding will pay for capital costs ie the deer fencing around the site, the
supply and planting of the trees and a contribution towards a surfaced path
through the site. Additional contributions are paid for public access, being
close to a settlement, water quality improvements and nature recovery
benefits.

Page 73

Agenda Item 8
4.6. The scheme also offers maintenance payments over a 10 year period for the
establishment of the trees.
4.7. Capital items are claimed retrospectively each year.
4.8. It is hoped to encourage the community to participate in the planting with the
Parks team, operating through a contractor funded through the external
grant, contacting schools, colleges and community groups to take part over
the winter. Contractors and in House staff will complete any planting not
undertaken by volunteers.
4.9. Tree species have been selected that will adapt and grow in a changing
climate.
4.10 Trees planted before the 20th December 2022 can be included in the
Queen’s Green Canopy.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. The anticipated capital cost of the project is £164,631 (there is already
£101,000 within the existing Capital Programme and this report is increasing
the budget up to £164,631) and will be fully funded from the external grant..
There will also be 10 years of annual maintenance payments totalling
£46,560 which again will be fully funded from the external grant.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a
result of this report. If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment
(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and
Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk.
EIA form completed.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist
(EAC) form available on Insite. If there are no environmental implications
arising from your proposals please state that there are none. If after
completion of the assessment there are environmental implications please
provide a brief summary. If you require any further information please
contact the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer. Email completed
EACs to donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk
An Environmental Impact assessment screening decision was undertaken by the
Forestry Commission as part of the eligibility checks for the scheme and an EAC
form has been completed and approved.

Page 74

Agenda Item 8
8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda: N/A
8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or N/A
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development N/A

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Part 3 Annexe 1(d) (Delegated)
9.2. Article 4.5.19 (Referred)

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author
of the report).
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers: Mark Kentell, Head of Environmental Enhancement

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

North Devon Council
Report Date: 4 July 2022
Topic:

2022-23 Revenue Budget & Inflationary Pressures

Report by:

Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The Revenue Budget 2022-23 of £13.722m was approved by Full Council on
23 February 2022 alongside the future year budget projections for 2022-2028
within the Medium Term Financial Strategy.
1.2. With the UK’s inflation rate rising from 5.5% at the start of the year to 11.1%
in April 2022, and global costs rising, research carried out estimates that
nationally Councils’ costs from inflation have risen from £789m in February
when they set their budgets to £1.5bn as of June, leaving them with £729m of
additional unfunded costs. A number of authorities are particularly exposed
to these rising costs because of the nature of delivering services in large rural
areas.
1.3. Even though we are only a third of the way through the financial year, with
inflation running at such a high level it is important that members are aware
of the additional pressures on the budget for the current financial year and
also the impact this has on the base budget ongoing for future years.
1.4. This report sets out the current in-year pressures being faced together with
an updated high-level projection ongoing and measures being put in place to
mitigate the unprecedented financial burden on the Council.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. That Members note the report outlining the budgetary pressures being faced
by the Council for the 2022-23 Revenue Budget and the impact this has on
the future year ongoing Revenue Budget.
2.2. That a Cross Party Working Group be set up to hold a series of budget
workshops to identify options for mitigating the budgetary pressures being
faced and present back to a future meeting of Strategy and Resources in the
Autumn prior to the detailed budget setting process for 2023-24 commencing.

Page 77

Agenda Item 9
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. The 2022-23 additional financial pressures being faced are reported to
ensure the Council maintain budgetary control for the rest of the financial
year.
3.2. To ensure Members have assurance on the financial standing of the Council
and associated risks with the budgetary framework.
3.3. To ensure the Council identifies options for mitigating financial pressures
being highlighted for the ongoing 2023-24 budget and beyond and has a
savings and/or revenue generation plan in place to deliver the long-term
financial strategy of the Council.

4. REPORT
4.1. The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was last considered by
Strategy and Resources at its meeting on 7 February 2022. Council
approved the MTFS 2022 to 2028 at its meeting on 23 February 2022 and
the forecast cumulative budget gap / (surplus) was shown as follows;

Years
Budget gap / (surplus)

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
0
2.070
2.286
2.595
3.220

2027-28
£m
3.141

4.2. Record energy prices, inflation in external contracts, rising fuel prices and
increases in staff pay are expected to add significant pressure to the
Council’s budget which had already highlighted a £2m budget gap for 202324 due to the impending Government Fair Funding Review and reduced
government funding as a result.
4.3. The 2023-24 budget assumed a reduction of around £1.1m of income from
retained business rates following the above review and a reset of business
rates income. In addition, a forecast reduction from New Homes Bonus
government grant of around £0.950m has also been predicted. However,
these uncertainties have been prolonged due to the Fair Funding Review
continually being delayed by Government and only a one-year finance
settlement being given which does not help Councils plan for the medium
term.
Staffing Costs
4.4. The most recent pay claim for the 2021-22 year was settled in February 2022
and an agreed award of 1.75% effective from April 2021 was settled and paid
in March 2022. This demonstrates how long it can take to settle a pay claim
between the Unions and the Employers, 11 months in 2021-22 year.

Page 78

Agenda Item 9
4.5. The Revenue Budget 2022-23 has assumed a 2% pay rise and likewise a
further 2% rise factored into the Medium Term Financial projections above to
2028 year.
4.6. The pay claim 2022-23 has now been received from the Unions and they
have requested for a minimum of £2,000 on each pay scale point or RPI
inflation (11.1% in April 2022), whichever is the highest outcome.
4.7. With approximately 440 FTE staff, even the lowest costing of the above claim
would cost the Council an additional £900,000 in 2022-23 and this cost is
then an ongoing impact within the base budget for the following financial
years.
4.8. Financial modelling on the potential outcomes has been carried out based
upon a higher increase than the 2% budgeted rise and shows the following
potential cost implication on the 2022-23 base budget;

3%
4%
5%
6%
7%
8%
9%
10%
11%

Base Budget 2022-23 (inc 2%)

Salary
11,438,140

ERS NI
ERS Pension
Total
1,084,710
1,902,320 14,425,170

Base Budget (prior to 2%)

11,213,860

1,063,450

Sensitivity Analysis of award
Sensitivity Analysis of award
Sensitivity Analysis of award
Sensitivity Analysis of award
Sensitivity Analysis of award
Sensitivity Analysis of award
Sensitivity Analysis of award
Sensitivity Analysis of award
Sensitivity Analysis of award

1,865,020 14,142,330

14,566,600
14,708,023
14,849,447
14,990,870
15,132,293
15,273,716
15,415,140
15,556,563
15,697,986

Increase on
Budget 2022-23
141,430
282,853
424,277
565,700
707,123
848,546
989,970
1,131,393
1,272,816

4.9. The above sensitivity modelling shows the potential impact of a pay claim
being settled at a level higher than the budgeted 2% and right up to the
Unions claim level of the current level of inflation (RPI).
4.10.
In addition to the above are the financial implications of the National
Living Wage (currently £9.50 per hour) and potential increases to this rate
from April 2023 and April 2024, which would have a cost impact on the lower
scale point ranges to ensure those rates are being aligned and adhered too,
thus being in place prior to those effective dates.
4.11.
Further modelling has been carried out to determine the cost impact of
a National Living Wage increase to £10.50 per hour (potentially from April
2023) and £11.50 per hour (potentially from April 2024) and the number of
our current workforce this would impact upon;
o Increase to £10.50 per hour – impact 20 staff and cost of £20,750
o Increase to £11.50 per hour – impact 106 staff and cost of £256,790

Page 79

Agenda Item 9
4.12.
A claim being settled at the higher level of the above modelling would
of course be financially unsustainable for Councils, not only to be able to fund
in the current year but also the ongoing impact this has on the base budget
level. The additional impact from the potential rise in the National Living
Wage is the ‘knock-on’ effect this would have with the wider pay scales within
the Council and ensuring equity and evaluation of roles throughout the
workforce; therefore this projected cost could escalate into a much higher
impact upon Councils.
4.13.
National employers are considering the above pay claim and will be
looking to make an offer to the Unions by the end of July 2022; thus by the
time consultation has taken place with their members we are not going to
have a settlement agreed until at least October 2022 at the earliest and as
we saw in the 2021-22 year this can go on much longer.
4.14.
In terms of projected impact for 2022-23; the above sets out the
potential outcomes. I have been having discussions with Chief Financial
Officers throughout Devon and the consensus is one of assuming a pay
award in the region of between 3% and 4%.
4.15.
Therefore for 2022-23; we could be looking at an additional cost of
around £304,000 over and above what we have budgeted for and this cost
would be an ongoing impact into the future year budgets too.
Energy Costs
4.16.
The Council’s budgeted energy costs for 2022-23 are Electricity
(£196,000) and Gas (£14,000). Note: The Crematorium energy costs are
contained within the Joint Committee Budget which is held separately for
North Devon and Torridge Councils; and a recent report to this Committee
referred to the in-year price increase for Gas and how this cost is being
managed within the Crematorium finances.
4.17.
Over the last couple of financial years the Council has incurred
Electricity costs of around £170,000 per annum. We factored in a £26,000
increase (15%) into the 2022-23 budget; however based upon the prices we
are incurring through the Crown Commercial Services contract we are
looking at an additional cost of around £63,000 over and above what we
have budgeted for and this cost would be potentially be an ongoing impact
into the future year budgets too unless prices eventually started to reverse.
Fuel Costs
4.18.
The annual usage of fuel across our vehicle fleet is approximately
450,000 litres and the budget for 2022-23 was increased with an inflatory
increase and set at a total of £524,000.
4.19.
Financial modelling has been carried out based upon the fuel rates we
have been experiencing since the budget was approved and assuming a
further increase of either 5% or 10% sensitivity;

Page 80

Agenda Item 9

March 22 rate
May 22 rate
5% increase from May rate
10% increase from May rate

Rate
Volume
1.250 445,000
1.365 445,000
1.433 445,000
1.502 445,000

Cost
£556,463
£607,425
£637,796
£668,168

Var to
Budget
£32,463
£83,425
£113,796
£144,168

4.20.
The above sensitivity modelling shows the potential impact of further
increases to the fuel budget; if rates stay at the current May 2022 level then
we would be looking at an additional cost of around £83,500 and if rates
continue to rise then a potential additional cost of between £114,000 and
£144,000.
4.21.
With so much uncertainty around the fuel prices and longevity of
continued increases, we are assuming worst case scenario of the above
modelling and looking at an additional cost of around £144,000 over and
above what we have budgeted for and this cost would be potentially be an
ongoing impact into the future year budgets too, unless prices eventually
started to reverse.
Other inflationary increases
4.22.
Looking through the wider Revenue Budget there are of course other
areas where inflationary increases can impact upon the cost of service
provision, such as our third party contractors passing on higher costs they
are incurring then onto the cost they are charging the Council.
4.23.
We have base budgets for Repairs and Maintenance of £355,000 and
Supplies and Services of £5,720,000. An increase of the following would
have a financial impact of;
o 2% increase on above £6,075,000 budgets – additional cost of £121,000
o 5% increase on above £6,075,000 budgets – additional cost of £304,000
o 10% increase on above £6,075,000 budgets – additional cost of £608,000
4.24.
We generally manage the above budgets and prioritise spend within
the allocated amount and we would continue this throughout the year;
however it is prudent to assume some level of impact and we assume an
additional cost of around £200,000 over and above what we have
budgeted for and this cost would be potentially be an ongoing impact into the
future year budgets too, unless prices eventually started to reverse.
4.25.
Nationally, Councils are flagging up risks of additional costs arising
from service contracts and outsourced services such as Leisure, Grounds
Maintenance, Theatres or Waste and Recycling services. Contractors are
experiencing the same rising costs as Councils and these services are

Page 81

Agenda Item 9
extremely vulnerable to changes in energy prices and also carry the risk of
reduced subscriptions as the public make their own cutbacks due to cost of
living pressures. We just need to be mindful of these associated risks with
our third party contractors.
4.26.
The final area of risk which is becoming more prevalent is the risk on
our Capital Programme especially with key capital projects, one example of
this being the Future High Streets Fund project. This is an £11million project
(funded by £6.5m external government grant and £4.5m from NDC) and was
approved by Members in February 2021 based upon a costed model which
included a level of contingency. The construction element of this project is
not being tendered for until this year.
4.27.
In the last 12 months, we have seen significant increases in material
costs (together with delayed availability of materials and contractors) and
thus is a serious risk in terms of escalating cost and time on capital projects.
What the project team are currently doing here is working with the external
consultants on ‘value engineering’ the works with an aim of staying within the
boundaries of the original budgeted cost.
4.28.
However, one key factor of the government funding was agreed
specific outputs from the project in terms of areas such as delivery of units of
housing etc.. and depending on the outcomes from the value engineering
exercise; to ensure a deliverable project within budget may require decisions
and a movement around these future outputs and deliverables if this is going
to succeed within the original financial parameters.
4.29.
This is a risk we will need to manage carefully, not just with this project
but with all our major capital schemes and ensure that we have open and
transparent dialogue with our stakeholders and funding partners at the
earliest opportunity.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. The inflationary impacts highlighted within this report indicate a number of
potential financial outcomes in terms of impact upon the Council’s 2022-23
budget and beyond. The assumptions that officers have made (which as
shown in the modelling can vary from this significantly) can be summarised
as;
o Staffing costs (assumption 4%)
£304,000
o Energy costs
£63,000
o Fuel costs
£144,000
o Other costs
£200,000
o Potential additional costs
£711,000
5.2. Also on this agenda is the Quarter 4 Performance and Financial Management
2021-22 report, which reported the outturn position for last financial year.

Page 82

Agenda Item 9
This was a positive report following some budgetary underspends in the last
quarter together with some additional income, over and above the anticipated
level; resulting in a net budget surplus of £604,000.
5.3. These funds were placed back into earmarked reserves to fund additional
capital projects coming forwards through business cases; funds for the
review of the Local Plan and the balance being placed into the Budget
Management Reserve.
5.4. The balance in the Budget Management Reserve has accumulated since the
initial contribution at the end of the 2020/21 financial year of £375,000;
together with some in-year contributions from additional funds received and a
transfer from additional business rates income (over and above the budgeted
level) – this reserve has an opening balance at 1 April 2022 of £935,879 as
set out in the attached Appendix A – Reserves 2022-23.
5.5. In terms of mitigating the in-year budget pressures being highlighted above,
our recommended approach would be to meet these additional cost
pressures in 2022-23 through the Budget Management Reserve, together
with any in-year budget savings/underspends that materialise.
Budget 2023-24 and beyond
5.6. The most pressing concern for us is the ongoing impact of these budgetary
pressures; we can mitigate against the in-year pressure but as was shown
earlier we were already forecasting a £2m budget gap before the current
inflationary pressures were being experienced.
Years
Budget gap / (surplus)

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
0
2.070
2.286
2.595
3.220

2027-28
£m
3.141

5.7. There is a feeling amongst many that the planned Business Rate reset may
be delayed by one further year to 2024-25 which does impact upon the
original figures shown earlier as these figures assumed a much reduced
Business Rates income for next year 2023-24 of £3.7m; whereas the current
budget for this income is £4.7m plus in the current period we are seeing a
return through the Devon Pool of around £250,000.
5.8. If there was a delay of the reset by one year, then it would have the following
impact on the current Medium Term Financial gap for 2023-24 of the
following change;
Years
Budget gap / (surplus)

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
0
0.820
2.286
2.595
3.220

Page 83

2027-28
£m
3.141

Agenda Item 9
5.9. Considering then the ongoing impact from the above inflationary pressures is
important to fully understanding the overall financial position of the Council
and thus we need to model the potential of these 2022-23 costs ongoing,
assuming that none of them will have any price reversal;
Years
b/f Budget gap / (surplus)
Inflation forecast 2022-23
One off fund – reserve
Inflation forecast 2023-24
Budget gap / (surplus) c/f

2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 2026-27
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
0
0.820
2.286
2.595
3.220
0.711
0.711
0.711
0.711
0.711
(0.711)
0
0
0
0
0
0.450
0.450
0.450
0.450
0
1.981
3.447
3.756
4.381

2027-28
£m
3.141
0.711
0
0.450
4.302

5.10.
The assumption made above is that the current 2022-23 additional
inflationary pressures will continue into 2023-24 and beyond with minimal
inflation reversal; together with the additional impact of further 2023-24 pay
claim settlements (over and above already 2% factored into the original
forecast) and National Living Wage implications; together with some element
of further additional inflationary burden. An indicative amount of £450,000
has been included. The revised forecast then assumes a return to original
predicted inflation levels in 2024-25.
5.11.
There is of course much uncertainty as already highlighted
Government Financial settlements are only currently one-year and the level
of funding for 2023-24 will not be announced until December 2022.
5.12.
It is therefore important that Members acknowledge the importance of
firstly the level of potential budget gap the authority faces and secondly work
cross-party to identify options to bridge the forecast financial gaps through
potential revenue budget savings and/or generation of additional income
streams to the Council. The latter of course linked closely to the adopted
Commercialisation Strategy which Members approved in November 2020.
5.13.
Officers would like to work closely with Members over the Summer
period and therefore it is recommended that a Cross Party Working Group be
set up to hold a series of budget workshops to identify options for mitigating
the budgetary pressures being faced and then present these back in the
Autumn prior to the detailed budget setting process for 2023-24 taking place.

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. There are no equalities implications anticipated as a result of this report.

Page 84

Agenda Item 9
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. There are not any environmental implications anticipated as a result of this
report, as the purpose of this report is to present the Council’s budgetary
position. Individual projects within the wider Capital Programme will have
highlighted any specific environmental impacts associated with those
individual schemes when they came forwards for initial funding.

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. The Revenue budget and the Medium Term Financial Strategy all support the
wider delivery plans of the Council in achieving the corporate priorities.
8.2. Individual schemes within the Capital Programme support the corporate
priorities of improving customer focus; regeneration and the
commercialisation agenda.

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph 1(d).
9.2. Delegated power.

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.

11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author of
the report.

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers:
Jon Triggs, Director of Resources and Deputy Chief Executive

Page 85

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Appendix A - Reserves 2022/23
Appendix A

Earmarked Reserves
Collection Fund Reserve
Budget Management Reserve
Crem Equipment Replacement Reserve
Community Housing Fund-Hsg Enabling
Flexible Homelessness Support Grant
Transformation Reserve
Local Plans Fund
Crem Earmarked Reserve
SFS Vehicle Tender Reserve
Rough Sleeper Initiative - DCLG grant
Repairs Fund
Corporate Property Management Initiative
Digital Transformation Financial Systems
Corporate Property Income Volatility
W&R Covid Toilet Cleaning
Council Tax Support Scheme Reserve
Project Man Performance (Levelling Up)
Economic Development Reserve
Programme Delivery Reserve
Strategic Contingency Reserve
Tarka Tennis Surface replacement
Regeneration Projects
Development Control Fund
Vehicle Renewals Fund
District Council Election
Self Build & Custom Housebuild
Food Saftey
Economic Financial Hardship
Building Control Reserve
Rechargeable Works Reserve
Environmental Initiatives
Prevention CLG Grant Reserve
Office Technology Reserve
Ilfracombe Watersports Centre Reserve
Next Step Accom Programme
Climate & Environmental Grants
External Legal Services Reserve
Specialist Domestic Abuse Reserve
Community Consultation
Community Protection Vehicles Reserve
Members Technology Reserve
Neighbourhood Planning
Leisure Centre Replacement Reserve
Greensweep Replacement Fund
Car Parking Reserve
Planning Enquiries Fund
Brownfield Land Registers & Permission
Crem Budget Management Reserve
Brexit Exports EH
RS Rapid Rehoming Pathway
Ilfracombe Harbour Repairs
IER Funding
HR Payroll
Health and Safety Reserve
External Audit
Internal Audit Plan
Ilfracombe Harbour Security
Lynton Agency Reserve
Litter Bin Strategy
New Homes Bonus Reserve
Museum development fund
Parks Reserve
Noise Equipment reserve
Town & Parish Fund
Future High Street Fund FHSF
Pannier Market
Habitat Directive Reserve

Closing
Transfer to
Balance 31st
Reserves
March 2022
5,721,950
935,879
357,288
464,142
345,118
315,155
255,850
230,560
133,157
190,501
1,347,360
168,600
189,849
75,000
150,000
176,393
149,000
217,001
125,000
143,842
96,873
0
99,600
182,450
50,000
69,547
67,103
66,579
50,065
49,641
49,160
45,317
324,209
43,626
43,451
20,000
44,565
36,539
37,074
30,000
29,224
34,517
114,099
32,903
27,036
69,783
26,263
25,477
25,000
23,956
23,740
22,032
20,013
19,530
15,952
14,927
14,770
13,522
10,000
65,063
32,454
6,321
4,129
5,159
4,221
1,872
945

Transfer from
Reserves (to
Capital)

Transfer from
Reserves (to
Revenue)
-4,522,863

-35,447

-107,857
-28,800
-9,700

-1,106,587

-407,748

61,600
349,760

-30,374
75,000
-27,420
-7,505
-88,164
-25,240
13,000
100,000
-98,730
25,000
-1,830
-6,000

-1,250
115,000

-394,105

20,000
-6,000
-800
6,000
6,070
-83,570
-2,703
-43,110

-56,098
-23,651
2,000

Page 87

Closing
Balance 31st
March 2023
1,199,087
935,879
357,288
356,285
316,318
270,008
255,850
230,560
194,757
190,501
182,785
168,600
159,475
150,000
150,000
148,973
141,495
128,837
125,000
118,602
109,873
100,000
99,600
83,720
75,000
69,547
65,273
60,579
50,065
49,641
47,910
45,317
45,104
43,626
43,451
40,000
38,565
36,539
36,274
36,000
35,294
34,517
30,529
30,200
27,036
26,673
26,263
25,477
25,000
23,956
23,740
22,032
20,013
19,530
15,952
14,927
14,770
13,522
10,000
8,965
8,803
6,321
6,129
5,159
4,221
1,872
945

Agenda Item 9

Appendix A - Reserves 2022/23
Appendix A

Earmarked Reserves
Local Welfare Support reserve
Capital Funding Reserve
Office Accommodation Reserve
P C Planned Maintenance Fund
Second Homes Council Tax Reserve
Improvement Programme Reserve
ICT Cyber Treatment
Covid Outbreak Management Fund (COMF)
Collection Fund Reserve (Council Tax)
CCTV Reserve

Closing
Transfer to
Balance 31st
Reserves
March 2022
541
382,914
41
40,156
0
0
150,000
33,962
106,157
27,540
14,521,663

Transfer from
Reserves (to
Capital)

Transfer from
Reserves (to
Revenue)

-382,731
-40,155
0
-150,000
-33,962
-106,157
773,430

Page 88

-27,540
-2,144,096.08

-5,712,001

Closing
Balance 31st
March 2023
541
183
41
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
7,438,996

Agenda Item 10

North Devon Council
Report Date: 4th July
Topic: Energy Rebate Discretionary Scheme

Report by: Head of Customer Focus
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC)
published the guidance for the Energy Rebate scheme in February 2022.
1.2. As part of this scheme there is a discretionary element which NDC has the
autonomy to allocate to support those suffering hardship as a result of the
rising cost of living.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. To approve the recommendations for the dispersal of the discretionary fund
as set out in 4.4 – 4.8.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To ensure we distribute the discretionary element of the Energy Rebate Fund
to those who did not meet the criteria of main scheme but have a proven
need.
3.2. To ensure we have a targeted approach top up those households who have
already benefited from the main scheme but we have identified as most
vulnerable.
4. REPORT
4.1. On 23rd February 2022 DLUHC published the guidance and billing authority
allocations for the implementation of the Council Tax (Energy) Rebate and
the Discretionary Fund.
4.2. NDC was allocated £192,000 to distribute for the Discretionary element of the
fund which must be spent by end November 2022.
4.3. Guidance on the distribution of this fund states ‘ Councils can determine
locally how best to make use of this funding to support those suffering
financial hardship as a result of the rising cost of living. This could include
households living in property valued in bands E to H that are on income
related benefits or those where the energy bills payers are not liable for
council tax. Where councils consider it the best means of supporting those in
financial difficulty, they can use the discretionary fund to offer carefully
targeted ‘top-up’ payments to the most vulnerable households in bands A to
D (for example, those on means tested benefits), or to offer discretionary
support exceeding £150 per household.’

Page 89

Agenda Item 10
4.4. In accordance with 4.3, we will be awarding £150 to each household in bands
E-H who claim council tax support.
4.5. We will, through social media, website and other means encourage
householders in bands A-D who are not direct Council Tax payers but are
liable for utility bills, to apply for a payment of £150.
4.6. We will use a proportion of the fund to ‘top’ up’ payments to working age
households in bands A-D who claim council tax support as at 4th July 2022.
4.7. This will be administered via the Post Office payout scheme, incorporated
with an allocation from the separate Household Fund, meaning only one visit
to the post office will be required. By combining these funds households will
receive a payment of around £70.
4.8. These Post Office vouchers will be issued end July / start August which is
when many households incur additional costs within the school holidays.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. The discretionary allocation of £192,000 is funded by Government Grant
which the Council has already received.
5.2. New burdens funding will cover all additional administration costs for this
fund.
5.3. Existing internal resources will be used for the administration.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a
result of this report. If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment
(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and
Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk.
6.2. No equality implications have been identified.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist
(EAC) form available on Insite. If there are no environmental implications
arising from your proposals please state that there are none. If after
completion of the assessment there are environmental implications please
provide a brief summary. If you require any further information please
contact the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer. Email completed
EACs to donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk
7.2. There are no environmental implications arising from the proposals in this
report.

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:

Page 90

Agenda Item 10

8.1.2. Improving customer focus - this scheme will give our most financially
disadvantaged households a cash boost to assist with the ongoing
increase in household expenses.
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development

9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 1(d)
9.2. Referred or delegated power? Delegated

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author
of the report).
 Support for energy bills – the council tax rebate 2022-23: Billing
Authority Guidance

12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers:
Sarah Higgins Head of Customer Focus

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11

North Devon Council
Report Date: 4/7/22
Topic: Northern Devon Culture Strategy 2022-2027
Report by: Museum Manager
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. This paper introduces “Flourishing Culture” the draft Northern Devon Culture
Strategy prepared by Consultants Things Made Public with Arts Council
funding for North Devon and Torridge District Councils.
1.2. Flourishing Culture has been developed for the district councils of North
Devon and Torridge as a vision and action plan for the development of the
cultural sector over the next 5 years.
1.3. This is the final draft, and final adjustments are being made in consultation
with Torridge District Council. The first draft was presented to Northern
Devon Futures on 25th April 2022.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. The committee notes the Culture Strategy currently at final draft stage.
2.2. The committee delegates the power to approve the final Strategy to the Head
of Place, Property and Regeneration in consultation with the Leader and
Lead member for Economic Development and Strategic planning policy,
following the conclusion of discussions with Torridge District Council.
2.3. The Committee endorses the creation of a Northern Devon Cultural
Partnership to support the delivery of this Strategy.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. Adoption of a Culture Strategy is a precondition for application to certain Arts
Council funding streams.
3.2. The Culture strategy is now at final draft stage and nearing completion. In
order for its adoption to coincide with funding opportunities, it is requested
that this be delegated to officers following receipt of final amendments.
3.3. When delegating the adoption of the final draft this endorses the creation of a
Northern Devon Cultural Partnership to work in close partnership with Arts
Council England to ensure that there is a clear delivery plan for this Strategy.
3.4. North Devon’s status as an Arts Council Priority Place and Torridge as a
Levelling Up Culture Priority Place mean that now is the right time to be
seeking funding for culture.
3.5. We are currently working on an application to Arts Council’s Cultural
Development Fund, with a submission date for EOI of 29th July.
3.6. We are considering an additional application to Arts Council’s Place
Partnership Fund.

Page 93

Agenda Item 11
4. REPORT
4.1. The strategy has been developed in line with North Devon Council and
Torridge Council policies and in collaboration with stakeholders from across
the cultural sector as well as the environment, business, community and
education sectors and the general public. It sets out the value that culture
brings to Northern Devon, the aspiration for what it could be and a set of
priorities for raising the ambition, sustainability and impact of culture in all its
forms in Northern Devon.
4.2. VISION & THEMES. The vision created, based on consultation with over 900
people and consideration of our area’s cultural ecology and special qualities,
is as follows:
In the next 5 years, Northern Devon will be locally, nationally and
internationally recognised as a place where creativity thrives in symbiosis with
its communities and landscapes.
Northern Devon will be a place where all forms of culture are nurtured and
celebrated.
Our region's creativity, rooted in our identity, heritage and environment, will be
as breathtaking as our beaches, wild like our seas and as divergent our
landscapes..
The expressions of our culture will be reflective of all that live here, honouring
our past traditions, whilst creating a platform for our dreams of the future.
It will be a place where creativity thrives, where all voices are heard and
where communities use culture as a vehicle for change and action.

4.3. Achieving a vision of thriving creativity and culture across the region will
require building on the strengths and addressing the challenges of Northern
Devon’s cultural landscape. To achieve this the Culture Strategy for Northern
Devon focuses on 2 main themes:
Culture – Helping Places Thrive takes inspiration from the region’s
landscape to support a cultural offer that is as unique, diverse, celebrated and
generous as its natural surroundings. This theme explores culture that is
expressive of place, connects people to where they live, is protective of the
environment and is distributed across the whole region. It recognises the built
heritage of our towns and the need to support their role as the beating heart of
cultural activity.
Culture – Helping People Blossom builds on a long history of culture
passing between people in Northern Devon, from skills being shared through
the generations, to ideas travelling the world through trade. This theme

Page 94

Agenda Item 11
explores how everyone in Northern Devon has opportunities to connect with
one another, develop their creative potential, increase their mental wellbeing
and experience great culture.
4.4. The themes are further developed into a series of priorities and suggested
actions, supported by case studies from other parts of the UK and abroad.
These include a focus on outdoor arts and festivals, digital and community
activity, protecting the environment, talent development, national and
international connections and improving visibility.
4.5. Recognising the particular importance for culture of Northern Devon’s towns
as hubs of activity that radiate out and mutually support culture across the
region, the strategy sets out 3 Steps for enhancing culture in town centres.
Cultural Planning - Integrating culture into visions and plans for town centres
Public Realm - Maximising the potential for culture in the public realm of town
centres
Cultural Infrastructure - Leveraging temporary and long term physical
spaces for cultural use
4.6. The Strategy recommends that these steps are achieved by establishing a
Town Team for Culture in Barnstaple, Bideford and Ilfracombe. It identifies
Ilfracombe as the place with the greatest potential to benefit from cultural
investment through this process.
4.7. In Barnstaple a Culture Team has already been established as part of Future
High Streets. The Strategy supports an application to the Cultural
Development Fund to support the creation and delivery of a more detailed
Culture Plan for Barnstaple, and work on this is now in progress.
4.8. GOALS: The Strategy identifies measurable goals to be achieved over the
next 5 years:
 Increase the number of people attending more than 3 arts and
culture events per year
 Increase the number of people participating in more than 3 arts
and culture events per year
 Reduce the number of people taking part in no arts and culture
activity per year
 Increase the number of people actively participating in creative
activity
 Increase the number of people in rural locations accessing high
quality arts and culture
 Increase the number of people in deprived areas accessing high
quality arts and culture
 Increase the diversity of people accessing high quality arts and

Page 95

Agenda Item 11












culture
Increase the number of NPO organisations regularly delivering
work in Northern Devon
Increase the average level of per head funding from ACE and
NLHF
Increase the proportion of creative industry employment in
Northern Devon
Increase the number of artists, makers and creative businesses
accessing business support
Increase the total floorspace of creative workspaces
Increase the number of young people represented on cultural
boards and decision making bodies
Increase the number of young people taking arts and design
subjects at A-Level or further education
Increase the number of followers of Northern Devon cultural
organisations on social media
Lower the collective carbon footprint of board organisations of
the Northern Devon Cultural Partnership
Increase the number of national and international organisations
working in partnership with Northern Devon

4.9. DELIVERY: The Strategy identifies a number of potential funding streams for
achieving these goals, while recognising that delivery will depend on a crosssectoral approach, not local authorities alone.
4.10.
It recommends the creation of a Northern Devon Cultural Partnership
to work in close partnership with Arts Council England and sets out a
suggested process.
4.11.
We anticipate that the Partnership will work closely with Northern
Devon Futures and would likely include specific sub-groups working in the
areas of Culture & Environment and Culture & Education, and Culture &
Health.
4.12.
Many potential partners have already been engaged in the creation of
the Strategy but building a balanced and agile partnership may be a long
process.
4.13.
Some Cultural Partnerships (e.g. Exeter Culture, Torbay Culture) act
independently while being hosted by an existing organisation. Others find that
a separate legal identity is beneficial (e.g. Plymouth Culture)
4.14.
After adoption of the Strategy by both Councils there will be a public
launch event, inviting participation in the Cultural Partnership.
4.15.
The Cultural partnership will meet quarterly in the first instance, but will
be self-directed.

Page 96

Agenda Item 11

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. Support for the quarterly Cultural Partnership meetings will be provided by
the museum manager
5.2. Funding applications will be submitted to the Cultural Development Fund to
deliver the Strategy in Barnstaple

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a
result of this report. If so, please complete the Equality Impact Assessment
(EIA) Summary form available on Insite and email to the Corporate and
Community Services Team at equality@northdevon.gov.uk.
6.2. No negative impacts identified.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist
(EAC) form available on Insite. If there are no environmental implications
arising from your proposals please state that there are none. If after
completion of the assessment there are environmental implications please
provide a brief summary. If you require any further information please contact
the Sustainability and Climate Change Officer. Email completed EACs to
donna.sibley@torridge.gov.uk
No negative impacts identified. The strategy includes a target to “Lower the
collective carbon footprint of board organisations of the Northern Devon
Cultural Partnership”

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda: The strategy will guide the Barnstaple
Culture plan, and Cultural Development Fund application which will
support cultural uses of NDC assets in the Town Centre, including the
cultural workspaces at Boutport Street and the Pannier Market
8.1.2. Improving customer focus: The report recommends setting up a new
Cultural Partnership for closer working with charitable, commercial and
community groups for the benefit of our local area
Regeneration or economic development: The strategy sets out a focus on supporting
the cultural economy, with specific targets for increasing employment and floorspace
in this sector, as well as increasing external investment.

Page 97

Agenda Item 11
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph:1(f)
9.2. Referred or delegated power? Delegated

10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
10.1.1.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt
information under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
11.1.1.1. The following background papers were used in the preparation
of this report: Flourishing Culture, the Northern Devon Culture
Strategy (The background papers are available for inspection and
kept by the author of the report).
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers: Alison Mills, Museum Manager

Page 98

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

FLOURISHING
CULTURE
The Northern Devon Culture Strategy

Page 99

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

WHAT CULTURE MEANS IN NORTHERN DEVON
Culture means different things to different people. For some it is a welcoming and
enriching avenue to explore creative expression, for others it’s a word that conjures up
feelings of elitism, uncertainty and exclusion. There are many that claim to not care for it
at all, until you probe a little further and find they have a healthy interest in the live
music scene at their local pub.
And that's what makes it so hard to define. None of us really know what culture means
to our counterparts. It’s personal to each and every one of us. From garden shed
dwellers tinkering away with a pile of reclaimed wood, to critically acclaimed print artists
utilising their local church hall to make and create masterpieces, from those that find
meaning and expression through the land, sharing stories, food, skills and traditions,
through to those that feel invigorated by an early morning surf before heading to work.
What we know is that every person, no matter of age, background, ethnicity, religion or
financial situation has the right to experience, participate in and enjoy cultural activity, in
whichever way they choose to perceive it. It is not something that should feel scary or
inaccessible, it shouldn’t be laughed at or scorned; instead every last seedling of
creativity, no matter how mighty or small, should be cultivated, treasured and
celebrated.
When we talk about culture in this strategy, we are including the heritage that surrounds
us, in museums and our built environment, as well as our daily activities and traditions
and the creativity, interpretation and expression these inspire in all our lives.

Page 100

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
VISION
In the next 5 years, Northern Devon will be locally and nationally recognised as a place
where creativity thrives in unison with its landscape and communities.
Northern Devon will be a place where all forms of culture are nurtured and celebrated.
Our region's creativity, rooted in our identity, heritage and environment, will be as
breathtaking as our beaches, wild like our seas and as divergent our landscapes.
The expressions of our culture will be reflective of all that live here, honouring our past
traditions, whilst creating a platform for our dreams of the future.
It will be a place where creativity thrives, where all voices are heard and where
communities use culture as a vehicle for change and action.

Page 101

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
CONTEXT
Cultural People & Places
An audit carried out for this strategy suggests there are at least 43 venues where arts
and heritage events are regularly taking place, including galleries, museums, theatres
and live music venues. Given this does not include the large number of informal venues
that play a vital role in cultural consumption across the region such as village halls and
pubs this is likely to be an underestimate.
Ranging from large venues such as the Landmark Theatre in Ilfracombe and Queen’s
Theatre in Barnstaple, through local arts centres such the Plough Arts Centre in Great
Torrington to micro-museums or social clubs putting on occasional live music nights,
this infrastructure provides a vital web for cultural activity regionally.
Museums and Heritage
The heritage offer of Northern Devon is supported by a large number of local museums
including 11 accredited by Arts Council England. Many of these are sustained by local
volunteers and coordinated by the local authority, as well as a number of independent
and commercial museums that range from local history to special interest museums to
tourist attractions.
Heritage is integral to Northern Devon’s region’s tourism industry with visitors drawn to
major heritage destinations like Clovelly as well as the area’s historic towns boasting
over 4,500 listed buildings and 300 scheduled monuments.
Artists and Freelance Creatives
Northern Devon has an abundance of artists, makers and creative freelancers. The
Artmakers network has identified at least 400 artists and makers operating in the region,
ranging from internationally recognised to early career as well as creative freelancers
across other artforms and the creative industries.
The variety and richness of makers and creators alone blurs the lines between art, craft
and manufacturing, from nationally recognised artists such as Merlyn Chesterman to
contemporary ceramicist Taz Pollard through to instrument makers and surfboard
designers.
Creative Industries
Northern Devon boasts a number of innovative creative industry companies in the fields
of immersive media, advertising and design. Film is also an emerging sector of potential

Page 102

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
importance to the region, with Northern Devon being used as a filming location for
productions such as A Very English Scandal, Netflix’s production of Rebecca and
Aquaman 2.
There are an estimated 345 creative and cultural industries businesses operating in the
region employing around 1,250 people or 1.81% of total employment in Northern
Devon. This is notably under the sector size for Devon (2.54%) and well below the
national proportion of 4.57%.
Culture in the Community
Alongside large successful commercial festivals like OceanFest and respected arts
festivals like Barnstaple’s Theatrefest and the Appledore Book Festival, there is an
undercurrent of distinctive traditional local celebrations like the Hunting of the Earl of
Rone in Combe Martin, the Pilton Green Man Festival, Clovelly Herring Festival and the
Turning of the Devil’s Stone in Shebbear, usually volunteer run and continuations of
traditions that provide key anchors to the cultural life of places year on year.
Such festivals demonstrate a wider trend of informal and voluntary cultural activity whilst
organisations like Sunrise Diversity show how culture and creativity are providing
pathways to welcoming new arrivals to the area and connecting local identities with
global cultures.
Culture and Landscape
The relationships between environment, culture and art are deep and intertwined in
Northern Devon. It is perhaps unsurprising given the exceptional characteristics of the
surrounding natural landscape that is recognised as a UNESCO designated Biosphere.
Many of Northern Devon’s conservationist, environmental and nature organisations also
directly overlap with cultural activity. The Biosphere Foundation and UNESCO
designation were defined by a concept of landscape that embraces people, culture and
ways of life. Whilst organisations like Quince Honey Farm, Courage Copse Creatives
and Rosewater Hall regularly host events that integrate cultural activity into
environmental education and awareness.
Deprivation & Health
In Northern Devon, people in the most deprived communities can expect to die 15 years
earlier than those living in the most affluent ones. Factors that influence this are wide
ranging and complex, including quality of housing, income, education, access to healthy
food, social isolation and access to quality local services. One Northern Devon has

Page 103

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
been formed in recognition that many of these challenges are inherently place-based
rather than clinical. Arts and culture play an important role in tackling some of these
issues, including isolation, self-confidence and mental health.
Youth, Education & Skills
Like many rural and coastal areas, Northern Devon faces challenges in the retention of
young people. Under 24 year olds make up 24% of the population compared with 31%
nationally and there is a significant drop-off in numbers at the 18+ stage suggesting
many young people move away from Northern Devon either for employment, study or
work.
A number of factors, ranging from lack of education opportunities including no
university, to low wage prospects (average weekly earnings of £518 are the lowest in
Devon) and high cost of living (median house prices in North Devon have risen 46% in
10 years). However, our consultation with young people found that cultural perspectives
may also be playing a significant role.

Page 104

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
THE ECONOMIC VALUE OF CULTURE IN NORTHERN DEVON

HEADLINES:
● Creative Industries contribute £82 million GVA to the Northern Devon economy,
creating 1250 jobs
● Heritage is worth an estimated £96.6 million to the Northern Devon tourism
sector
● 45 Arts Organisations employing 125 people
● £86.5 million personal wellbeing value derived from people regularly attending
cultural events in Northern Devon
● 56,566 people in Northern Devon are estimated to participate in some form of
creative arts activity at least 3 times a year
● 80% of visitors to Northern Devon do so to experience its natural landscape
● 96,415 estimated visits per year to accredited museums supported by 550
volunteers
● Surfing has a value of £52.1 million to Northern Devon per year

Page 105

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
MEASURING OUR ACTIONS
Northern Devon’s cultural sector already brings enormous value to the region, from
direct economic impact, to social and wellbeing benefits, to the way it helps uplift town
centres and attract tourism.
Communicating not only the value culture brings, but also the potential benefit it can
offer if enhanced is crucial, both for making the case for additional investment in culture,
and for monitoring and evaluating the progress of the sector over time.
Below are measurable goals for the future and the value that achieving them will bring
to Northern Devon.
Goal

Current Metric

Ambition

Increase the number of
people attending more than 3
arts and culture events or
venues per year

25.9% of people
in Northern
Devon

£13.3m in
30% of people in individual
Northern Devon wellbeing
value per year

Increase the number of
people participating in more
than 3 arts and culture events
per year

33.9% of people
in Northern
Devon

£10m in
38% of people in individual
Northern Devon wellbeing
value per year

38% of people in
Northern Devon

£5m in
33% of people in individual
Northern Devon wellbeing
value per year

Baseline data to
be found:
Targeted surveys
of rural areas will
benchmark this

10% increase

Reduce the number of people
attending no arts and culture
activity per year

Output

Increase the number of
people doing a creative
activity
Increase the number of
people in rural locations
accessing high quality arts
and culture
Increase the number of
people in deprived areas
accessing high quality arts
and culture
Increase the diversity of

Page 106

Increased
wellbeing
value

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

Goal

Current Metric

Ambition

Output

£8 per head

£1.76m
additional
earned
income
catalysed by
public
investment

people (by class, ethnicity,
accessing high quality arts
and culture
Increase the average projects
level of per head funding from
ACE Projects Grants and
£6.12 - 5 year
NLHF
annual average
2015-2020

Increase the proportion of
creative industry employment
in Northern Devon

1.81% of total
Northern Devon
employment

2.54% of total
Northern Devon
employment

£32.75m GVA
uplift

Increase the percentage of
artists and makers accessing
business support

25.7%

45%

£450,000 GVA
improvement

Increase the total floorspace
of creative workspaces

Increase the number of young
people represented on
cultural boards and decision
making bodies
Increase the percentage of
young people taking art,
design and performing arts
subjects at A-Level or further
education
Increase the number of
followers of Northern Devon
cultural organisations on
social media

Survey required
Benchmark
of current creative
ambition based
workspace
on survey
infrastructure

3.3%
improvement
in surrounding
property
values over 5
year period

Survey of
participating
cultural
organisations
needed

5

Leadership
skills and
diversity of
cultural offer

15%

Larger
creative
workforce to
support the
creative
economy

20% increase

£25 per 1,000
followers per
post in
marketing
value

Survey of
secondary
schools and
colleges

Survey of ND
Cultural
Partnership
organisations

Page 107

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

Goal

Current Metric

Ambition

Output

Lower collective carbon
footprint of board members of
the Northern Devon Cultural
Partnership

Gather from
Northern Devon
cultural
partnership using
Julie’s Bicycle
Creative Green
Tools

20% reduction

£75 per tonne
in improved air
quality

Increase the number of
national and international
cultural partners delivering
work in Northern Devon

Gather baseline
levels from
participating
Northern Devon
culture
partnership
members

20% increase

Raised
national profile

Page 108

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
PARTNERSHIP DEVELOPMENT
In order to successfully deliver the Northern Devon Cultural Strategy it is vital that
organisations and individuals come together with a shared vision for the region,
committing to dedicating time, resources and knowledge to broadening and deepening
the cultural provision of the area.
North Devon and Torridge local authorities, as commissioners of the Northern Devon
Culture Strategy, have a key role to play, leading on the formation of a Northern Devon
cultural partnership that creates a space for balanced and broad representation of the
cultural sector and beyond, enabling multiple perspectives to be heard and valued.

● Identify a balanced and diverse group of organisations to initiate the formation of
a Northern Devon cultural partnership.
● Define the core vision, principles, values and behaviours that will sit at the heart
of the way in which the Northern Devon cultural partnership operates.
● Facilitate regular meetings of the Northern Devon cultural partnership board,
which focus on supporting knowledge sharing, coordination of policy and the
prioritisation of shared initiates across the network based on the Northern Devon
Cultural Strategy.
● Initiate a Northern Devon cultural partnership action plan, based on the
recommended actions from the Northern Devon Cultural Strategy with assigned
responsibility, timelines and resources.
● Establish working groups and forums, as needed for delivery, oversight and
expert guidance.
● Formalise the partnership, once a balanced and active partnership board has
been established. Work together to identify the most appropriate structure and
formalise the partnership as an autonomous body with independent trustees, the
capacity to fundraise and earn income and support a core staff which can deliver
the executive responsibilities for the partnership.
● Resource seed funding for the first three years of the establishment of the
Northern Devon cultural partnership, ensuring that the partnership board has the
time to build the capacity for self-financing.
● Evolve - As the cultural scene of North Devon and Torridge develops so should
the Northern Devon cultural partnership. Creating an organisational culture of

Page 109

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
inquisitiveness, innovation and self-reflection is critical to ensuring that the
partnership doesn’t reinforce traditional power structures and narratives, but
instead promotes open conversation, forward facing action and transparent
decision making.

FLOURISHING CULTURE: KEY THEMES & ACTIONS
EXPRESSIONS OF PLACE
Create the conditions for local people to make and experience culture that expresses
their connection to the local environment in the places they live.
CULTIVATING CONNECTIONS
Ensure Northern Devon culture is embedded in regional, national and international
networks that expand the reach of its borders, whilst bringing cutting edge culture and
knowledge into the region.
PROTECTING OUR LANDSCAPES
Recognise the interdependent relationship between people, culture and the
environment through cultural activity that acts on the climate crisis.
OUR CULTURAL HUBS
Develop cultural investment plans for our major towns, reclaiming the public realm and
uses vacant spaces to fuel culture.
NAVIGATING THE CULTURAL LANDSCAPE
Use culture to break down the distance between people, both physical and social, by
spreading cultural opportunities across Northern Devon.
A CULTURE OF CARE
Put culture at the heart of community wellbeing and maximise its potential to improve
our people’s mental health.
NURTURING THE FUTURE
Champion the youth voice in Northern Devon whilst actively developing pathways to
creative opportunities and sustainable creative careers.

Page 110

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
MAKING CULTURE VISIBLE
Collectively celebrate and promote Northern Devon culture so that it is a source of pride
to local people and attractive for people who visit.

Page 111

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
EXPRESSIONS OF PLACE
Create the conditions for local people to make and experience culture that
expresses their connection to the local environment in the places they live.
The Northern Devon landscape can only be described as an all-encompassing treat for
the senses. From the rolling, woodland encased hills and cultivated pastures through to
the picturesque sea fronts and imposing sand dunes, the variety of surroundings,
habitats and communities is rich and invigorating. The significance of this landscape,
both natural and human is recognised through its UNESCO Biosphere designation
Moulded by centuries of land use and natural processes, the culture of Northern Devon
has both shaped and been shaped by the landscape. From the village fairs steeped in
tradition and local folklore, through to the ever-growing surfer community that can be
found catching a wave along the coast, the connection between creative expression and
the landscape is integral to the identity of Northern Devon culture.
Made By and With Communities
Support a cultural ecosystem that local people have the power to shape and direct.
Enabling everyone in Northern Devon to decide what culture is, who makes it, where it
happens and who experiences it.
ACTIONS:
Work alongside Arts Council England to develop a shared understanding of cultural
democracy in Northern Devon, identifying opportunities to test community decision
making practices at both regional and organisational levels.
Refine community decision making processes, relinquishing more power and agency to
the community over time by actively promoting and incentivising the integration of
cultural democracy into the everyday practices of cultural organisations across North
Devon and Torridge.
The Outdoor Arts Capital of the U.K.
Place Northern Devon at the cutting edge of outdoor arts, embedding culture into the
landscape and bringing creativity to people’s doorsteps.

Page 112

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
ACTIONS:
Develop a shared vision which positions Northern Devon as the Outdoor Arts capital of
the UK by building local capacity, mapping existing assets, identifying opportunities for
growth and encouraging productive partnerships with national touring organisations.
Utilise existing assets such as public community events, public realm spaces in urban
areas and well-known rural attractions to develop and grow the opportunities for
platforming and commissioning Outdoor Arts.
Launch a biennial festival that celebrates the diversity of Northern Devon landscapes
and cultural activity, creating opportunities for bespoke large scale commissions.

Page 113

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
CULTIVATING CONNECTIONS
Ensure Northern Devon culture is embedded in regional, national and
international networks that expand the reach of its borders, whilst bringing
cutting edge culture and knowledge into the region.
As well as being a key driver of strategic growth within the Culture sector, partnership
working plays a vital role in developing a diverse and distinctive cultural offer.
From ‘Hefted’, which was performed in North Devon Theatres and produced through the
collaboration between Beaford Arts and Multistory, to Red Herring and The Burton’s
collaboration on ‘Seeds of Hope’, there are already fantastic examples of collaborative
practice between organisations in Northern Devon.
Ensuring that these connections reach beyond Northern Devon is vital. Communities of
interest that share challenges and opportunities in different geographical locations are
becoming a key factor in the development of international cultural policy. Plugging in to
activity outside of the region and cultivating connections beyond the borders, ensures
that the best of UK culture also feels welcomed into Northern Devon.
National Cultural Partnerships
Strengthen the relationships and partnerships between Northern Devon cultural
organisations and the rest of the UK.
ACTIONS:
Utilise the North Devon ACE Priority Place status to leverage relationships with national
organisations to bring cultural activity into the region and to increase the opportunities
for creative practitioners in Northern Devon.
The Cultural Biosphere Network
Utilise the ‘UNESCO Biosphere Reserve’ status to seek out collaborations and cultural
co-commissions with the World Network of Biosphere Reserves that celebrate the
uniqueness of the landscapes whilst sharing best practice and knowledge.
ACTIONS:
Bring together cultural and environmental partner organisations with the North Devon
Biosphere Reserve to explore the opportunities for utilising the World Network of
Biosphere Reserves to initiate collaborative, cross sector projects.

Page 114

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
Broaden and deepen the conversation around the collaborative potential of UNESCO
Biosphere Reserves and the culture sector by hosting a dedicated conference in
Northern Devon to discuss, debate and share best practice across sectors and across
borders.

Page 115

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
PROTECTING OUR LANDSCAPES
Recognise the interdependent relationship between people, culture and the
environment through cultural activity that acts on the climate crisis.
Climate change is the defining crisis of our time and it is happening even more quickly
than we feared. No corner of the globe is immune from the consequences of climate
change, however the unique ecosystem of Northern Devon makes it particularly
susceptible to threat.
The pressures facing the natural environment are already impacting Northern Devon
and the climate crisis is being felt at a hyper local level, placing communities and
traditional ways of life under threat.
Culture is an avenue through which these complex issues can be explored; it’s a tool for
championing local conversations and climate education, yet can also be utilised to build
connections to places across the world facing similar pressures, in turn inspiring action
both locally and globally.
Take Action on Climate Change
We have been told unequivocally; the science is clear, we are facing an unprecedented
global emergency. Make a stand as the Northern Devon cultural sector and take action
on climate change.
ACTIONS:
Forefront the climate crisis conversation through the formation of a dedicated Culture &
Environment forum within the Northern Devon cultural partnership that seeks to identify
priority areas and activities that link the cultural and environmental agendas of the
region.
Collectively develop a joint statement and action plan that commits to environmentally
responsible practices, measurement, accountability and advocacy within the Northern
Devon cultural sector.
Review and renew the environmental commitments made by the Northern Devon
cultural partnership on a two year basis.

Page 116

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
Disrupt the Climate Conversation Using Culture
Utilising the natural assets of Northern Devon and the UNESCO Biosphere Reserve
status, develop and commit to cultural commissioning that supports, disrupts and
progresses the plight of the environmental sector in the region.
ACTIONS:
Form close partnerships with the environmental sector and identify key environmental
issues that culture can be utilised to support, disrupt and progress.
Working cross-sector, co-commission cultural programmes that address environmental
issues in a brave and ambitious way, with an emphasis on broadening and deepening
the conversation, placing education and volunteering at the forefront.
Aim to place North Devon and Torridge as national and international leaders in the field
of environmentalism and culture, drawing on the region's outstanding natural assets and
diverse cultural practices.

Page 117

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
OUR CULTURAL HUBS
The towns of Northern Devon have particularly vital roles to play in the creation of a
thriving cultural ecosystem across the region.
Town Cultural Investment Plans
There has rarely been a more opportune time for culture to have a seat at the top table
of town centre regeneration. Culture is the main focus of Mission 9 within the Levelling
Up White Paper, “By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town
centre and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every area of
the UK, with the gap between top performing and other areas closing.” Of the 105
successful Round One Levelling Up Fund projects across the UK, 54 included an
element of cultural spend and 24.79% of total spend on the fund was allocated towards
culture.
Barnstaple, Bideford and Ilfracombe have each entered or formulated bids for high
street or town centre regeneration funds that included proposals for cultural activity.
Whilst these proposals had mixed success, they provided valuable foundations for
cross-sector conversations about the integration of culture within regeneration and
economic development objectives for each place.
It is important that towns are not simply reactive in their approach to the cultural
development of their towns. Strategic funds should be seen as opportunities to unlock
key projects within a wider strategy rather than discrete projects that stand alone.
The cultural sector needs to bring together town partners from town centre
management, property, business and community to formulate an integrated set of
aspirational projects. These can allow towns to match projects to the most suitable
funding opportunities and collectively push for change at local and regional government
level, rather than trying to devise projects to meet the requirements of funds as they
come available.
Culture and the Public Realm
From well-worn footpaths travelled by knowing feet through to expansive gardens
visited on balmy, summer days, or parks to kick a football around, the public realm
provides a plethora of backdrops for a range of creative interventions. It is the familiarity
and accessibility of these spaces that makes them integral to a diverse and inclusive
cultural offer.

Page 118

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
Bideford, Barnstaple and Ilfracombe all boast a range of public spaces that should be
looked upon as extensions to the existing (and future) cultural offer, providing further
platforms from which the community can exhibit their creativity.
Using spaces in this way not only assists in the visible uplift of a place and the
showcasing of local talent, but also breaks down barriers to culture for those who may
not feel confident in entering a traditional cultural venue. It provides a gentle nudge into
the unknown, bereft of expectation, yet full of opportunity.
Whilst both the Torridge Council website and the North Devon Council website provide
comprehensive information regarding council-owned land that is available for events,
there is opportunity to expand and develop this to attract and support further cultural
activity within the public realm.

Utilising Vacant Spaces to Fuel Culture
For the last century our town centres and high streets have been defined by retail.
Shops have shaped what our town centres look like, how we think of them and how they
generate value.
However, with the rapid growth of the internet age, along with broader economic
pressures this picture is rapidly changing. Online shopping now accounts for 36% of all
retail sales and its market share is accelerating as generations become more
accustomed to shopping online for a greater variety of things. As a consequence of this
and deeper structural issues, retail vacancies were up to 14.1% at the start of 2021.
Navigating how to use the spaces left over by retail, as well as other town centre assets
is one of the main challenges facing towns across the country. For many landlords,
accustomed to passively managing their properties, they are still inclined to wait, in the
hope that new occupiers will eventually emerge or residual land values will allow them
to sell off or redevelop properties as time wears on.
However, the case is becoming clear that towns have to start more actively managing
underused properties in order to protect the overall financial resilience of their places.
The high street is moving from a retail economy, based on products, brands and sales,
to an attention economy, based on footfall, critical mass, dwell time and experiences.
In this landscape, culture is a critical tool, something that can attract people into town
centres, capture their attention, keep them engaged and generate activity throughout
the day that makes town centres viable for other businesses.

Page 119

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

Creative Meanwhile is a must for any town centre.

Page 120

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
NAVIGATING THE CULTURAL LANDSCAPE
Use culture to break down the distance between people, both physical and social,
by spreading cultural opportunities across Northern Devon.
Northern Devon boasts a diverse and rich landscape, yet the navigation of its terrain
can be challenging, time consuming and costly. Participation in cultural activity is
undoubtedly impacted by location and accessibility, with many reliant on intermittent
public transport or the ability to drive as a means to getting around.
Major towns such as Bideford, Barnstaple and Ilfracombe and smaller towns such as
Torrington, Holsworthy and South Molton provide a range of cultural activity and
infrastructure that are vital hubs for surrounding rural communities.
However, whilst these cultural spaces can have a significant impact on surroundings,
they are not accessible to all, leaving a space for culture to spread across the region via
networks and nodes in villages, towns and communities.
A Cultural Geography
Create a large and established network of community assets across Northern Devon,
bringing high quality and affordable cultural activity within easy travelling distance of
every person in the region.
ACTIONS:
Map community assets in rural areas that have the potential to host cultural activity,
ensuring an even distribution throughout Northern Devon wherever possible.
Build a network of community assets and cultural partners that together can provide a
diverse and accessible cultural offer across rural communities in Northern Devon, test
bedding, developing and growing rural touring projects.
Formalise the rural touring network as an independent organisation capable of self
sustaining.

Digital Opportunities
Develop and establish mechanisms that enable the transmission of cultural activity
across the region via digital technology.

Page 121

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
ACTIONS:
Identify what type of cultural activity already happening in Northern Devon would be
suitable for live streaming; the organisations and individuals who produce it; and the
capacity building required to expand live streaming opportunities throughout the sector.
Build a network of live stream venues and live stream a diverse and experimental
programme of cultural events that reflect the broad offer of culture in Northern Devon.
Collectively develop a cultural programme created specifically for digital distribution,
attracting regional, national and international live stream producers to share work within
Northern Devon and beyond.

Page 122

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

A CULTURE OF CARE
To be added

Page 123

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

MAKING CULTURE VISIBLE
Collectively celebrate and promote Northern Devon culture so that it is a source
of pride to local people and attractive for people who visit.
Whilst 160,000 people call Northern Devon home, over 6 million people visit the region every
year, creating a significant audience pool for cultural activity.
At present, its stunning landscapes, surfer lifestyle and breathtaking coastline sit at the forefront
of the regional offer, however it is clear that Northern Devon has a strong and distinctive cultural
brand as well, boosted by an independent spirit, a strong connection to place and areas steeped
in heritage and history.
To truly unlock the full potential of Northern Devon as a place to live, work, play and visit, it is
imperative that the stories that sit behind the region’s distinctive cultural DNA are shared both
locally and with the wider world.
It is time to celebrate the richness of the cultural offer, to shout about the spirit and tradition that
makes Northern Devon so special and to shine a spotlight on the plethora of makers, creators
and doers that the region boasts.

Northern Devon Cultural Identity
Develop a distinctive identity and marketing framework that supports Northern Devon in
showcasing and celebrating local creative expression; inspiring future generations of creators,
the development of local audiences and recognition from across the globe.
ACTIONS:
Create a cultural brand that is owned by Northern Devon; identify who you are and the story you
want to tell.
Develop a website where culture from across Northern Devon can be celebrated to its fullest,
whilst collaborating with regional partners and networks to cross promote cultural activity.
Develop a clear marketing strategy that communicates to global audiences and supports the
long-term cultural goals of the region.

Page 124

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

NURTURING THE FUTURE
Champion the youth voice in Northern Devon whilst actively developing pathways to
creative opportunities and sustainable creative careers
Northern Devon is recognised as a fantastic place to live, with people from across the country
choosing to move there in search of a better quality of life. However, the cost of living and the
rising price of property, combined with low wages and precarious employment, make it a difficult
place to build a future, particularly for young people.
With limited higher education, there is a regular outflow of young people from the area. This has
not only contributed to a gradually ageing demographic, but has also impacted the cultural DNA
of the region, where historically social customs and traditions have been passed through
communities and generations
A lack of agency to secure a future affects all people; young and old and it is imperative that
residents of Northern Devon feel that it is a place where they can not only build a meaningful
career but also actively participate in the unique life and culture that the region has to offer.
Understanding that the sharing of skills and knowledge is not a one way street is paramount to
this and key to development of a thriving cultural offer.

Amplifying Youth Voice
Commit to increasing the representation of young people in cultural decision making. Plug in the
sound equipment, run the sound check and ready the stage so that young people can make a
stronger, louder and braver sound than ever before.
ACTIONS:
Proactively make space for the youth voice in the cultural sector, ensuring that it is not just
heard, but is embedded in decision making on a practical and strategic level throughout the
region.
In partnership with young people, develop a network for young creatives in Northern Devon that
has the capacity to advocate for shared needs, facilitate creative career development support
and initiate creative projects.
Commit to ensuring that young people are proactively encouraged into roles of cultural delivery
and power, such as cultural commissioners and project management.

Page 125

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A
Develop the Talent Pipeline
Enhance the quality of creative and cultural education by providing support for schools and
opportunities for young people to gain direct experience with creative practitioners.
ACTIONS:
Bring together young people, education professionals and cultural sector partners to develop a
Northern Devon cultural curriculum that supports young people to explore paths into creativity
that aren’t currently accessible within the school environment.
Explore formal mechanisms to facilitate work experience and training, focusing on opportunities
targeting young people between 15 - 24 years old.
Explore less formal mentoring systems for individual makers and creatives in the region, pairing
people who have skills to share with others who desire to learn and develop.

Supporting Creative Careers
Make it easier for people to pursue creative careers by embedding good practice; including fair
pay initiatives, local contracting incentives, maker visibility and business support.
ACTIONS:
Support local talent by promoting fair pay, signposting to business support schemes and
prioritising local workers for local work.
Bring together venues and producers to create a ‘Made in Northern Devon’ brand to promote
locally crafted products, circulating them for sale across the region.
Prioritise shared creative workspace and co-working facilities for a diverse range of creative
industries focusing on new developments and under-utilised heritage assets in urban areas.

Page 126

Agenda Item 11
Appendix A

CONCLUSION
Flourishing Culture sows the seeds for how a connected cultural sector, working in partnership
across public, private and third sectors, can achieve a thriving, sustainable and impactful
cultural offer in Northern Devon.
Achieving this vision is the work of more than any single organisation. If you haven’t been
involved as of yet and would like to be part of ensuring this strategy becomes a reality then
please email: INSERT EMAIL ADDRESS

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12

Rebecca Pow MP
Parliamentary Under Secretary of State
Seacole Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF

Cllr David Worden
Leader of the Council
North Devon Council
david.worden@northdevon.gov.uk

T 03459 335577
defra.helpline@defra.gov.uk
www.gov.uk/defra

Our ref: PO2022/09297/SC
31 May 2022

Dear David,
Thank you for your letter of 28 April to the Secretary of State about ocean recovery. I am
replying as the Minister responsible for this policy area.
To protect our ocean, the UK Government must be ambitious in the actions taken to tackle
climate change, starting with working through the Paris Agreement to achieve net zero by
2050 and keep 1.5 degrees within reach. A healthy ocean can be a key ally in our fight
against climate change. Protecting and restoring critical marine habitats can help protect
coastal communities from rising seas and more frequent storms and can even help absorb
carbon dioxide.
The UK Government is committed to ensuring that climate change adaptation, resilience,
and mitigation are fully considered in our marine and fisheries policies.
The Government already has agreed ambitious targets for ocean recovery with the
Devolved Administrations (DAs), through our statutory UK Marine Strategy (UKMS). The
UKMS sets out a vision for UK waters to achieve clean, safe, healthy, biologically diverse,
and productive seas, which are used sustainably. It also provides a legal framework,
agreed with the DA, for assessing and monitoring the status of our seas and to put in place
the measures needed to achieve Good Environmental Status (GES).
In October 2019, the Government published an updated UKMS Part One which provided
an assessment of UK marine waters, objectives for GES, and targets and indicators to
measure progress towards GES. Meanwhile, the updated UKMS Part Two, published in
March 2021, sets out the monitoring programmes we will use to assess those targets and
indicators in the period up to 2024. We are currently in the process of developing an
updated UKMS Part Three, which will set out an updated programmes of measures for
achieving or maintaining GES and aim to publish that later this year.
Since the final set of marine plans were published in June 2021, The Government has
established a programme of work on marine spatial prioritisation, which will consider a
future vision for our seas. To ensure this vision is holistic we will consider the needs of all
sea users and draw on a wide range of evidence including social, economic, and
environmental. For example, we have a project underway in the East Marine plan area to
explore the potential for using a marine natural capital and ecosystem approach to marine
planning. We hope that this and other outputs from the spatial prioritisation programme will
inform the second generation of marine plans and a potential refresh of the marine policy
statement.

Page 129

Agenda Item 12
Defra has provided £3 million annually to fund the additional duties given to the Inshore
Fisheries and Conservation Authorities (IFCAs) when they were established in 2011. This
funding has been protected since 2011 despite budgetary pressures within Defra. As
outlined in the Marine and Coastal Access Act 2009, IFCAs have a responsibility to
balance the social and economic benefits of exploiting sea fisheries resources of their
districts with the need to protect the marine environment from, or promote its recovery
from, the effects of exploitation. This includes the management of Marine Protected Areas
(MPAs) within IFCA districts.
The IFCAs use a range of management measures ranging from voluntary measures to
making byelaws for confirmation by the Secretary of State, drawing on local knowledge
and expertise of members. IFCAs must implement a fair, effective, and proportionate
enforcement regime. Local authorities provide the majority of the funding to IFCAs to
reflect the local delivery and accountability of the IFCAs.
Following the Benyon Review into Highly Protected Marine Areas (HPMAs), the
Government has committed to introducing pilot HPMAs in English waters. HPMAs will
provide the highest protection in our seas and will allow full recovery to as most natural a
state as possible, as they prohibit all destructive, extractive, and depositional activities
within the entire site, thus enabling the ecosystem to thrive. The Government has
developed a shortlist of potential sites for designation as HPMAs based on ecological,
social, and economic criteria.
There are 178 MPAs protecting 40% of English waters, all sites are protected through the
planning and licensing regimes that cover activities such as dredging for aggregates and
constructing offshore wind farms. In English inshore waters, 98 MPAs already have
byelaws in place to protect sensitive features from damaging fishing activities. The first
four offshore byelaws have now also been announced and plans are in place to protect all
offshore sites by the end of 2024, using new powers in the Fisheries Act 2020.
Thank you once again for taking the time to contact us about this important issue. Please
let me know if I can be of any further assistance with this or any other matters in the future.

REBECCA POW MP

Page 130

Agenda Item 14

North Devon Council
Report Date: 4 July 2022
Topic: APPROVAL & RELEASE OF S106 PUBLIC OPEN SPACE FUNDS –
BARNSTAPLE & CHULMLEIGH

Report by: PARKS, LEISURE AND OPEN SPACE OFFICER
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. This report seeks to allocate S106 public open space funds towards projects
in project in Barnstaple and Chulmleigh.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. That Strategy & Resources allocates:
2.1.1. £6,000 to Chulmleigh Town Hall Committee towards the enhancement
of Chulmleigh Town Hall.
2.1.2. £14,203.35 to North Devon Council towards the purchase of new
goalposts and grass pitch improvements at Tarka Tennis Centre,
Barnstaple.
2.1.3. £3,475 to Barnstaple Pilot Gig Club CIO towards the enhancement of
their boathouse on Rolle’s Quay, Barnstaple.
2.1.4. £40,000 to United Services Bowls Club towards the enhancement of
their clubhouse on Mill Road, Barnstaple.
2.2. Subject to approval of 2.1.1 to 2.1.4 above, that Strategy & Resources
Committee recommends Council vary the capital programme by £63,678.35
and that funds be released, subject to a Funding Agreement upon such terms
and conditions as may be agreed by the Senior Solicitor, for external
projects.
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. To allocate funds in line with the requirement of S106 agreements.
3.2. To protect and enhance public open space, including land and buildings.
4. REPORT
4.1. Chulmleigh Town Hall – Chulmleigh Town Hall Committee
Chulmleigh Town Hall Committee intend to modify the ceiling in the ground
floor hall to enable additional activities to take place in the upper floor hall.
Currently there in no insulation between the floors, which makes
simultaneous use extremely difficult as a result of noise transfer. The funding
will be used towards the cost of installing acoustic insulation.

Page 131

Agenda Item 14
4.2. Tarka Tennis Centre Grass Pitch – North Devon Council
A full-sized artificial grass pitch was recently installed behind Tarka Tennis
Centre located to the rear of the premises. Alongside this pitch is the
remaining grass pitch which is owned and maintained by North Devon
Council.
The Council plans to use this funding to purchase a set of portable Swivel
goals that can be chained to anchor points around the pitch when not in use
for match-play. This equipment will not only protect the main goal mouths
from deteriorating, but it will also be valuable for club training and informal
use.
Purchase would comply with the Councils procurement requirements. Any
underspend will be invested in grass pitch relevelling works at the same site.
4.3 Barnstaple Pilot Gig Club Boathouse – Barnstaple Pilot Gig Club CIC
The Club purchased a derelict warehouse on Rolle’s Quay during 2019 and
have been re-building and refurbishing the building for use as a Boathouse.
The club requires funding to install flooring in their communal meeting room,
accessible toilet and kitchen on the first floor.
This building will be used by the Club and the wider community; including
pitch sports clubs based in the vicinity of the boathouse including Barnstaple
Rugby Club, the Football Clubs and Bowls Club.
4.4 United Services Bowls Clubhouse – United Services Bowls Club
The Bowls Club building has been extended and refurbished to incorporate
Short Mat bowling during the winter and improve the changing room facilities.
The club have to date raised £120,000 from several sources including Sport
England to complete phase one of a three-phase approach to the project. It
now requires £40,000 to complete the second and third phase of the project
to reconfigure the original building, install flooring, build new accessible
entrance and build new storage outbuildings.

5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. Chulmleigh Town Hall – Chulmleigh Town Hall Committee

Page 132

Agenda Item 14

Financial – The total project cost is £7,255.43
That £6,000 be funded from the S106 capital budget from the following
sources:
Development Description
Land off Leigh Road,
Chulmleigh

Application Number
56158

Amount
£6,000

The remaining balance will be met by match funding. Any overspend be met
by Chulmleigh Town Hall Committee.
5.2. Tarka Tennis Pitches – North Devon Council
Financial – The total project cost is £14,203.35.
That £14,203.35 be funded from the S106 capital budget from the following
sources:
Development Description
Application Number
Amount
Land at Oakwood Close,
63392
£14,203.35
Roundswell
Any overspend be met by North Devon Council existing Parks and Sports
budget.
5.3. Barnstaple Pilot Gig Club Boathouse – Barnstaple Pilot Gig Club CIC
Financial – The total project cost is £3,475
That £3,475 be funded from S106 capital budget from the following sources:
Development Description
Application Number
Trayne Farm
65169
Any overspend be met by Barnstaple Pilot Gig Club.

Amount
£3,475

5.4. United Services Bowls Clubhouse – United Services Bowls Club
Financial – the total project cost is £40,000
That £40,000 be funded from S106 capital budget from the following sources:
Development Description
Application Number
Trayne Farm
65169
Any overspend be met by United Services Bowls Club.

Page 133

Amount
£40,000

Agenda Item 14

6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. An EIA has been completed identifying improvements to the provision.
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. An EAC has been completed to identify any environmental implications to the
provision.
8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda – n/a
8.1.2. Improving customer focus – the project meets the needs of the
community.
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development – the projects will use local
suppliers, where possible and investment in local public realm
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Part 3, Annexe 1 para 1, Delegated
9.2. Article 4.5.22, referred.
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
10.1. This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
11.1. The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author
of the report.
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
12.1. The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officers. Richard Slaney, Leisure and Recreation Officer

Page 134

Agenda Item 15

North Devon Council
Report Date: Strategy & Resources on 4th July 2022
Topic: Adoption of Corporate Enforcement Policy
Report by: Legal Services – Hannah Pettifer
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. The Corporate Enforcement Policy has been drafted to identify the key
enforcement priorities for the Council.
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1. To approve the adoption of the Corporate Enforcement Policy
3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
3.1. In order to meet the requirements of Policy setting for the Council
3.2. To provide a generic policy to support enforcement provision within the
service areas of the Council
3.3. To ensure the legal requirements of the Regulators’ Code which came into
statutory effect on 6 April 2014 under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform
Act 2006 are supported and to provide a clear, flexible and principles-based
framework for how regulators should engage with those they regulate.
4. REPORT
4.1. As provided in the Corporate Enforcement Policy itself, its purpose is to
provide guidance to ensure:

Decisions about enforcement action are fair, proportionate and consistent

Officers apply current Government guidance and relevant codes of
practice

Everyone understands the principles that are applied when enforcement
action is considered.
4.2. The Policy as drafted is intended to be generic and allow service areas to
create their own service specific policy, strategy and orders should these be
required. For instance there are specific processes which the Planning and
Environmental Protection teams use but this Policy is designed to be generic
to enforcement across the organisation as a whole to provide a framework
and central point from which such strategies can develop.
4.3. The Policy should provide guidance to customers (both individuals and
businesses operating in North Devon), officers and members alike on what
enforcement the Council can carry out and the principles that are followed
and an overarching guide to the procedures that are undertaken including
when enforcement action may be necessary and the principles and
considerations governing what level of enforcement action may be necessary
in any given situation.

Page 135

Agenda Item 15
4.4. The Policy provides information on who decides when enforcement action
should be taken and at what level and how the Council works in partnership
with other bodies in terms of enforcement.
4.5. It is hoped that the Policy will provide a useful overview of enforcement
undertaken at the Council and the procedures followed.
5. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
5.1. Departmental consultation and input, agreement in general from all
consultees was included in the preparation of this Policy.
5.2. The Policy brings together and records existing practices and therefore it is
not anticipated that this decision will have any resource impact.
6. EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
6.1. Please detail if there are/are not any equalities implications anticipated as a
result of this report.
6.1.1. NONE
7. ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
7.1. Please undertake an Environmental Assessment and complete the checklist
(EAC) form available on Insite.
7.1.1. NONE

8. CORPORATE PRIORITIES
8.1. What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
8.1.1. The commercialisation agenda:
8.1.1.1. This Policy also provides the strategic framework to
demonstrate that North Devon District Council is complying with its
duties under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006.
8.1.2. Improving customer focus and/or
8.1.2.1. A Framework to support expectations for compliance and
enforcement from the Council
8.1.3. Regeneration or economic development
8.1.3.1. None
9. CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
9.1. Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph: 1(f)
9.1.1. Strategy & Resources Committee
9.2. Referred or delegated power?
9.2.1. Delegated
10. STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information under
the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.

Page 136

Agenda Item 15
11. BACKGROUND PAPERS
The following background papers were used in the preparation of this report:
(The background papers are available for inspection and kept by the author
of the report).
N/A
12. STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all appropriate
Councillors and Officer
Hannah Pettifer, Chartered Legal Exec., Legal Services

Page 137

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL – CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT
POLICY
Contents
1.

Introduction and Scope of Policy ......................................................................... 2

2.

Legal Status of this Policy ................................................................................... 4

3.

Scope and Meaning of Enforcement ................................................................... 5

4.

General Principles ............................................................................................... 5

5.

Resourcing Effective Regulation ......................................................................... 6

6.

Conduct of Investigations .................................................................................... 6

7.

Notifying Alleged Offenders................................................................................. 7

8.
Dealing with Non-Compliance and Deciding What Level of Enforcement Action
is Appropriate ............................................................................................................... 8
9.

Tests for Prosecution, Simple Caution or Civil Penalties .................................. 10

10.

Who Decides What Enforcement Action Is Taken............................................ 12

11.

Liaison with Other Regulatory Bodies and Enforcement Agencies .................. 12

12.

Considering the Views of Those Affected by Offences .................................... 13

13.

Protection of Human Rights ............................................................................. 13

14.

Monitoring of the Enforcement Policy ............................................................... 13

15.

Review of the Enforcement Policy.................................................................... 14

16.

Comments and Complaints .............................................................................. 14

ANNEX A – Bibliography ......................................................................................... 14
Abbreviations .......................................................................................................... 14
Bibliography ............................................................................................................ 15
ANNEX B Overview of Potential Regulatory Interventions .................................. 15
1.

Introduction ...................................................................................................... 15

2.

No Action ......................................................................................................... 16

3.

Informal Action and Advice .............................................................................. 16

4.

Voluntary Undertakings .................................................................................... 16

5.

Fixed Penalty Notices ...................................................................................... 16

6.

Penalty Charge Notices ................................................................................... 17

7.

Formal Notice ................................................................................................... 17

8.

Action Taken by Agreement ............................................................................. 17

9.

Forfeiture Proceedings ..................................................................................... 17
1

Page 139

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

1.

10.

Seizure .......................................................................................................... 18

11.

Works in Default / Direct Action .................................................................... 18

12.

Emergency Works......................................................................................... 18

13.

Injunctive Actions .......................................................................................... 19

14.

Refusal, Suspension and Revocation of Licence .......................................... 19

15.

Simple Caution.............................................................................................. 20

16.

Civil Penalty .................................................................................................. 21

17.

Prosecution ................................................................................................... 22

18.

Immunity from Enforcement Action ............................................................... 22

19.

Powers of Entry............................................................................................. 22

20.

Charging for Regulatory Actions ................................................................... 22

21.

Proceeds of Crime ........................................................................................ 22

Introduction and Scope of Policy

1.1 Fair and effective enforcement is essential to protect the health, safety and
economic interests of the public, businesses and the environment. Decisions about
enforcement action carry serious implications for all involved. The purpose of this Policy
is to provide guidance to ensure:
• Decisions about enforcement action are fair, proportionate and consistent
• Officers apply current Government guidance and relevant codes of practice
• Everyone understands the principles that are applied when enforcement action is
considered.
This policy is a general statement of the approaches to be taken with regard to
enforcement and works carried out in default, and will assist in making decisions.
Individual service areas may have their own operational procedures and guidance
which set out how the various enforcement tools available to the Council may be used.
1.2 This Enforcement Policy applies to the regulatory services provided by North
Devon District Council and is intended to reflect the generic position. Regulatory
departments may have adopted unique policy or strategy documents and this policy is
designed to provide the overarching position on enforcement and compliance with the
authority.
The North Devon District Council Constitution sets out the functions delegated
contained within:
Annexe 1 – the Scheme of Delegation to Committees/Powers and Duties of
Committees.
2

Page 140

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Annexe 2 – Officer Scheme of Delegation sets out those delegated to Officers. The
Council ensures that any officer provided with authority in accordance with its Officer
Delegation Schemes (and where relevant its documented procedure surrounding food
law matters) is suitably qualified; experienced and competent to carry out the range of
tasks and duties they are required to perform.
Annexe 3 – Powers and Duties delegated to Councillors; and
Annexe 4 – The schemes for joint Committee operation, that the Council operates and
which describes the regulatory functions delegated within the North Devon District
Council.
1.3 This Policy relates to the following regulatory functions as they are described in the
Constitution. It is important to note that the majority of actions will be initiated by
authorised officers without reference to the Council’s Committee Process. The
competence of our officers is monitored and recorded through a number of means such
as evidence of qualification; the nationally recognised Regulators Development Needs
Assessment tool [RDNA]; regulatory competency assessments for official food control
enforcement as required by the Food Standards Agency’s [FSA] Food Law Code of
Practice; and the internal annual Council appraisal system and review. The Council will
ensure that all authorised officers receive relevant structured on-going training. Training
will cover such matters as new legislation and procedures, and technological
developments relevant to businesses subject to their control. The requirements for
minimum on-going training based upon the principles of Continuing Professional
Development (CPD) will be met.
1.4 This policy implements the generic enforcement processes utilised within the
service areas of the North Devon District Council. These service areas include
Licensing, Environmental Protection, Environmental Enhancement, Environmental
Health, Housing, Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Disorder, Waste and Recycling,
Planning, Building Control, Debt recovery and Revenues and Benefits. Each service
area covers distinct regulatory functions which are, in the main, governed by UK
legislation and regulation. This Policy is designed to be generic in the provision of the
enforcement procedures used and does not set out the provisions of each regulatory
department in full. Service areas may make available codes of practice, policy or
strategy on request, note however enforcement is mainly preserved in law.
1.5 The enforcement of contraventions of parking and vehicular offences and any
associated breach of legislation or regulation are contained in the exercise of the
Council’s powers of the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 and the Parking Act 1989 and
the Traffic Management Act 2004 and The Civil Enforcement of Parking Contraventions
(Guidelines on level of Charges) (England) Order 2007 and the North Devon (Off-Street
Parking Places) Order. For specific details of parking requirements please see the
website of the Council and how to challenge and appeal enforcement procedures, for
example Penalty Charge Notices. These processes are clearly set out or in the
alternative make appropriate request to the Car Parks service area. The Service area
3

Page 141

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
may make available parking regulations on request, note however enforcement is
mainly preserved in law hence covered by this policy
1.6 This Policy supports all of the key strategic priorities in North Devon District
Council’s Corporate Plan 2020-24. Our corporate plan sets out our medium-term
ambitions over the next four years and future potential for our district. As a council we
have an ambitious range of priorities and actions that are necessary to deliver them.
•
•
•
•

Achieving financial security
Becoming focused on delivering the best for our citizens
Cherish and protect our environment
Plan for North Devon’s future.

1.7 This Policy also provides the strategic framework to demonstrate that North Devon
District Council is complying with its duties under the Legislative and Regulatory Reform
Act 2006. This requires that the Council in the discharge of some of its regulatory
functions is to maximise efficiencies in the way Councils regulate in order to reduce the
burdens on business whilst maintaining standards. The Policy is central to the way the
Council deploys its regulatory services and so it ensures “that proper arrangements are
in place to enable resources to be used efficiently and effectively”.
1.8 Any reference to an Act or Regulations or other legislation shall be deemed to
include that Act or Regulations or other legislation as amended, extended or re-enacted
from time to time and includes any subordinate legislation for the time being in force
made under it.

2.

Legal Status of this Policy

2.1 This Policy was approved and adopted by North Devon District Council’s Strategy
and Resources Committee on [DATE]. Minor iterations of the Policy which have been
subsequently approved are summarised in the Document Control Version table at the
start of the document.
2.2 This Policy is intended to provide guidance for officers, businesses, consumers
and the public. Officers operating in a regulatory capacity for the Council are expected
to act in accordance with this Policy and any failures to do so will be investigated and
addressed through the Council’s Employee Code of Conduct. It does not affect the
discretion of the Council to take legal proceedings where this is considered to be in the
public interest.
2.3 The adoption and application of the Policy demonstrates the Council’s compliance
with the requirements of section 21 of the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006
and is a significant part of evidencing our compliance with the Regulators’ Code.
2.4 The National Local Authority Enforcement Code provides direction to local
authorities on how to enforce health and safety law. This Policy demonstrates the
Council’s compliance with this statutory Statement.
4

Page 142

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

3.

Scope and Meaning of Enforcement

3.1 ‘Enforcement’ includes any action taken by officers aimed at ensuring that
individuals or businesses that the law places duties upon, (including employers, the selfemployed, employees and others) are returned to compliance or encouraged to comply
with the law. This is not limited to formal enforcement action such as prosecution.
3.2 In certain circumstances, the Council will seek to raise awareness and increase
compliance levels by publicising unlawful trade practices or criminal activity. Where
appropriate the results of specific court cases may also be published.
3.3 The Council places great importance on the consistent use of enforcement action
and does not measure itself by the quantities of enforcement action it takes and so does
not set targets. The Council does not take enforcement for enforcement’s sake.
Enforcement is distinct from civil claims for compensation and is not undertaken in all
circumstances where civil claims may be appropriate, or to assist such claims.

4.

General Principles

4.1 Prevention is better than cure and the Council’s role, therefore, involves actively
working with businesses and residents to advise on and assist with compliance.
4.2 The principles of regulatory functions are stated in Section 2(3) of the Legislative
and Regulatory Reform Act 2006. This states that regulatory activities should be carried
out in a way that is transparent, accountable, proportionate and consistent. It also
states that regulatory activities should be targeted only at cases in which action is
needed.
4.3 Further details about how to meet these principles is contained in the Regulators’
Code published in 2013 by the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills.
Compliance by regulatory officers with this Policy is a significant factor in demonstrating
that the Council is meeting the requirements of the Regulators’ Code.
4.4 Where it is considered that formal action is necessary, each case will be
considered on its own merits. Decisions will not be influenced by issues such as
ethnicity or national origin, gender, religious beliefs, political views or the sexual
orientation of the suspect, victim, witness or offender. Such decisions will not be
affected by improper or undue pressure from any source.
4.5 Where practicable the Council will take into account the views of any victim,
injured party or relevant person to establish the nature and extent of any harm or loss,
and its significance, in making the decision to take formal action.

5

Page 143

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
4.6 North Devon District Council is a public authority for the purposes of the Human
Rights Act 1998. It will, therefore, apply the principles of the European Convention for
the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms.
4.7 This Enforcement Policy helps to promote efficient and effective approaches to
regulatory inspection and enforcement such as targeting enforcement actions, which
improve regulatory outcomes without imposing unnecessary burdens. The Policy is also
intended to provide a framework which ensures that similar social, environmental and
economic outcomes are achieved by less burdensome means than direct regulation.
This is in accordance with the Regulators’ Code.
4.8 In exceptional instances the Council may conclude that a provision in the Code is
either not relevant or is outweighed by another provision. The Council will ensure that
any decision to depart from the Code will be properly reasoned, based on material
evidence and be documented.

5.

Resourcing Effective Regulation

Note: The Covid pandemic resulted in the cancellation of inspection plans for 2020/21
and 2021/22.
5.1 The Regulators’ Code, section 3, requires that ‘Regulators should base their
regulatory activities on risk’. The services covered by the Regulators Code will adopt a
plan which will identify:
• The frameworks used to identify the risks of relevant businesses which are subject to
programmed inspections
• A quantification of the predicted numbers of inspections required based on the risk
assessment framework and the resources necessary to deliver these
• A summary of service standards and performance targets for the respective services.
5.2 Currently the service areas which publish risk based annual inspection plans are
for:
• Food hygiene inspections
• Inspections based on HSE LAC 67 The LAC provides LAs with guidance and tools
for priority planning and targeting their interventions, enabling them to meet the
requirements of the National Local Authority Enforcement Code (as detailed in para
8.1 below)
• Industrial pollution control.

6.

Conduct of Investigations

6

Page 144

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
6.1 All investigations will be carried out under the following legislation and in
accordance with any associated guidance or codes of practice, in so far as they relate
to North Devon District Council:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001
Local Government Act 1972
Human Rights Act 1998.

6.2 These Acts and associated guidance control how evidence is collected and used
and give a range of protections to citizens and potential defendants.
6.3 The Council’s authorised officers will also comply with the requirements of the
particular legislation under which they are acting, and with any associated national and
local guidance or codes of practice.
6.4 Many pieces of legislation enforced by the Council enable officers to demand
information which is essential in order to serve notices or summons correctly. When an
officer is uncertain about the information it holds, or where certain details are unknown,
they will serve requests for information on those that have an obvious connection to the
case, requiring for instance ownership confirmation, or perhaps company or premises
details. Failure to comply with an Information Notice may hinder the Council in
discharging its duties and is regarded as a serious offence, which will be pursued.
6.5 During the course of an investigation/enforcement action an Officer may come
across a person whose welfare may raise concerns. Whether or not the subject has a
direct connection to the case under investigation, it remains the duty of Officers to
ensure that these concerns are properly logged and the Council’s Safeguarding Policy
is adhered to.
6.6 Use of Section 222 of the Local Government Act 1972, where the Council has the
ability to prosecute or defend legal proceedings where it is expedient for the promotion
or protection of the interests of the inhabitants of our area.
6.7 Where there are shared enforcement roles e.g. Devon and Cornwall Police, the
Health and Safety Executive (HSE), the Environment Agency, Devon and Somerset Fire
and Rescue Service etc., officers will notify the relevant enforcement agency of
contraventions for which that agency is responsible.

7.

Notifying Alleged Offenders

7.1 If the Council receives information (for example from a complainant) that may lead
to enforcement action against a business or individual it will notify that business or
individual as soon as practicable of any intended enforcement action, unless this could
impede an investigation or pose a safety risk to those concerned or the general public.
7

Page 145

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

7.2 During the progression of enforcement investigations (prior to any convictions),
business proprietors or individuals and witnesses will be kept informed of progress.
Confidentiality will be maintained and personal information about individuals will only be
released to a Court when required and in accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018
and the UK General Data Protection Regulation (or subsequent amendments).

8.

Dealing with Non-Compliance and Deciding What Level of
Enforcement Action is Appropriate

Consideration of risk in enforcement action
8.1 The Regulators’ Code requires that regulatory activities should be based on risk.
The Council uses a number of different risk models to determine the speed and
frequency of our regulatory intervention;
Proactive Inspections of Businesses
• Proactive food inspections are based on the guidance in the Food Law Code of
Practice
• Proactive health and safety inspections are based on guidance in the National Local
Authority Enforcement Code
• Proactive environmental permit inspections are based on Environmental Permitting
General Guidance.
Licensed Premises/activities are currently inspected as part of a sequential programme
which is based upon factors such as risk, licence periods, complaints received etc. In
some instances legislation governs inspections on grant/renewal and on a periodical
basis for example zoos and animal activities.
Planned Inspections, Interventions and Surveillance
These form an important and fundamental part of the Council’s monitoring regime to
ensure we meet our statutory duties with respect to our Environmental Health and wider
public protection responsibilities.
Planned inspections will be based on the requirements set out by Government and its
relevant departments and agencies, and we will have close regard to any relevant
Codes of Practice, statutory guidance and advice issued by them. For example the
Food Standards Agency’s Food Law Code of Practice and the Health and Safety
Executive’s (HSE) National Local Authority Enforcement Code.
When conducting enforcement visits, officers will make their identity known, carry and
show their formal written authorisation when requested except in circumstances where
this might compromise the investigation.
8

Page 146

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 sets out the authorisation requirements for
all covert surveillance done by public authorities where that surveillance is likely to
result in the obtaining of private information about a person. Surveillance, for the
purposes of RIPA, includes monitoring, observing or listening to persons, their
movements, conversations or other activities and communications. It may be conducted
with or without the assistance of a surveillance device and includes the recording of any
information obtained.
Responding to Allegations of Non-Compliance
The Council responds to many complaints a year. The details of the speed and nature
of response are usually dependant on the relative risk of the allegation and are available
on request for the separate service standards for each of the service areas.
8.2 There are a large number of potential enforcement options. The level of the action
taken varies from no action through to proceedings in Court, depending on increasing
seriousness
8.3 In assessing what form of enforcement action is the most necessary and
proportionate, consideration will be given to the following potential intervention options:
Levels of enforcement action
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

No action
Informal Action and Advice (to include verbal/written warnings);
Voluntary undertakings
Fixed Penalty Notices
Penalty Charge Notices
Formal Notices
Forfeiture Proceedings
Seizure of goods/equipment
Works in default following failure to comply with a formal notice
Emergency works in the event of imminent risk
Injunctive Actions
Refusal/suspension/revocation of a licence
Simple Caution
Civil penalties
Prosecution.

Relevant Considerations
•
•
•
•
•
•

The seriousness of compliance failure
Past performance and current practice
The risks being controlled
Legal, official or professional guidance
Local priorities of the Council
Business size and capacity
9

Page 147

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
•
•
•
•

Views of a Primary Authority (where one exists)
Achieving the appropriate regulatory outcome(s) (para 8.9)
Nature and quality of evidence gathered during associated investigation
Public Interest test.

8.4 In most circumstances a process of escalation will be used until compliance is
achieved. The intervention options available to regulatory officers and their relative
positions in the scale of intervention are described in more detail in Appendix B of this
Policy.
8.5 When dealing with incidents of non-compliance officers are expected to clearly
explain the cause of non-compliance; the actions required to rectify the non-compliance;
the decision taken by the Council as a result of the non-compliance and the reasons for
each of these.
8.6 Effective communication requires a two-way flow of information. Regulatory
officers are expected to behave in a way which enables the most effective possible
dialogue with all relevant parties in relation to advice given, actions required, and
decisions taken in relation to non-compliance. The only exception to this is where
immediate enforcement action is required to prevent or respond to a serious breach, or
where the dialogue would be likely to defeat the purpose of the enforcement action.
8.7 The Council recognises from its consultation with the business community that that
one of the biggest barriers to compliance is a fear of business operators to openly
discuss matters of compliance with regulatory officers. This Policy commits that the
Council will not automatically trigger enforcement action where those who are regulated
show a clear willingness to resolve non-compliance.
8.8. Ultimately, it is the outcome of any enforcement action that is the measure of
whether the activity of the regulator has been positive or not. In considering the most
appropriate enforcement action the regulator shouldbe seeking to apply the principles of
the Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006.
8.9. The Council will pay particular attention to the management chain and the role
played by individual directors and managers. Where necessary the Council will take
action where it finds that an offence was committed with the consent or connivance of
directors or managers or was attributable to neglect on their part. Where appropriate,
the Council will seek disqualification of directors under the Company Directors
Disqualification Act 1986.

9.

Tests for Prosecution, Simple Caution or Civil Penalties

The Evidential Test
9.1 Where the Investigating Officer concludes that prosecution, simple caution or civil
penalty is the most necessary and proportionate enforcement action the Council applies
10

Page 148

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
two ‘tests’ to determine whether this is viable and appropriate. It follows guidance set by
the Crown Prosecution Service when applying the tests. This is contained in the Code
for Crown Prosecutors.
9.2 A prosecution, caution or civil penalty will only be progressed when the case has
passed both the evidential test and the public interest test. The principles outlined apply
equally to the other types of formal enforcement action that are available.
9.3 The Council must be satisfied that there is enough evidence to provide a ‘realistic
prospect of conviction’ against each defendant on each charge. A realistic prospect of
conviction is an objective test that means that a jury or bench of magistrates, properly
directed in accordance with the law, is more likely than not to convict the defendant of
the charge alleged. This is a separate test from the one that the criminal courts
themselves must apply. A jury or Magistrates’ Court should only convict if it is sure of a
defendant’s guilt.
Outcomes of Enforcement Action
• Aim to change the behaviour of the offender
• Aim to eliminate financial gain or benefit from non-compliance
• Consider what is appropriate for any particular offender and regulatory issue, such as
the risk of punishment and public stigma associated with a criminal conviction
• Be proportionate to the nature of offence and harm caused
• Aim to restore the harm caused by the non-compliance
• Deter future non-compliance.
The Public Interest Test
9.4 The public interest must be considered in each case where there is enough
evidence to provide a realistic prospect of conviction. The Council will balance factors
for and against prosecution carefully and fairly. Public interest factors that can affect the
decision to prosecute usually depend on the seriousness of the offence or the
circumstances of the suspect. Some factors may increase the need to prosecute but
others may suggest that another course of action would be better. The message sent to
the community by a decision to prosecute or not and its potential to affect future levels
of compliance will be given consideration.
Civil Penalties
9.5 A specific process has been established to determine if it is appropriate in cases
involving housing law whether to utilise civil penalties and, if so, to calculate the civil
penalty to be applied. The last version of the civil penalty sanction calculation was
agreed by the Full Council on 20th November 2019 and will be updated appropriately on
review.

11

Page 149

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

10. Who Decides What Enforcement Action Is Taken
10.1 Decisions about the most appropriate enforcement action to be taken are based
upon professional judgment, legal guidelines, statutory codes of practice and priorities
set by North Devon District Council and/or Central Government.
10.2 In order to ensure that specific decisions to either prosecute, issue a simple
caution or issue a civil penalty are robust and consistent the Council has developed an
enforcement decision process. This process requires the investigating officer(s) to take
due consideration of the evidential and public interest tests before submitting the case
to their Head of Service with a recommendation to approve prosecution.
10.3 Where appropriate, decisions about enforcement will involve consultation between
or approval from:
• Investigating Officer(s)
• Senior Managers
• Legal Services.
10.4 The decision to prosecute or issue a civil penalty must be ratified by the relevant
Head of Service.
10.5 Any enforcement decisions about activities directly operated by North Devon
District Council must be entirely free from any conflicts of interest. All decisions will be
clearly evidenced and any of the actions under section 8 above will be signed off at
Chief Executive or Deputy Chief Executive level. The power to institute, prosecute,
defend, and appear in any legal proceedings (including tribunals, hearings and
inquiries) on behalf of the Council and to take such decisions affecting such matters as
are necessary rests with the Senior Solicitor and Monitoring Officer.

11. Liaison with Other Regulatory Bodies and Enforcement Agencies
11.1 Where appropriate, enforcement activities will be coordinated with other regulatory
bodies and enforcement agencies to maximise the effectiveness of any enforcement.
11.2 It is a statutory requirement that before any legal action is initiated against a
business that has signed up to a Primary Authority partnership, that the Primary
Authority is consulted about the proposed legal action. A Primary Authority partnership
is a legally binding agreement between a business and a local authority that is endorsed
by the Office for Product Safety and Standards (OPSS) of the Department for Business
Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS). The Primary Authority provides assured advice,
giving businesses consistency of regulation and reducing duplication of inspections and
paperwork. Compliance with published inspection plans are observed as required.
11.3 Details of all Primary Authority partnerships are available on the Primary Authority
Register website. Details of the statutory notification procedures when specified
12

Page 150

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
enforcement action is proposed against a business in a registered primary authority
partnership are contained in section 9 of the Primary Authority Handbook. North Devon
Council fully endorses the PAP principle. It is fortunate to have built a number of these
partnerships with businesses and actively promotes the opportunity for further
partnerships of this nature. There are charges for the work completed for its Primary
Authority partners, for which further detail can be provided on request.
11.4 Where an enforcement matter affects a wide geographical area beyond the
boundaries of North Devon District Council or involves enforcement by one or more
other local authorities or organisations, where appropriate, all relevant authorities and
organisations will be informed of the matter as soon as possible and all enforcement
activity coordinated with them.
11.5 The Council will share intelligence relating to wider regulatory matters with other
regulatory bodies and enforcement agencies. Data sharing will be in accordance with
the principles of the Date Protection Act 2018 and the General Data Protection
Regulations. Examples include:
•
•
•
•
•

Government Agencies
Police Forces
Fire Authorities
Statutory undertakers
Other Local Authorities.

12. Considering the Views of Those Affected by Offences
The Council exercises its regulatory powers on behalf of the public at large and not just
in the interests of any particular individual or group. However, when considering the
public interest test, the consequences for those affected by the offence, and any views
expressed by those affected will, where appropriate, be taken into account when
making enforcement decisions.

13. Protection of Human Rights
This Policy and all associated enforcement decisions take account of the provisions of
the Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, due regard is had to the following:
•
•

Right to a fair trial
Right of respect for private and family life, home and correspondence.

14. Monitoring of the Enforcement Policy
14.1 The Council uses a number of processes to monitor compliance with this policy
and will continue to develop these.

13

Page 151

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
14.2 The Council monitors performance indicators that provide a reflection of the quality
of the services covered by this policy. These indicators are reviewed annually and
where appropriate published in the service plans produced by each relevant Head of
Service.

15. Review of the Enforcement Policy
15.1 This policy will be reviewed every three years, but minor amendments or changes
in the law will be amended at the discretion of the Chief Executive or Deputy Chief
Executive, and brought to the attention of the Chairman of the Strategy and Resources
Committee.
15.2 The enforcement policy covers a diverse spectrum of our services. A copy of this
policy will be published on a core page of the Council’s website and linked to servicespecific webpages to which it relates. The core page on which the Policy will be
displayed is our Business Compliance and Regulation page.

16. Comments and Complaints
16.1 Where you are affected by a regulatory action with which you disagree, the
Council would always encourage dialogue between all parties to ensure that the general
principles of enforcement stated in section 4 and the appropriate level of enforcement
action described in section 8 can be achieved.
16.2 Any appeals against a regulatory decision, failure to act in accordance with the
Regulators’ Code (where appropriate) or conduct of staff carrying out regulatory activity
on behalf of the Council should be made in the first instance to the Strategic Director of
the relevant service. Appeals can be made to the relevant Head of the relevant service
via the corporate complaint process.
16.3 Any appeals against formal legal notices issued by the Council will need to be
made through the process described on the notice. There are usually deadlines by
which any appeal against a formal legal notice must be submitted and so close attention
should be given to the instructions in the appeal notes.

ANNEX A – Bibliography
Abbreviations
PACE – Police and Criminal Evidence Act
NDR – Non-Domestic Rates
RIPA – Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act
The Code – The Code for Crown Prosecutors
LA – Local Authority
LGO – Local Government Ombudsman
14

Page 152

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

Bibliography
North Devon District Council Constitution (Date)
North Devon District Council, Scheme of Delegation to Council Officers
North Devon District Council Corporate Plan, 2020-2024
Legislative and Regulatory Reform Act 2006
Food Law Code of Practice (England), March 2021
Making a Difference…The Standard for Health and Safety Enforcing Authorities, Health
and Safety Executive (HSE) and Local Authorities Coordinators of Regulatory Services
(LACORS) 04/02/2008
Section 18 HSC Guidance to Local Authorities, HMSO 2002
National Local Authority Enforcement Code, Health and Safety at Work 2013
Setting Local Authority Priorities and Targeting Interventions, LAC67/2 (Revision 10),
HSE
Human Rights Act 1998
Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984
Criminal Procedure and Investigations Act 1996
Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
Criminal Justice and Police Act 2001
Data Protection Act 2018
General Data Protection Regulations 2018
Enterprise Act 2002
Ministry of Justice ( - Simple Caution for Adult Offender guidance (MoJ Guidance),
revised November 2013
Proceeds of Crime Act 2002
Code for Crown Prosecutors’, October 2018
Primary Authority Guidance, LBRO, 2009
Work Related Deaths, a Protocol for Liaison, 09/11
The Civil Enforcement or Parking Contraventions (England) General Regulations 2007
Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984
Parking Act 1989
Traffic Management Act 2004
North Devon (Off-Street Parking Places) Order [as amended]

ANNEX B Overview of Potential Regulatory Interventions
1.

Introduction

Where the law has been contravened, there is a range of enforcement options
available. Under normal circumstances, a process of escalation will be used until
compliance is reached. Exceptions would be where there is a serious risk to public
safety or the environment or the offences have been committed deliberately, repeatedly
or negligently; or involve deception; or where there is significant economic detriment.
15

Page 153

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

2.

No Action

In certain circumstances, contraventions of the law may not warrant any action. This
can be where the cost of compliance to the offender outweighs the detrimental impact of
the contravention, or the cost of the required enforcement action to the Council
outweighs the detrimental impact of the contravention on the community. A decision of
no action may also be taken where formal enforcement is inappropriate in the
circumstances, such as where a trader has ceased to trade, or the offender is elderly
and frail and formal action would seriously damage their wellbeing. In such cases, the
Council will advise the offender of the reasons for taking no action. The decision to take
no action rests exclusively with the Council and for example, the cost benefit equation
described above will not rule out formal action if it is judged in the Public Interest.

3.

Informal Action and Advice

3.1
For minor breaches of the law, the Council may give verbal or written advice. It
will clearly identify any contraventions of the law and give advice on how to put them
right, including a deadline by which this must be done. The time allowed will be
reasonable, and take into account the seriousness of the contravention and the
implications of the non-compliance.
3.2
Sometimes the Council will advise offenders about ‘good practice’, but it will
clearly distinguish between what they must do to comply with the law and what is advice
only.
3.3

Failure to comply could result in an escalation of enforcement action.

4.

Voluntary Undertakings

The Council may accept voluntary undertakings that breaches will be rectified and/or
recurrences prevented. It will take any failure to honour voluntary undertakings very
seriously and enforcement action is likely to result.

5.

Fixed Penalty Notices

5.1
Certain offences are subject to fixed penalty notices where prescribed by
legislation. They are recognised as a low-level enforcement tool and avoid a criminal
record for the defendant. Where legislation permits an offence to be dealt with by way of
a Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN), the Council will normally administer a FPN on a first
occasion, without issuing a warning. The decision about whether to issue an FPN
having witnessed an offence will have regard to the appropriate level of enforcement
action and the desired outcomes of the enforcement action described above.
5.2
A Fixed Penalty Notice (FPN) is essentially a fine which can be issued for certain
low level offences - as prescribed by specific pieces of legislation.
16

Page 154

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
5.3
The issue of a FPN provides the recipient the opportunity of discharging any
liability to conviction for the alleged offence by paying the fine – and can be escalated to
a court hearing in the event of non- payment.

6.

Penalty Charge Notices

Penalty Charge Notices (PCN) are prescribed by certain legislation as a method of
enforcement by which the offender pays an amount of money to the regulator in
recognition of the breach. Failure to pay the PCN will result in the offender being
pursued in the County Court for non-payment of the debt. A PCN does not create a
criminal record and the Council will normally issue a PCN without first issuing a warning.

7.

Formal Notice

7.1
Certain legislation allows notices to be served requiring the recipient to take
specific actions or cease certain activities. Notices may require activities to cease
immediately where the circumstances relating to health, safety, environmental damage
or nuisance demand. In other circumstances, the time allowed will be reasonable, and
take into account the seriousness of the contravention and the implications of the noncompliance.
7.2

All notices issued will include details of any applicable Appeals Procedures.

7.3
Certain types of notice allow works to be carried out in default. This means that if
a notice is not complied with (a breach of the notice) the Council may carry out any
necessary works to satisfy the requirements of the notice. Where the law allows, the
Council may then charge the person / business served with the notice for any cost
incurred in carrying out the work. Whenever the urgency of the notice allows, the
Council will ensure any works required in default are achieved, economically, e.g. by
obtaining multiple competitive quotes for the work, unless it is a matter of urgency.

8.

Action Taken by Agreement

Schedule 3 of the Housing Act 2004 contains a specific provision which enables the
local authority to agree to undertake the work required under a Housing Improvement
Notice, with the recipient of the Notice. All expenses for the work must be met by the
recipient of the Notice.

9.

Forfeiture Proceedings

This procedure may be used in conjunction with seizure and/or prosecution where there
is a need to dispose of goods in order to prevent them re-entering the market place or
being used to cause a further problem. In appropriate circumstances, the Council will
make an application for forfeiture to the Magistrates Courts.

17

Page 155

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

10.

Seizure

Certain legislation enables authorised Officers to seize goods, equipment or documents
for example unsafe food, sound equipment that is being used to cause a statutory noise
nuisance, unsafe products or any goods that may be required as evidence for possible
future court proceedings. When the Council seizes goods, it will give the person from
whom the goods are taken an appropriate receipt.

11.

Works in Default / Direct Action

11.1 The Council will normally only directly carry out works where the recipient of a
legal notice has defaulted on the work required and when;
• There is an imminent risk to health or safety/immediate danger to the public such that
the consequences of not taking immediate and decisive action would be
unacceptable, or
• Statute does not permit prosecution for non-compliance with a statutory notice, or;
• There are other circumstances such that carrying out the work in default is the best
course of action (for example the recipient of the Notice is a vulnerable person and
considered incapable of organising the work necessary to comply with the statutory
Notice).
11.2 This course of action will be considered irrespective of any prosecution action
that might also be undertaken for the same offence. The action must be approved by
the relevant manager with budget responsibilities. The costs of the works required, plus
the Council’s reasonable administrative charges will be charged to the responsible party
and recovered through the civil court.
11.3 The administrative charges levied will be in accordance with the fees approved
by the relevant Committee and which are reviewed annually and published as part of
the Council’s annual list of fees and charges.
11.4 Charges will be made for abortive costs in preparing to carry out any work in
default where an order has been placed and the owner then carries out the work
required.
11.5 Where there is no prospect of the revenue or capital costs of the work in default
being reclaimed, the debt should, if practicable, be placed on the relevant property as a
land charge. In some cases, the charge will need to include annual interest – the
relevant interest rates are also included in the annual list of fees and charges.

12.

Emergency Works

12.1 Emergency enforcement or stop powers will only be used where there is an
imminent risk of serious harm or where there is explicit provision for the use of the
powers within primary legislation.
18

Page 156

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

12.2 In such circumstances the Council will take whatever remedial action it considers
necessary to remove the imminent risk. As a matter of principle, the action taken will be
the minimum necessary to achieve the satisfactory mitigation of the risk, based on the
best information available at the time of making the decision.

13.

Injunctive Actions

13.1 In certain circumstances, for example, where offenders are repeatedly found
guilty of similar offences or where it is considered that injunctive action is the most
appropriate course of enforcement, then injunctive actions may be used to deal with
repeat offenders, dangerous circumstances or significant consumer detriment.
13.2 Criminal Behaviour Orders (CBO) and Community Protection Notices (CPN).
Where the non-compliance under investigation amounts to anti-social behaviour such
as persistent targeting of an individual or a group of individuals in a particular area then,
following liaison with all relevant agencies, where appropriate, a CPN or CRIMBO may
be sought to stop the activity.

14.

Refusal, Suspension and Revocation of Licence

14.1 The Council issues a number of licences and permits and has a role to play in
ensuring that appropriate standards are met in relation to licences issued by other
agencies. Most licences include conditions that require the licence holder to take steps
to ensure that, for example, a business is properly run. Breach of these conditions may
lead to a review of the licence that may result in its suspension revocation or
amendment.
14.2 When considering future licence applications, the Council may take previous
breaches and enforcement action into account.
14.3 The Licensing Team issues a number of licence and permits under a wide range
of legislation. Specific powers are contained within each piece of legislation that permits
the Licensing Authority to refuse to grant a licence application or to take action to
suspend or revoke once a licence is in place.
14.4 Under the Licensing Act 2003, an application for a premises licence must be
granted unless representations are received from any of the responsible authorities or
any other persons. If representations are received, the application will be determined by
the Licensing and Community Safety Sub-Committee which has the power to grant the
application, grant with conditions or refuse whole or part of the application.
14.5 Under the Gambling Act 2005, applications for a premises licence will be granted
unless relevant representations are received from the responsible authorities or
interested parties. The Licensing and Community Safety Sub-Committee will determine
any application with a relevant representation. The Licensing and Community Safety
19

Page 157

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
Sub-Committee has the power to either grant or refuse the application. If the application
is granted, the Licensing and Community Safety Sub-Committee may attach conditions
to the licence and/or exclude a default condition.
14.6 Under the Licensing Act 2003, where a review of a premises licence application
is received from a responsible authority or any other persons, the application must be
determined by the Licensing and Community Safety Sub-Committee. The powers
available to this Sub-Committee are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

To modify the conditions of the licence
To exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence
To remove the designated premises supervisor
Suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months
Revoke the licence
Issue a warning letter
Take no action.

14.7 Under the Gambling Act 2005, where a review application is received from a
responsible authority or an interested party, the application must be determined by the
Licensing and Community Safety Sub-Committee. The powers available to the
Licensing Sub-Committee are:
•
•
•
•
•

Revoke the licence
Suspend the licence for a period not exceeding 3 months
Exclude a default condition or remove or amend an exclusion
Add, remove or amend any conditions
Take no action.

14.8 In relation to hackney carriage or private hire legislation, all decisions to refuse or
revoke any hackney carriage or private hire licence will be made by the Licensing and
Community Safety Sub-Committee. The power to suspend a hackney carriage or
private hire licence has been delegated to Officers. Each case will be decided on its
own merits.
14.9 If it is in the interests of public safety, any decision to revoke or suspend a
hackney carriage or private hire driver’s licence may take immediate effect.
14.10 In relation to other areas of licensing legislation, any decision to refuse or revoke
any application or licence will be made by the Licensing and Community Safety SubCommittee or utilising the delegate powers of Officers where the circumstances are
straightforward, for example an applicant simply has not met set criteria.

15.

Simple Caution

15.1 A Simple Caution includes a formally documented admission of guilt, but is not a
form of sentence, nor is it a criminal conviction.
20

Page 158

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
15.2 For a Simple Caution to be issued a number of criteria must be satisfied:
•
•
•
•

Sufficient evidence must be available to prove the case
The offender must admit the offence
It must be in the public interest to use a Simple Caution
The offender must be 18 years or over.

15.3 Details on the Simple Caution process are contained in the Ministry of Justice Simple Caution for Adult Offender guidance (MoJ Guidance).
15.5 Furthermore, North Devon District Council Policy is that the offender should not
have received a simple caution for a similar offence within the last two years.
15.5 A record of the Caution will be kept on file for five years. If the offender commits a
further offence, the Caution may influence our decision to take a prosecution. If during
the time the Caution is in force the offender pleads guilty to, or is found guilty of,
committing another offence anywhere in England and Wales, the Caution may be cited
in court, and this may influence the severity of the sentence that the court imposes.

16.

Civil Penalty

16.1 Civil penalties were introduced for housing related offences in the Housing &
Planning Act 2016. This enables local housing authorities to impose a civil penalty as an
alternative to prosecution for the certain offences under the Housing Act 2004.
16.2 The maximum civil penalty is £30,000. However, the amount of penalty must be
determined by the local housing authority based on the specific circumstances in each
case. In determining an appropriate level of penalty, the local housing authority must
have regard to statutory guidance which sets out the factors to take into account when
deciding on the appropriate level of penalty.
16.3 A civil penalty can only be imposed as an alternative to prosecution. The
legislation does not permit local housing authorities to impose a civil penalty and then
prosecute for the same offence.
16.4 The same criminal standard of proof is required for a civil penalty as for
prosecution. This means that before seeking to apply a civil penalty the authority must
satisfy itself that if the case were to be prosecuted in the magistrates’ court, there would
be a realistic prospect of conviction i.e. that the case can be proved ‘beyond all
reasonable doubt’.
16.5 The Council approved a civil sanction policy at its meeting on 20th November
2019.

21

Page 159

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A

17.

Prosecution

A prosecution will normally ensue where the individual or organisation meets one or
more of the following criteria:
• Deliberately, negligently or persistently breached legal obligations, which were likely
to cause material loss or harm to others
• Deliberately or persistently ignored written warnings or formal notices
• Endangered, to a serious degree, the health, safety or well-being of people, animals
or the environment
• Assaulted or obstructed an Officer in the course of their duties.
• In the case of Food or Health and Safety where death was a result of a breach of
legislation
• Where circumstances warrant it and evidence to support a case is available the
Council will prosecute without prior warning or recourse to alternative sanctions.

18.

Immunity from Enforcement Action

Where a breach of some planning control statute has occurred undetected, and
therefore without any intervention, it can become lawful by the passage of time provided
that it has not been deliberately concealed. The immunity timeframes are stated in the
respective statutes and case law, but in brief are four years for unauthorised building,
mining or engineering or change of use of a building to a single dwelling; ten years in
any other case.

19.

Powers of Entry

Officers have various powers to enter private land. In some cases (most usually private
dwellings) this requires giving prior notice. In many cases relating to entry into trade or
business premises the officers have immediate power of entry provided that they can
show that they are authorised to do so by the Council. The specifics of the powers of
entry are contained within the specific statute.

20.

Charging for Regulatory Actions

In a limited number of statutes (currently only housing law) having served a legal notice
the Council has the ability to make a reasonable charge to recover certain
administrative and other expenses incurred in determining whether to serve the notice.
The policy for determining when any such charges are applied will be agreed with the
relevant Committee.

21.

Proceeds of Crime

Applications may be made under the Proceeds of Crime Act for confiscation of assets in
serious cases. Their purpose is to recover the financial benefit that the offender has
22

Page 160

Agenda Item 15
Appendix A
obtained from his criminal conduct. Proceedings are conducted according to the civil
standard of proof. Applications are made after a conviction has been secured.

23

Page 161

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16

North Devon Council
Report Date: 4 July 2022
Topic: Hackney Carriage Fare Tariff Review
Report by: Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager
1. INTRODUCTION
1.1 North Devon Council has set maximum chargeable fares for taxis under the
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 which directly
impact the salaries of taxi drivers licensed in the district. A consultation on a
proposed change to the tariff has been undertaken and this report seeks to
recommend adoption of new North Devon Council Authorised Maximum
Fares for Licensed Hackney Carriages (the hackney tariff).
2. RECOMMENDATIONS
2.1 That Strategy and Resources Committee approve a recommendation made
by Licensing and Community Safety Committee during their meeting of the
14 June 2022, namely that:

3

2.1.1

The current table of hackney carriage maximum fares is
modified in line with Appendix A.

2.1.2

Additionally it is recommended that this tariff becomes effective
on the 11 July 2022, and the words ‘fare price’ are changed to
‘total fare’ to provide absolute clarity in respect of the fuel
surcharge listed under the extras.

REASONS

3.1 To consider representations from the taxi trade and public received in respect of
the Council’s hackney carriage fare tariff.
3.2 To take into consideration the increase in the CPI since the hackney tariff
became effective.
3.3 It is believed that a valet charge of £100 is proportionate with likely cleaning
costs, and downtime not being able to take subsequent fares.
3.4 Provide the ability to readily react to fuel price surges and a volatile
marketplace.

Page 163

Agenda Item 16
There is currently only one horse drawn carriage in operation locally. In light of
this and the fact that this tariff is in essence for pleasure rides, it is believed that
an increase of 50p per minute is justified.
3.5 Amendment of night rate to commence at 9pm, to better align the
commencement time with other authorities across Devon.

4

REPORT

4.1 North Devon Council’s current hackney carriage fare tariff became effective in
April 2016. Subsequent to its implementation two reviews have taken place in
November 2016, and February 2019 during which decisions were taken that
any amendment was not justified at that time.
4.2 A significant period of time has now passed and it is necessary to undertake a
further review. Section 65 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions)
Act 1976 enables the Council to set fares for hackney carriage vehicles and
requires that before any alteration to the tariff table can take effect a public
notice explaining the changes must be placed in a local newspaper. The public
then must be provided with a period of at least 14 days to make comment on
the proposals. If no adverse comment/objection is received, the approved
changes must take effect. Alternatively, if adverse comment/objection is
received then the matter must be returned to allow the Committee to consider
the representation(s). Any tariff as existing or amended must come into effect
within two months of the date of the public notice, being the 25 July 2022.
4.4

A public notice was published in the North Devon Gazette in line with the
above. Moreover, a press release was issued, a consultation survey launched
on the Council’s website, and a Council taxi newsletter explaining the changes
and inviting observations was sent to the trade. Appendix B lists the 30
responses received.

4.5

The recommended tariff and that which was advertised, contains the following
amends:
- a 12.3% increase across the table with the exception of waiting
time (in line with the CPI increase since the tariff became effective
in April 2016).
- an increased valet charge to £100.00.
- an increased fare for non-motorised vehicles from £1.50 to £2.00
a minute.

Page 164

Agenda Item 16
- an amendment/no amendment to the commencement of tariff 2
and 5 (night rate).
- an extra charge of 10p added to the fare price when the South
West average price of fuel oil exceeds £1.75 per litre based on
the latest available AA Fuel Price Report with a further 10p added
for each subsequent increase of 10p per litre.

4. RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS
4.1 The costs of newspaper advertisement have been met by way of the Council’s
existing budget, realised through its licence fees.
4.2 The Council’s hackney carriage tariff directly impacts the licensed trade by way
of the maximum fares that they are able to charge.
4.3 The current tariff was effective in April 2016, and it appears to now be an
appropriate time to review the fares given recent significant rises in CPI. It is
however recognised that raising the cost of fares too greatly may adversely
impact the ability of vulnerable users to be able to afford this essential service.

5
EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT
5.1 The impact of the proposals will depend on any increase approved. Should the
Council set the fare too low this may adversely affect the supply of taxis in the
area. Whilst setting the fare too high may have a negative impact on the
vulnerable users of this essential service, for example protected groups
including the disabled who rely on taxis as a principle form of transport. An
Equalities Impact Assessment has been produced.
6
ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT
6.1 An Environmental Assessment has demonstrated no impacts to highlight as
part of this report.

7
CORPORATE PRIORITIES
7.1 What impact, positive or negative, does the subject of this report have on:
7.1.1 The commercialisation agenda: Reviewing the tariff and making an
increase of fares will have a general impact on the cost of taxi
journeys across the district. Taxi fares have a direct impact on the
taxi drivers, operators and proprietors of licensed vehicles by way
of the remuneration provided through the journeys taken by the
public and there is a similar impact on individuals and businesses

Page 165

Agenda Item 16

7.1.2

7.1.3

using taxis for these journeys which may be pleasure or business
related.
Improving customer focus and/or: Reviewing the tariff and making
careful consideration of those representations gained will ensure
there is appropriate customer focus.
Regeneration or economic development: Reviewing the tariff and
making an increase of fares will have a general impact on the cost
of taxi journeys across the district. Taxi fares have a direct impact
on the taxi drivers, operators and proprietors of licensed vehicles
by way of the remuneration provided through the journeys taken by
the public and there is a similar impact on individuals and
businesses using taxis for these journeys which may be pleasure or
business related.

8
CONSTITUTIONAL CONTEXT
8.1 Article of Part 3 Annexe 1 paragraph:1h
8.2 Referred or delegated power?: Delegated.

9

STATEMENT OF CONFIDENTIALITY
9.1
This report contains no confidential information or exempt information
under the provisions of Schedule 12A of 1972 Act.

10

BACKGROUND PAPERS
10.1 The following background papers were used in the preparation of this
report: (The background papers are available for inspection and kept by
the author of the report).
 North Devon Council’s Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing
Policy March 2022
 Private Hire and Taxi Monthly (www.phtm.co.uk/taxi-fares-leaguetables)
 Office for National Statistics Consumer Prices Index
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices#dataset

11

STATEMENT OF INTERNAL ADVICE
11.1 The author (below) confirms that advice has been taken from all
appropriate Councillors and Officers:
Katy Nicholls, Public Protection Manager. 21.06.2022

Page 166

APPENDIX A

Agenda Item 16
Appendix A

NORTH DEVON DISTRICT COUNCIL AUTHORISED MAXIMUM FARES FOR LICENSED
HACKNEY CARRIAGES
EFFECTIVE FROM 11 JULY 2022
Tariff
FARES FOR UP TO FOUR PASSENGERS
1 Hirings begun between 7am & 9pm Monday to Saturday except Xmas & New Year’s
Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
2 Hirings begun between 9pm & 7am Monday to Saturday. Hirings on Sundays & all
Bank Holidays except Xmas Day & New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
3 Hirings begun between midnight Xmas Eve & midnight Xmas Day & between 10pm New
Year’s Eve & midnight New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
Tariff
FARES FOR 5, 6, 7 OR 8 PASSENGERS
4 Hirings begun between 7am & 9pm Monday to Saturday except Xmas & New Year’s
Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
5 Hirings begun between 9pm & 7am Monday to Saturday. Hirings on Sundays & all
Bank Holidays except Xmas Day & New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
6 Hirings begun between midnight Xmas Eve & midnight Xmas Day & between 10pm New
Year’s Eve & midnight New Year’s Day
Distance not exceeding ½ mile (880 yards)
Distance exceeding ½ mile for every 1/10 mile or part thereof
Waiting Time - For waiting at hirer’s request each period of one minute or part thereof
7 Non-motorised hackney carriages -Hirings at any time
£2.00 per minute

Rate

£3.10
£0.28
£0.25

£4.70
£0.43
£0.25

£6.30
£0.56
£0.25
Rate

£4.70
£0.43
£0.25

£6.30
£0.56
£0.25

£9.40
£0.85
£0.25

Extras
An extra charge of 10p added to the total fare when the South West average price of fuel oil exceeds
£1.75 per litre based on the latest available AA Fuel Price Report with a further 10p added for each
subsequent increase of 10p per litre.
Luggage - for each article of luggage conveyed outside the passengers’ compartment - £0.20
Valeting Charge - chargeable to passengers for soiling the vehicle - £100.00
Children – 2 child passengers under the age of 10 years can be regarded as one adult passenger
(FOR THE CALCULATION OF FARES ONLY) to a maximum of 4 children replacing 2 adult
passengers – may not exceed maximum number of passengers vehicle licensed to carry

Page 167
ALL VEHICLES CAN ONLY CARRY THE NUMBER
OF PASSENGERS AS INDICATED BY THE
PLATE SITUATED ON THE REAR OF THIS VEHICLE

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 16
Appendix B
APPENDIX B

No. Comments received
1
Seems a bit low especially with the cost of fuel going up as it is
2
I think it is justifiable to charge more for taxis, especially as the price of
fuel has increased considerably. I do use taxis but will just have to cut
down, on how often is viable in the future.
3
Seems reasonable
Scrap the 20p charge on items of luggage, seems rediculous... Should be
part of the service
4
As a former Taxi driver and the partner of a current Taxi driver I think the
increase is fair and long overdue especially in light of current fuel prices
and the increase in licences costs
5
whilst unwelcome by passengers it seems to be a very necessary
increase
6
I think it is very fare and with the fuel increases of late I an suprised it
hasn't increased by more. Fuel prices and insurance cost has risen so
much since 2016 the last time the Taxi fare was increased.
7
Will they reduce once the inflationary effect of the recent fuel increase
Put hourly bus service from Bradiford both ways week days for hospital
visits
8
I consider these increases to be excellent. The taxis must be finding it
hard to make a living now that the price of fuel is so high. Have no
objection.
9
I'm in favour of the increases
10 These all seem fair and reasonable, however is there any concessions
for children needing a taxi to take them to school ?
11 The fare increase seem fair but I would be opposed at this present time
to attach surcharges linked to fuel prices. The Government should be
lobbied regarding a cap on the fuel price and should consider the same
measures as they are regarding gas/electricity etc. Perhaps the taxi
drivers and the council could put their weight behind this as it would
benefit both drivers and customers alike.
12 They seem fairly reasonable but if taxis are electric, how will they reflect
the increase of electricity prices?
13 As I am no longer licenced to drive any kind of powered vehicle I am
dependant on taxi services. I was surprised at how cheap they are here,
compared with other parts of UK. I believe an increase
is probably long overdue.
14 Fare increases seem entirely reasonable
15 No one wants to see extra fares but I can understand why we need to
raise fares in line with everything else. I would hope to see the increase
mean thank young, old and the most vulnerable are safe in taxis and the

Page 169

By:
Member
of
Public
(MOP)
Taxi
Driver
(TD)
MOP
MOP

TD

MOP

MOP
MOP

MOP

MOP

TD
MOP
MOP

MOP
MOP

MOP
MOP

Agenda Item 16
Appendix B

No. Comments received
driver makes sure the person looks to be in a safe place when they are
dropped off.
16 Considering the increase in fuel prices, i think this is fair.
17 the 9 pm tariff is too early a 10.30 tariff would be more suitable to all
concerned. As it would stop the public using taxis as it would be cheaper
to drive also an 8am would be a better finishing time for this rate.
waiting time is far too low as is it means £15 per hour it should be double
that to stop people taking advantage of drivers at busy times.
the fuel surcharge is laughable an extra 10p to go to Biddiford for
example when its cost an extra 50p is not keeping to a reasonable rate .
you do not say how it is to be added and as its already over 180 a litre
the running rate should be 30p per tenth to cover it so it is on every
journey and on the total of the meter not added by the driver.
by keeping the fares based on previous years as a % you are keeping
taxi drivers on low pay meaning they have to work 60 to 80 hrs a week
and some owner drivers a lot more to earn a reasonable living. this is not
encouraging new drivers and you will lose the experienced ones
especially if your other recommendations regarding paperwork and age
of vehicles are added to the mix.
There has never been a proper meeting with council and drivers to
discuss the problems faced, its all done by letter and online why do you
not send a letter out and ask drivers to attend so they can see who you
are and try to make you aware of our problems,
there seems to be no consideration of the rural taxi companies who look
after the people living out in the sticks where we often travel 5 miles to
pick up to go another 2 miles and then go back 14 mile round trip for
£6.55, but it gets an oap to the doctors or the shops who has no other
means of transport and would be willing to pay more and often do by tips
but that is not the point those type of journeys are now with fuel prices
and the proposed vehicle changes will not happen and the customer
loses out.
18 Very expensive
19 Struggling to afford taxis atm. Especially when they are not reliable.
Another increase is just not acceptable
20 Even more price hikes to keep the public out of the town centre
21 We don't have enough money now; so why increase fares????
You will put taxi drivers out of business!
22 Increased fares will lead to less use of them
23 Would recommend the fare only raising to £3 as may put holiday makers
off from using Barnstaple taxis. When on holiday.
24 Madness people have no money with the increase in gas, electricity and
fuel.

Page 170

By:
Member
of
Public
(MOP)
Taxi
Driver
(TD)

MOP
TD

MOP
MOP
MOP
MOP
MOP
MOP
MOP

Agenda Item 16
Appendix B

No. Comments received
25 Taxis are crazy expensive in north Devon as it is compared to cities and
other parts of the country.
26 People moan about bus price these se are more then that, need to bring
them down
27 It's a big increase and with the cost of things going up it will be hard for
some people pay this especially if a taxi is your only way of getting to
places if you have health or mobility issues
28 i dont agree to the change of night rate from 11.30pm to 9.30pm. its bad
enough trying to get the night rate before midnight at 11.30pm let alone
9.30 pm.
29 I feel it is the wrong time to increase taxi fares with so many other price
increases happening. People who rely on taxis for there only mean of
transport are penalised again! North Devon have one of the highest rates
for prices already including bus fares. How can you encourage people to
use public transport?
30 Tariff 1 £3 then 30p. Tarrif 4 £4 then 40p
Tariff 2 £5 then 50p. Tarrif 5 £6 then 60p
Tarrif 3 £6 then 60p. Tarrif 6 £9 then 90p

Page 171

By:
Member
of
Public
(MOP)
Taxi
Driver
(TD)
MOP
MOP
MOP

TD

MOP

TD

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 17
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; a full-time Supported Accommodation Support
Worker via Freedom Community Alliance at the cost of £35,000 each year.

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional
£1,162,792 for 2022 to 2025 from Government following a submission to the Rough
Sleepers Initiative. The funding allocation each year will be dependent on successful
service delivery which will be reviewed through quarterly reporting, six monthly
funding declarations and annual delivery plans.
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of continued resources (1.0 Supported Accommodation Support Worker) from
Freedom Community Alliance who currently provide the Supported Accommodation
Support worker.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate service delivery as of the
01.07.2022 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk of
having to return the funding.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).

Page 173

Agenda Item 17
Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant funding from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Yes

17.06.2022

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)

Yes

17.06.2022

Yes

17.06.2022

Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

15.06.2022

Finance

Yes

15.06.2022

Legal

Yes

15.06.2022

(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)

Page 174

Agenda Item 17
11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: Natasha Rowland, Service Lead Housing

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES (approved by Deputy Chief Executive
in absence of Chief Executive)

13) DATE OF DECISION: 17 June 2022

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: Approved to ensure continuity of service
provision from 1 July 2022 and in accordance with Rough Sleeper Grant funding
announcement.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
4 July 2022

Page 175

Agenda Item 17
GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 176

Agenda Item 17
Appendix A
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; Housing First Services via Encompass South
West at the cost of £23,984 a year for continuation funding with the opportunity to
increase this by a further £16,016 each year should 2 additional units of Housing
First be able to be offered giving a maximum total of £40,000 each year.

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional
£1,162,792 for 2022 to 2025 from Government following a submission to the Rough
Sleepers Initiative. The funding allocation each year will be dependent on successful
service delivery which will be reviewed through quarterly reporting, six monthly
funding declarations and annual delivery plans.
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of continued resources (Housing First accommodation and support) from Encompass
South West who provide the Housing First service across Northern Devon.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate service delivery as of the
01.07.2022 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk of
having to return the funding.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed

Page 177

Agenda Item 17
Appendix A
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant funding from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Yes

17.06.2022

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)

Yes

17.06.2022

Yes

17.06.2022

Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

15.06.2022

Finance

Yes

15.06.2022

Legal

Yes

15.06.2022

(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)

Page 178

Agenda Item 17
Appendix A
11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: Natasha Rowland, Service Lead Housing

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES (approved by Deputy Chief Executive
in absence of Chief Executive)

13) DATE OF DECISION: 17 June 2022

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: Approved to ensure continuity of service
provision from 1 July 2022 and in accordance with Rough Sleeper Grant funding
announcement.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
4 July 2022

Page 179

Agenda Item 17
Appendix A

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 180

Agenda Item 17
Appendix B
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; a full-time Outreach and In-Reach Support
Worker via M5 Security at the cost of £35,000 each year.

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional
£1,162,792 for 2022 to 2025 from Government following a submission to the Rough
Sleepers Initiative. The funding allocation each year will be dependent on successful
service delivery which will be reviewed through quarterly reporting, six monthly
funding declarations and annual delivery plans.
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of continued resources (1.0 Support Worker) from M5 Security who provide a fulltime SIA (Security Industry Authority) licenced Officer working within the Enhanced
Outreach team.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate service delivery as of the
01.07.2022 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk of
having to return the funding.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).

Page 181

Agenda Item 17
Appendix B

Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant funding from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Yes

17.06.2022

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)

Yes

17.06.2022

Yes

17.06.2022

Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

15.06.2022

Finance

Yes

15.06.2022

Legal

Yes

15.06.2022

(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)

Page 182

Agenda Item 17
Appendix B
11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: Natasha Rowland, Service Lead Housing

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES (approved by Deputy Chief Executive
in absence of Chief Executive)

13) DATE OF DECISION: 17 June 2022

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: Approved to ensure continuity of service
provision from 1 July 2022 and in accordance with Rough Sleeper Grant funding
announcement.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
4 July 2022

Page 183

Agenda Item 17
Appendix B

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 184

Agenda Item 17
Appendix C
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; a full-time Community Psychiatric Nurse (CPN)
via Mental Health Services at the cost of £47,449 in Year One and £24,474 in Years
Two and Three

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional
£1,162,792 for 2022 to 2025 from Government following a submission to the Rough
Sleepers Initiative. The funding allocation each year will be dependent on successful
service delivery which will be reviewed through quarterly reporting, six monthly
funding declarations and annual delivery plans.
Funding is reduced in Years 2 and 3 as Government expectations are that Devon
Partnership Trust commit to jointly funding the role – this was agreed prior to
submission of the funding bid.
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of continued resources (1.0 Community Psychiatric Nurse) from Devon Partnership
Trust who provide Mental Health services for the Clinical Commissioning Group.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate service delivery as of the
01.07.2022 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk of
having to return the funding.

Page 185

Agenda Item 17
Appendix C
4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant funding from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Yes

17.06.2022

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)

Yes

17.06.2022

Yes

17.06.2022

Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

15.06.2022

Finance

Yes

15.06.2022

Legal

Yes

15.06.2022

(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)

Page 186

Agenda Item 17
Appendix C
11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: Natasha Rowland, Service Lead Housing

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES (approved by Deputy Chief Executive
in absence of Chief Executive)

13) DATE OF DECISION: 17 June 2022

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: Approved to ensure continuity of service
provision from 1 July 2022 and in accordance with Rough Sleeper Grant funding
announcement.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
4 July 2022

Page 187

Agenda Item 17
Appendix C

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 188

Agenda Item 17
Appendix D
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; 2 x full-time Outreach Navigators in Year One
and one Outreach Navigator in Years 2 and 3 via Freedom Community Alliance at
the cost of £72,800 in 2022 /2023 and £36,400 in 2023 / 2024 and 2024 / 2025
3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional
£1,162,792 for 2022 to 2025 from Government following a submission to the Rough
Sleepers Initiative. The funding allocation each year will be dependent on successful
service delivery which will be reviewed through quarterly reporting, six monthly
funding declarations and annual delivery plans.
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of more resources (2.0 Outreach Navigators- two continuation posts in Year One and
one continuation post in Years 2 and 3) from Freedom Community Alliance who
currently provide the Navigator service.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate / continued service delivery as of
the 01.07.2022 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk
of having to return the funding.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).

Page 189

Agenda Item 17
Appendix D

Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A

7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A

8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant award from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Yes

17.06.2022

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)

Yes

17.06.2022

Yes

17.06.2022

Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

15.06.2022

Finance

Yes

15.06.2022

Legal

Yes

15.06.2022

(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)

Page 190

Agenda Item 17
Appendix D
11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: Natasha Rowland, Service Lead Housing

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES (approved by Deputy Chief Executive
in absence of Chief Executive)

13) DATE OF DECISION: 17 June 2022

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: Approved to ensure continuity of service
provision from 1 July 2022 and in accordance with Rough Sleeper Grant funding
announcement.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
4 July 2022

Page 191

Agenda Item 17
Appendix D

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 192

Agenda Item 17
Appendix E
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive

1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; a full-time Drug and Alcohol Specialist via
Together Drug and Alcohol Services at the cost of £42,878 a year.

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional
£1,162,792 for 2022 to 2025 from Government following a submission to the Rough
Sleepers Initiative. The funding allocation each year will be dependent on successful
service delivery which will be reviewed through quarterly reporting, six monthly
funding declarations and annual delivery plans.
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of continued resources (1.0 Drug and Alcohol Specialist) from Together Drug and
Alcohol Services who provide Drug and Alcohol services across the whole of Devon.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
Government. This structure highlighted immediate service delivery as of the
01.07.2022 and without this approval we are unable to proceed and will be at risk of
having to return the funding.

4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).

Page 193

Agenda Item 17
Appendix E
Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant funding from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Yes

17.06.2022

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)

Yes

17.06.2022

Yes

17.06.2022

Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

15.06.2022

Finance

Yes

15.06.2022

Legal

Yes

15.06.2022

(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)

Page 194

Agenda Item 17
Appendix E
11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: Natasha Rowland, Service Lead Housing

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES (approved by Deputy Chief Executive
in absence of Chief Executive)

13) DATE OF DECISION: 17 June 2022

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: Approved to ensure continuity of service
provision from 1 July 2022 and in accordance with Rough Sleeper Grant funding
announcement.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
4 July 2022

Page 195

Agenda Item 17
Appendix E

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 196

Agenda Item 17
Appendix F
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

REGISTER OF URGENT
DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Reference No:

NORTH DEVON COUNCIL CONSTITUTION
– Part 3 Annexe 2: Officer Delegations –
Chief Executive
1) SUBJECT:
Rough Sleeping Grant
2) REQUESTED DECISION:
Permission to set aside the requirements of the Contract Procedure Rules to tender
for above £40,000 services namely; a full-time Physical Health Nurse via Northern
Devon Health Care Trust at the cost of £46,279 in Year One and £22,974 in Year
Two and £11,487 in Year Three

3) STATEMENT OF THE REASONS FOR THE REQUEST AND WHY IT IS
URGENT:
North Devon Council have been successful in drawing down an additional
£1,162,792 for 2022 to 2025 from Government following a submission to the Rough
Sleepers Initiative. In addition to this £46,279 via Contain Outbreak Management
Fund (COMF) to provide Physical Health and Sexual Health Services in 2022 / 2023.
The funding allocation from Government in Years 2 and 3 will be dependent on
successful service delivery which will be reviewed through quarterly reporting, six
monthly funding declarations and annual delivery plans.
Funding is reduced in Years 2 and 3 as Government expectations are that Northern
Devon Health Care Trust commit to jointly funding the role – this was agreed prior to
submission of the funding bid.
This project is aimed at reducing the number of people rough sleeping in North
Devon.
The aim of the programme is to provide enhanced and better integrated services to
individuals who present with multiple and complex needs. This includes the provision
of continued resources (1.0 Physical Health Nurse) from Northern Devon Health Care
Trust who provide Physical Health Services.
Following successful award of the bid NDC were issued with a funding structure from
both Devon County Council and Government. This structure highlighted immediate
service delivery as of the 01.04.2022 and without this approval we are unable to
proceed and will be at risk of having to return the funding.

Page 197

Agenda Item 17
Appendix F
4) FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS: (NOTE: Please state if there are any financial
implications. If so, state whether there are sufficient funds within the agreed
budget. If there are insufficient funds please state how the decision will be
financed).
Please see above. The financial award made through the bid covers full costs of
service delivery

5) ANY ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND REJECTED:
None

6) A RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST DECLARED:
N/A
7) A NOTE OF ANY DISPENSATION IF GRANTED:
N/A
8) LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS (but not including published works or those
which disclose exempt or confidential information (as defined in paragraph 10.4
and 10.5 of the Access to Information Procedural Rules Part 4 of the Constitution):
See attached specification and confirmation of grant funding from MHCLG

10) CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN:
The following have been consulted on this urgent decision:
Consultee

Consulted
Yes/No

Date

Leader of Council (or Deputy Leader)

Yes

22.06.2022

Chair of Committee (with the
Authority to take the decision)

Yes

22.06.2022

Yes

22.06.2022

Head of Service (Jeremy Mann)

Yes

22.06.2022

Finance

Yes

22.06.2022

Legal

Yes

22.06.2022

(or Vice-Chair)

Lead Member
Ward Member(s)

Page 198

Agenda Item 17
Appendix F

11) OFFICER REQUESTING URGENT DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY THE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE: Natasha Rowland, Service Lead Housing

12) APPROVED BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE: YES (approved by Deputy Chief Executive
in absence of Chief Executive)

13) DATE OF DECISION: 22 June 2022

14) CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S COMMENTS: Approved to ensure continuity of service
provision from 1 July 2022 and in accordance with Rough Sleeper Grant funding
announcement.

15) DATE TO BE PRESENTED TO STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE:
4 July 2022

Page 199

Agenda Item 17
Appendix F

GUIDANCE NOTES
NOTE:
PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISIONS:
1. Completed form to be passed to the Chief Executive following consultation with
the interested parties.
2. If a decision is specific to a Ward, efforts should be made to ascertain the views of
the local Councillor (s).
3. The Chief Executive will make his decision.

PROCEDURE FOR URGENT DECISION MAKING AS PER THE CONSTITUTION
Officer Delegations: the Chief Executive:
Urgent Decision Making
3.48

To take a decision on any matter falling within the remit of any Committee in
cases of urgency where it is not reasonably practicable to obtain prior approval
of a Committee SUBJECT TO:

3.48.1 the prior consultation, where practicable, with the Leader or Deputy Leader and
the Chair or Vice Chair of the relevant Committee, and
3.48.2 the proviso that this power will not extend to the determination of any application
submitted pursuant to the Planning Acts or under the Licensing Act 2003 or the
Gambling Act 2005, and
3.48.3 the decision being reported to the next meeting of the relevant Committee and the
next meeting of Strategy and Resources Committee.

Page 200

